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Sécurité nationale, défense et anciens combattants

EVIDENCE
OTTAWA, Monday, November 6, 2023

The Standing Senate Committee on National Security,
Defence and Veterans Affairs met via videoconference this day
at 3 p.m. [ET] to examine Bill C-21, An Act to amend certain
Acts and to make certain consequential amendments (firearms).

Senator Tony Dean (Chair) in the chair.
[English]

The Chair: Honourable senators, welcome to this meeting of
the Standing Senate Committee on National Security, Defence
and Veterans Affairs. I'm Tony Dean, representing Ontario, and
the chair of the committee. I’'m joined today by my fellow
committee members, and I’ll ask them to introduce themselves,
beginning with our deputy chair.

[Translation)

Senator Dagenais: Jean-Guy Dagenais, Quebec.

Senator Boisvenu: Good afternoon to our guests. I’m Senator
Pierre-Hugues Boisvenu from Quebec.

[English)
Senator Oh: Victor Oh, Ontario.

Senator Plett: Senator Don Plett, Landmark, Manitoba.

Senator M. Deacon: Welcome. Marty Deacon, Ontario.

Senator Cardozo: Andrew Cardozo, Ontario.

Senator Richards: Dave Richards, New Brunswick.

Senator Duncan: Pat Duncan, from the Yukon.
Senator Boehm: Peter Boehm, Ontario.
Senator Yussuff: Hassan Yussuff, Ontario.
Senator Kutcher: Stan Kutcher, Nova Scotia.

The Chair: Thank you, colleagues. To my left is the
committee’s clerk, Ericka Dupont.

For those watching the session, we today continue our study of
Bill C-21, An Act to amend certain Acts and to make certain
consequential amendments, all with respect to the regulation of
fircarms in Canada. Today, we’re hearing from five panels of

TEMOIGNAGES
OTTAWA, le lundi 6 novembre 2023

Le Comité sénatorial permanent de la sécurité nationale, de la
défense et des anciens combattants se réunit aujourd’hui, a
15 heures (HE), par vidéoconférence pour étudier le projet de
loi C-21, Loi modifiant certaines lois et d’autres textes en
conséquence (armes a feu).

Le sénateur Tony Dean (président) occupe le fauteuil.
[Traduction]

Le président : Honorables sénateurs, soyez les bienvenus a
cette réunion du Comité sénatorial permanent de la sécurité
nationale, de la défense et des anciens combattants. Je m’appelle
Tony Dean, je représente 1’Ontario et je préside le comité. Je suis
entour¢ aujourd’hui des autres membres du comité et je leur
demanderai de se présenter, en commengant par notre vice-
président.

[Frangais]
Le sénateur Dagenais : Jean-Guy Dagenais, du Québec.

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Bonjour a nos invités. Sénateur
Pierre-Hugues Boisvenu, du Québec).

[Traduction]
Le sénateur Oh : Victor Oh, de I’Ontario.

Le sénateur Plett : Sénateur Don Plett, Landmark, au

Manitoba.

La sénatrice M. Deacon : Bienvenue. Marty Deacon, de
I’Ontario.

Le sénateur Cardozo : Andrew Cardozo, de I’Ontario.

Le sénateur Richards : Dave Richards, du Nouveau-

Brunswick.
La sénatrice Duncan : Pat Duncan, du Yukon
Le sénateur Boehm : Peter Boehm, de I’Ontario.
Le sénateur Yussuff : Hassan Yussuff, de 1’Ontario
Le sénateur Kutcher : Stan Kutcher, de la Nouvelle-Ecosse.

Le président : Je vous remercie, chers collégues. A ma
gauche se trouve la greffiere du comité, Ericka Dupont.

Pour les personnes qui regardent la séance, nous poursuivons
aujourd’hui 1’étude du projet de loi C-21, Loi modifiant certaines
lois et d’autres textes en conséquence, le tout concernant la
réglementation des armes a feu au Canada. Aujourd’hui, nous
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witnesses over five hours, consisting of firearms owners,
organizations and Indigenous governments and representatives.

On our first panel, we have the pleasure of welcoming James
Smith, President and National Range Officer Coordinator,
International Practical Shooting Confederation of Canada; by
videoconference, Dr. Sandra Honour, Chair of the Board,
Shooting Federation of Canada; and Brian A. Mcllmoyle,
Director, Airsoft in Canada.

Thank you all for joining us today. We invite you to provide
your opening remarks, to be followed by questions from
committee members. I remind you that you each have five
minutes for your testimony.

James Smith, President and National Range Officer
Coordinator, International Practical Shooting Confederation
of Canada: Good afternoon, honourable senators. I would like
to thank you for the opportunity to present here today. I'm
presenting on behalf of the Canadian International Practical
Shooting Confederation, or IPSC.

IPSC in Canada represents about 5,000 law-abiding members
who currently must conform to the Firearms Act, and we feel
that the current act provides for adequate protection for all
Canadians. IPSC is the largest shooting sports association in the
world, with 109 member countries, and in Canada, IPSC
competitors represent the most organized group of elite handgun
shooters.

IPSC Canada, since its inception, has instituted an additional
safety course to assure safety in addition to the federally
mandated RPAL and licensing. The Black Badge course has over
300 volunteer coaches and officials committed to introducing
new athletes to the safe conduct of our sport. IPSC athletes in
Canada compete and train at their local clubs on a weekly and
monthly basis to advance their skills, the best from each
province qualify to compete at the nationals, and the best of
those are chosen to advance to the World Shoot.

This sport is more than a hobby; it is a lifelong commitment to
perfecting skills and marksmanship to compete at the highest
level. Much like the Olympics, the World Shoot is held every
three years, with continental championships interspaced in off
years. There have been proud Canadian athletes representing
Canada at these international competitions since the 1970s, with
an average of 60 athletes attending every three years.

recevons sur cinq heures cinq groupes de témoins composés de
propriétaires d’armes a feu, d’organisations, de gouvernements
autochtones et de représentants.

Dans notre premier groupe, nous avons le plaisir d’accueillir
James Smith, président et coordonnateur national des agents de
terrain, Confédération internationale de tir pratique; par
vidéoconférence, Sandra Honour, présidente du conseil
d’administration, Fédération de tir du Canada; et Brian A.
Mcllmoyle, directeur, Airsoft au Canada.

Je vous remercie tous de votre présence aujourd’hui. Nous
vous invitons a présenter vos observations préliminaires, apres
quoi les membres du comité vous poseront des questions. Je vous
rappelle que vous disposez chacun de cinq minutes pour votre
témoignage.

James Smith, président et coordonnateur national des
agents de terrain, Confédération internationale de tir
pratique : Bonjour, honorables sénateurs. Je vous remercie de
me donner 1’occasion de m’exprimer devant vous aujourd’hui. Je
parle au nom de la Confédération internationale de tir pratique,
ou I’IPSC, au Canada.

L’IPSC Canada représente quelque 5 000 membres
respectueux des lois qui doivent actuellement se conformer a la
Loi sur les armes a feu et qui estiment qu’elle garantit, dans sa
version actuelle, a tous les Canadiens une protection adéquate.
L’IPSC, qui est la plus grande association de sports de tir du
monde, compte 109 pays membres et, au Canada, les tireurs
membres de I’'TPSC forment le groupe le plus organisé de tireurs
d’élite au pistolet.

Depuis sa création, I’IPSC Canada a institué, afin d’assurer la
sécurité, un cours supplémentaire sur le sujet qui s’ajoute a
I’obtention, en vertu de la réglementation fédérale, d’un permis
de possession et d’acquisition d’armes a autorisation restreinte et
d’un permis d’utilisation de ces armes. Le cours Black Badge est
encadré par plus de 300 instructeurs et officiels bénévoles
déterminés a initier les nouveaux athlétes a la pratique de notre
sport en toute sécurité. Les athlétes de I’IPSC Canada
s’entrainent et participent chaque semaine et chaque mois a des
épreuves dans leurs clubs locaux afin d’améliorer leurs
compétences, les meilleurs de chaque province se qualifiant pour
les compétitions nationales, et les meilleurs d’entre eux étant
choisis pour participer au World Shoot.

Ce sport est plus qu’un passe-temps. C’est un engagement a
vie a perfectionner ses compétences et son adresse au tir afin de
concourir au plus haut niveau. Un peu comme les Jeux
olympiques, le World Shoot a lieu tous les trois ans, avec des
championnats continentaux entre deux. Depuis les années 1970,
des athlétes canadiens représentent ficrement le Canada a ces
compétitions internationales et, en moyenne, ils sont 60 a
participer au World Shoot tous les trois ans.
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IPSC athletes come from all walks of life. They are fathers,
mothers, sons, daughters, grandmothers, grandfathers and even
grandchildren. They come from all parts of society. We have
construction workers, IT professionals, bankers, military, police,
law enforcement, and we even have judges. If you were to attend
an IPSC competition, you would be amazed at the diversity of
the athletes, with representatives of all races, genders and
disabilities.

In earlier testimony, there was reference to IPSC becoming the
gateway to handgun ownership in Canada. I would like to put
this in perspective. We are a volunteer group. If we were to get
an exemption to make us equal to Olympic athletes, there are
simply not enough instructors or the infrastructure in place for
more than a few thousand additional members per year.

Bill C-21 does not outright ban handgun ownership, but the
result for IPSC Canada is that, as a sport, we will see a slow
demise as our athletes age when no new athletes are introduced
and existing competitors’ equipment wears out with them unable
to source replacements. Since the ban was introduced by order-
in-council, we have already seen a slow decline in participation
as new prospective members have been unable to purchase
handguns.

We have also had members unable to continue participating in
our sport for unforeseen reasons. We had one member whose
home was destroyed in a wildfire, and his firearms were
destroyed with it. He is unable to access new guns. We also had
another member who was travelling to Thailand to represent
Canada in the World Shoot, and they lost his luggage. He has not
recovered his luggage, and he is unable to replace those firearms
and unable to compete in the sport that he’s dedicated his life to
practising.

Over the last couple of weeks, I have listened to testimony
from multiple anti-gun groups who have referred to model gun
legislation in other countries, like Australia, New Zealand, the
United Kingdom, Switzerland and Europe in general. All of the
countries mentioned have athletes competing in IPSC and allow
exemptions in some form for IPSC athletes to purchase, possess
and use handguns for the purpose of competing. Australia has
been mentioned as a model of successful gun control legislation.
In correspondence with the regional director of IPSC Australia,
he has outlined a licensing procedure with provisional training
periods and then full licenses for IPSC athletes. New Zealand
recently added new gun control legislation and has chosen to
allow IPSC athletes to own handguns for the purpose of training
and competing.

Les athlétes de I’IPSC viennent de tous les milieux. Ce sont
des péres, des meres, des fils, des filles, des grands-méres, des
grands-péres et méme des petits-enfants. Ils viennent de tous les
secteurs de la société. Nous avons des ouvriers du batiment, des
professionnels des technologies de ’information, des banquiers,
des militaires, des policiers, des agents d’application de la loi et
méme des juges. Si vous assistez a une compétition de I’IPSC,
vous serez étonné de la diversité des athletes, de voir représenter
toutes les races, tous les genres et tous les handicaps.

Il a été dit, dans des témoignages précédents, que I’'IPSC
devenait la porte d’accés a la possession d’armes de poing au
Canada. J’aimerais mettre cela en perspective. Nous sommes un
groupe bénévole. Si nous obtenions une dérogation qui nous
mette a égalité avec les athlétes olympiques, le nombre
d’instructeurs et les infrastructures existantes ne permettraient
pas d’accueillir plus de quelques milliers de membres
supplémentaires par an.

Le projet de loi C-21 n’interdit pas totalement de posséder des
armes de poing, mais le résultat pour 'IPSC Canada est que
notre sport disparaitra peu a peu, a mesure que nos athlétes
vieilliront, car de nouveaux athlétes n’y seront pas initiés et
I’équipement des tireurs actuels s’usera sans possibilité¢ de le
remplacer. Depuis 1’interdiction par décret, nous constatons déja
un lent déclin dans la participation, car les nouveaux membres
potentiels ne peuvent pas acheter d’armes de poing.

Par ailleurs, certains membres ne peuvent pas continuer de
pratiquer notre sport pour des raisons imprévues. Un incendie a
détruit la maison d’un de nos membres et avec, ses armes a feu.
Il ne réussit pas a s’en procurer de nouvelles. Un autre de nos
membres se rendait en Thailande pour représenter le Canada au
World Shoot et ses bagages ont été perdus. On ne les a pas
retrouvés, il ne peut pas remplacer ces armes a feu et ne peut
donc pas participer a des compétitions dans le sport qu’il
pratique assidiment depuis toujours.

Ces derniéres semaines, j’ai écouté le témoignage de plusieurs
groupes anti-armes & feu qui parlent des lois exemplaires en
matiére d’armes a feu d’autres pays, comme 1’Australie, la
Nouvelle-Zélande, le Royaume-Uni, la Suisse et 1’Europe en
général. Tous les pays mentionnés ont des athlétes qui
participent aux compétitions de I’IPSC et ils leur accordent des
dérogations pour qu’ils puissent acheter, posséder et utiliser des
armes de poing aux fins de compétitions. L’Australie est
mentionnée comme ayant un modéle de loi fructueuse en matiére
de contréle des armes a feu. Dans une correspondance, le
directeur régional de I'IPSC Australie explique qu’il y a un
processus d’obtention de permis avec des périodes de formation
transitoires avant que les athlétes de I’IPSC obtiennent des
permis complets. La Nouvelle-Z¢lande, qui a adopté récemment
une nouvelle loi sur le contrdole des armes a feu, a choisi
d’autoriser les athlétes de I’IPSC a posséder leurs propres armes
de poing pour s’entrainer et participer a des compétitions.
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Laws that are conceived to reduce gun violence and gang
activity cannot possibly further that objective by targeting our
competitive sports representatives who, if this becomes law, will
have no sport at all. In summary, we would ask the Senate to
move an amendment to add International Practical Shooting
Confederation of Canada to proposed section 97(1).

Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Smith.

Sandra Honour, Chair of the Board, Shooting Federation
of Canada: Thank you, committee members. I’'m the volunteer
chair of the Shooting Federation of Canada board of directors,
certified coach and referee. I’m here representing the current and
future members of the Shooting Federation of Canada, which
include recreational shotgun, rifle and pistol clubs and their
members.

The Shooting Federation of Canada supports Canada’s high-
performance athletes, including, but not limited to, Olympians
and Paralympians, and those trying to become high-performance
athletes in the International Shooting Sports Federation sports,
which is the IOC-recognized international sport governing body.

The Shooting Federation of Canada is not a lobby group, and
we have no political affiliation. We are simply the national sport
governing body that, along with provincial and territorial sport
governing bodies across this country, support the infrastructure,
athletes, coaches and officials of the ISSF sports.

I contend that target shooting is one of the most inclusive
lifelong sports in the world, and one that Canadians who are
aware of it consider valuable. Target shooting sports provide a
level playing field that few other sports do. It allows gender
identities, cultural heritages, sizes and physical abilities to
become null and void, and these people can compete against
each other. Target shooting is an international sport with about
109 countries around the world belonging to the ISSF.

There are unintended consequences of Bill C-21 that are
impacting our Olympic pistol sports, such as the loss of local,
viable ranges, the facilities unable to maintain Olympic sports
equipment, restricted recruitment due to lack of instructors, parts
and gunsmiths with expertise in pistols being lost, and the lack of
importers of competition equipment.

We need adequate participation in the sport to have
Olympians. Adding more needless hurdles negatively impacts
the ability to have the number of athletes participating in the

Les lois qui visent a lutter contre la violence liée aux armes a
feu et contre l’activité des gangs ne peuvent pas servir cet
objectif en ciblant les représentants de nos sports de compétition
qui, si le projet de loi est adopté, n’auront plus de sport du tout.
En résumé, nous demandons au Sénat de présenter un
amendement afin d’ajouter la Confédération internationale de tir
pratique au Canada au paragraphe 97(1) proposé.

Je vous remercie.
Le président : Je vous remercie, monsieur Smith,

Sandra Honour, présidente du conseil d’administration,
Fédération de tir du Canada : Je vous remercie, honorables
sénateurs. Je suis présidente bénévole du conseil
d’administration de la Fédération de tir du Canada, instructrice et
arbitre certifiées. Je représente aujourd’hui les membres actuels
et futurs de la Fédération de tir du Canada, qui comprend des
clubs de tir récréatif au fusil de chasse, a la carabine et au
pistolet, ainsi que leurs membres.

La Fédération de tir du Canada soutient des athlétes canadiens
de haute performance, notamment des athlétes olympiques et
paralympiques, et des personnes qui essaient de devenir des
athlétes de haute performance dans des sports de la Fédération
internationale de tir sportif, qui est 1’organe directeur
international du sport reconnu par le Comité international
olympique, le CIO.

La Fédération de tir du Canada n’est pas un groupe de
pression, et nous n’avons aucune affiliation politique. Nous
sommes simplement 1’organe directeur national du sport qui,
avec les organes provinciaux et territoriaux de tout le pays,
soutient les infrastructures, les athlétes, les instructeurs et les
officiels des sports de la Fédération internationale de tir sportif.

Je pense que le tir a la cible fait partic des sports les plus
inclusifs du monde qui se pratiquent toute la vie et qu’il s’agit
d’un sport que les Canadiens qui le connaissent jugent utile. Les
sports de tir sur cible offrent une égalité des chances qu’offrent
peu d’autres sports. Les identités de genre, I’héritage culturel, la
taille et les capacités physiques n’y ont aucune importance, et ce
ne sont que des concurrents qui s’affrontent. Le tir a la cible est
un sport international, et quelque 109 pays appartiennent a la
Fédération internationale de tir sportif.

Le projet de loi C-21 a des conséquences imprévues qui
nuisent au tir au pistolet olympique, par exemple en entrainant la
perte de stands de tir locaux viables, ’incapacité pour les
installations de maintenir 1’équipement sportif olympique, le
recrutement limité par manque d’instructeurs, la perte de piéces
et d’armuriers connaissant les pistolets, et le manque
d’importateurs de matériel de compétition.

Il nous faut une participation suffisante au sport pour avoir des
athlétes olympiques. En ajoutant d’autres obstacles inutiles, on
ne peut pas avoir suffisamment d’athlétes participant au sport
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sport to find potential Olympians. When it comes to Olympians,
their number is much less than the athletes who train to compete.
Think about hockey and how many people play hockey versus
how many are in the NHL. The Olympics have even higher
levels.

The Olympic target shooting sports require mastery of
amazing skills, and no one starts at the Olympic sport. Compare
this to other sports. Do we start potential Olympian swimmers in
a 50-metre pool, divers on a 10-metre platform or skiers on
moguls? By requiring that training, competing or coaching in
Olympic and Paralympic events are the only valid reasons to
possess a competition pistol, Bill C-21 is essentially doing to
pistol target shooting sports the equivalent of making the
ownership of a bicycle illegal unless a bike owner trains,
competes or coaches in velodrome cycling. A healthy sport
should at every level have pathways toward elite excellence and
toward recreational participation. Participation in sports at all
levels provides significant social value. Bill C-21 does not allow
our potential athletes to have a recreational opportunity to begin
to see if they like to shoot, nor a place to go when they retire
from national team aspirations.

Olympic and Paralympic events change over time. Bill C-21 as
proposed now is so narrow that Canadians are unable to
participate in some of the events at the world championships,
which may be Olympic events within eight years.

We recruit athletes from several routes, including the other
handgun disciplines you’ll hear from. What we need most is the
ability for local clubs to provide safe, competent pistol shooting
instruction and experiences on bigger paper, larger targets and
metal targets, to find these athletes who are interested in our
sport. Our sport needs these opportunities — with and without
formal competition — to be available across this country as a
pathway to high-performance recruitment.

Sport matters. Target shooting is a lifelong sport. With the
current Bill C-21, you’re taking the opportunity away from
Canadians without having a significant impact on violent crime.
In Bill C-21, the Olympic sport of pistol shooting is not really
exempted. The bill is just simply proposing a slower
strangulation of our sport than the death of other pistol shooting
sports in Canada.

I’m asking you to value this lifelong, inclusive sport. This bill
suggests that it’s easier just to kill our sport rather than ask how
to maximize public safety and allow target shooting sports to
thrive. That starts with working with our sports organizations,

pour trouver des athlétes olympiques potentiels, car ils sont
beaucoup moins nombreux que les athlétes qui s’entrainent en
vue de compétitions. Pensez au hockey et au nombre de
personnes qui y jouent en comparaison du nombre de joueurs de
la LNH. Les Jeux olympiques sont a des niveaux encore plus
élevés.

Le tir & la cible olympique exige la maitrise de compétences
incroyables, et personne ne commence au niveau olympique.
Comparez ce sport avec d’autres. Est-ce que nous faisons
commencer de potentiels nageurs olympiques dans un bassin de
50 métres, les plongeurs du plongeoir de 10 métres ou les skieurs
sur une piste de bosses? En déclarant que 1’entrainement, la
compétition ou 1’encadrement en vue d’épreuves olympiques ou
paralympiques sont les seuls motifs valides de posséder un
pistolet de compétition, le projet de loi C-21 fait, au fond, du tir
a la cible sportif I’équivalent de rendre la possession d’une
bicyclette illégale, a moins que le cycliste s’entraine, participe a
des épreuves de cyclisme sur piste de vélodrome ou encadre ce
sport. Un sport sain devrait permettre, a chaque niveau,
d’accéder a 1’excellence des élites et de participer a titre
récréatif. La pratique de sports, a tous les niveaux, a une valeur
sociale importante. Le projet de loi C-21 ne permet pas a nos
athlétes potentiels d’avoir une possibilité récréative de voir s’ils
aiment tirer et ne leur permet pas non plus d’avoir un endroit ou
aller quand ils renoncent a des aspirations d’équipe nationale.

Les épreuves olympiques et paralympiques évoluent avec le
temps. Le projet de loi C-21 tel qu’il est proposé est tellement
limité que les Canadiens ne peuvent pas participer a certaines des
épreuves du championnat du monde qui feront peut-étre
partie des épreuves olympiques d’ici huit ans.

Nous recrutons des athlétes qui viennent de différents
horizons, par exemple d’autres disciplines avec armes de poing
dont vous entendrez parler. Ce qu’il nous faut surtout, c’est la
possibilité pour les clubs locaux d’offrir des expériences et des
cours de tir au pistolet sécuritaires et compétents, sur papier plus
grand format, sur de plus grandes cibles et sur des cibles
métalliques, afin de trouver les athlétes que notre sport intéresse.
Notre sport a besoin que ces occasions — avec ou sans
compétition officielle — soient offertes dans tout le pays pour
permettre de recruter des athlétes de haute performance.

Le sport compte. Le tir a la cible est un sport qui se pratique
toute la vie. Avec le projet de loi C-21, vous en privez les
Canadiens sans que cela ait une grande incidence sur les crimes
violents. Dans le projet de loi C-21, le tir au pistolet olympique
ne bénéficie pas vraiment d’une dérogation. Le projet de loi
propose seulement d’étrangler plus lentement notre sport que
d’autres sports comprenant le tir au pistolet au Canada.

Je vous demande d’apprécier a sa juste valeur ce sport inclusif
qui se pratique toute la vie. Le projet de loi laisse entendre qu’il
est plus facile de tuer notre sport que de se demander comment
optimiser la sécurité du public pour permettre le développement
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which has not been done up to this point. Some minor
amendments to Bill C-21 and some good solid work to find out
how our organizations can support some of the issues that are
facing our enforcement system in Canada could go a long way
toward helping achieve what we really want in Canada, which is
a safe community.

Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you, Dr. Honour.

Brian A. Mcllmoyle, Director, Airsoft in Canada: Good
afternoon. Thank you for the opportunity to testify. My name is
Brian Mcllmoyle. I'm the director of Airsoft in Canada, or
ASIC. Again, thank you for the opportunity to testify.

Airsoft is a sport that employs devices that propel 6-millimetre
low-mass projectiles that are used in games of tag at a distance.
With basic eye protection, the sport is safe and rewarding, and it
is growing in Canada since its introduction in the late 1980s to
today. Airsoft in Canada is an advocacy organization,
representing stakeholders in the sport of airsoft in Canada, from
end-users — players — to retailers and importers of airsoft
devices. ASIC works to bring forth to government and regulators
the issues that affect the sport of airsoft and its safe continuation
as both a sport and source of enjoyment and livelihood for
thousands of Canadians.

Bill C-21 as originally introduced in Parliament would have
destroyed the sport of airsoft. It would have eliminated access to
airsoft devices, obliterated hundreds of businesses and
eliminated the livelihoods of thousands of Canadians — not to
mention the loss of enjoyment, personal development and
exercise that the participants of the sport enjoy. Thankfully,
through the advocacy of ASIC and other organizations in
Canada, parliamentary legislators became aware of the
devastating impact of their proposed legislation and amended the
bill. The bill before the Senate has had the parts of Bill C-21 that
would have destroyed the sport of airsoft removed. The status
quo pertaining to airsoft was maintained, and a new recognition
of the sport of airsoft, its significant economic inputs and very
positive social impacts for participants was recognized. To that
degree, the airsoft community is thankful for the recognition and
for the approach to remove the elements of the bill that would
have impacted the community.

With respect to Bill C-21 in general, I believe it is important
for the Senate, as the chamber of sober second thought, to apply
the same approach to the bill and the other provisions that would

du tir a la cible sportif. Il faut, pour commencer, travailler en
collaboration avec les organisations sportives, ce qui n’a pas été
fait jusqu’a présent. Quelques amendements mineurs au projet de
loi C-21 et quelques véritables efforts pour déterminer comment
nos organisations peuvent soutenir la police face a certains
probléemes qu’elle rencontre dans notre pays pourraient
contribuer grandement a concrétiser ce que nous recherchons
vraiment au Canada, qui est la sécurité de la collectivité.

Je vous remercie.
Le président : Je vous remercie, madame Honour.

Brian A. Mcllmoyle, directeur, Airsoft au
Canada : Bonjour. Je vous remercie de me permettre de
témoigner. Je m’appelle Brian Mcllmoyle. Je suis directeur
d’Airsoft au Canada, ou ASIC. Encore une fois, je vous remercie
de me permettre de témoigner.

L’airsoft est un sport qui utilise des pistolets a air comprimé
propulsant des projectiles de 6 millimetres de masse faible qui
sont utilisés a une certaine distance dans des jeux de poursuite.
Pratiqué avec une protection oculaire élémentaire, le sport est sir
et gratifiant, et il prend de I’ampleur au Canada jusqu’a présent
depuis qu’il y a été introduit a la fin des années 1980. Airsoft au
Canada est une organisation qui défend les intéréts des acteurs
du sport qu’est ’airsoft au Canada, des utilisateurs finaux — les
joueurs — aux détaillants et aux importateurs de dispositifs
airsoft, et les représente. ASIC s’attache a porter a I’attention du
gouvernement et des organismes de réglementation les questions
qui ont une incidence sur la pratique de 1’airsoft et sur sa
poursuite en toute sécurité en tant que sport et que source de
plaisir et de subsistance pour des milliers de Canadiens.

Le projet de loi C-21 tel qu’il a été présenté dans sa version
originale au Parlement aurait détruit 1’activité sportive qui utilise
des pistolets a air comprimé sous le nom d’airsoft. Il aurait
¢éliminé 1’accés a ces armes a air comprimé, fait disparaitre des
centaines d’entreprises et supprimé le moyen de subsistance de
milliers de Canadiens — sans mentionner la perte du plaisir, de
I’épanouissement personnel et de I’exercice que ce sport apporte
a ceux qui le pratiquent. Heureusement, grace aux efforts
d’ASIC et d’autres organisations au Canada, les parlementaires
ont pris conscience des conséquences désastreuses de leur projet
de loi et ils I’ont modifié. Les parties du projet de loi C-21 qui
auraient détruit la pratique de ’airsoft ne figurent pas dans le
projet de loi qui se trouve devant le Sénat. Le statu quo en ce qui
la concerne a été maintenu, et 1’airsoft est reconnu comme sport,
tout comme sont reconnus ses retombées économiques
importantes et ses effets sociaux trés positifs pour les
participants. La communauté de 1’airsoft en est reconnaissante,
de méme que de I’approche qui a permis de retirer du projet de
loi les éléments qui auraient eu des répercussions sur elle.

En ce qui concerne le projet de loi C-21 en général, je pense
qu’il est important que le Sénat, Chambre de second examen
objectif, adopte la méme approche que les législateurs
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impact the firearm community as the parliamentary legislators
had applied to airsoft. All legislation is a trade-off of restrictions
against freedoms, and in a free and open democracy and in
democratic societies such as Canada, more restrictions must
reach a high bar of net positive impact to warrant the curtailing
of existing privileges and freedoms. Bill C-21 seeks to largely
re-legislate existing law to provide the appearance of providing
enhanced public safety without actually addressing the factors
impacting public safety. The airsoft provisions are a case in
point. They effectively obliterated what are toys to claim an
enhancement of public safety against risks that are almost never
manifest while at the same time not addressing the core risks in a
meaningful way. The other provisions of Bill C-21 seek to do the
same regarding firearms: re-legislate an already effective control
regime to provide government with the claim that they have
taken action while, at the same time, impacting public safety to a
negligible degree. In my view, this action does not meet the
necessary high bar of lawmaking that would curtail the
livelihoods and impact the existing privileges and freedoms of
Canadians for meagre returns to the citizens of Canada.

That’s the completion of my statement. I’'m prepared
to answer any questions or add additional clarification as
necessary.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Mcllmoyle.

We will now proceed to questions. Colleagues, our guests are
with us until 3:55 p.m., and we’ll do our best to allow time for
each member to ask a question. With this in mind, four minutes
will be allocated for each question, including the answer. I will
hold up this card to indicate that 30 seconds remain in your time.
I ask that you keep your questions succinct and identify the
witness you are addressing.

I now offer the first question to our deputy chair, Senator
Dagenais.

[Translation]

Senator Dagenais: My first question is for Ms. Honour.
When this bill was sent to us, we were told steps had been taken
to enable athletes to keep competing in the sport. That’s what
Minister Leblanc told the committee.

What changes could be made to this bill so that it would be
acceptable to athletes like you?

parlementaires pour 1’airsoft par rapport au projet de loi et aux
autres dispositions qui auraient des répercussions sur les
propriétaires d’armes a feu. Toute mesure législative est un
compromis entre restrictions et libertés, et dans une démocratie
libre et ouverte, dans une société démocratique comme le
Canada, plus de restrictions doivent avoir une trés grande
incidence positive nette pour justifier de limiter des libertés et
priviléges existants. Le projet de loi C-21 cherche, dans une
large mesure, & 1égiférer de nouveau sur une loi existante afin de
donner ’'impression de renforcer la sécurité publique sans, en
fait, s’attaquer aux facteurs qui influent sur la sécurité publique.
Les dispositions relatives a 1’airsoft en sont un parfait exemple.
Elles faisaient disparaitre des jouets, en fait, pour revendiquer un
renforcement de la sécurité publique par rapport a des risques qui
ne se manifestent pratiquement jamais, tout en ne s’attaquant pas
véritablement aux principaux risques. Les autres dispositions du
projet de loi C-21 visent a faire la méme chose au sujet des
armes a feu, c’est-a-dire 1égiférer de nouveau sur un régime de
contrdle déja efficace pour que le gouvernement puisse affirmer
qu’il prend des mesures, bien que ces mesures n’aient qu’une
incidence négligeable sur la sécurité publique. A mon avis, ces
mesures ne répondent pas aux exigences nécessairement élevées
en matiére législative, elles compromettraient les moyens de
subsistance et empiéteraient sur les libertés et priviléges
existants, le tout pour de maigres gains pour les citoyens du
Canada.

J’en ai fini de mes observations. Je suis prét a répondre a toute
question et a apporter d’autres clarifications, si nécessaire.

Le président : Je vous remercie, monsieur Mcllmoyle.

Nous allons passer aux questions. Chers collégues, nos invités
sont 1a jusqu’a 15 h 45 et nous ferons de notre mieux pour que
chaque membre ait le temps de poser une question. Par
conséquent, quatre minutes seront allouées pour chaque question,
réponse comprise. Je montrerai ce carton pour indiquer qu’il
vous reste 30 secondes. Je vous demande d’étre succincts et de
nommer le témoin a qui vous posez la question.

La premiére question sera posée par notre vice-président, le
sénateur Dagenais.

[Frangais)

Le sénateur Dagenais : Ma premiére question sera pour
Mme Honour. Quand le projet de loi nous a été transmis, on nous
a dit que des dispositions avaient été prises pour permettre aux
gens qui font du sport de compétition de poursuivre leurs
activités. Le ministre Leblanc I’a répété devant le comité.

Quelles modifications pourrait-on apporter pour que cette loi
devienne acceptable pour des sportifs comme vous?
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[English]
Dr. Honour: There are a couple of changes.

When you look at Bill C-21 and clause 43, proposed
section 97.1 (b)(i) and (ii), if we could do things like include all
the pistols that are commonly used in International Shooting
Sport Federation-recognized pistol disciplines, this would allow
all of our ISSF — the Olympic organization sports — to be
trained and competed with.

The other thing is taking that wording of “training, competing
or coaching” and changing it to “participation in organized target
shooting sports run by government-recognized sport
associations.” Making that shift could allow people like the IPSC
as well. It makes sure that the government recognizes that we
have a responsible sport organization and that we have ways to
identify those that participate. They couldn’t just own a pistol;
they would have to participate in our sports. That would be great.

The other thing I suggest is that for the things that people say
happen with legally owned pistols in this country — whether
they be stolen or they are involved in domestic violence or
suicide — the Ministry of Public Safety could work with our
organizations to help us better educate and better recognize
issues of mental health and be able to actually make a positive
impact to ensure that our athletes and those people that
participate in our sport fall within normal behaviours and things
we want in our society.

[Translation]

Senator Dagenais: When talking about your firearms-related
activities, you’ve said that people are trying to deny you your
cultural heritage. How would you describe what you call your
cultural heritage, and how would you compare it to Indigenous
people’s constitutional heritage?

[English]

Dr. Honour: I don’t want to compare myself to the
Indigenous situation because we have special provisions for
them. What I will say, however, is that as a Canadian, part of our
culture includes people learning to hunt with their families and
learning to shoot targets and safely utilize firearms. I'm a third-
generation Canadian. It’s been part of my family — my entire
family — and I think it’s important that we get to maintain that
and not have people who don’t necessarily have that same
background dictate to us what our culture is.

Senator Dagenais: Thank you.

[Traduction]
Mme Honour : Quelques changements peuvent étre apportés.

Prenons, a I’article 43 du projet de loi C-21, les sous-alinéas
97.1b)(1) et (ii) proposés. S’il était possible d’inclure, par
exemple, tous les pistolets couramment utilisés dans les
disciplines reconnues par la Fédération internationale de tir
sportif, cela permettrait a tous nos membres de s’entrainer et de
concourir dans tous les sports qui ont des épreuves olympiques.

Par ailleurs, il faudrait remplacer « s’entraine, compétitionne
ou est entraineur » par « pratique des sports de tir a la cible
organisés, dirigés par des associations sportives reconnues par le
gouvernement ». Ce changement accorderait une place aussi
I’IPSC. Il marquerait la reconnaissance par le gouvernement du
fait que nous avons une organisation sportive responsable et que
nous avons des moyens d’identifier les personnes qui pratiquent
notre sport. Il ne suffirait pas qu’elles possédent un pistolet.
Elles devraient pratiquer notre sport. Ce serait bien.

Je propose aussi, a propos de ce qui arrive, dit-on, a des
pistolets détenus légalement dans ce pays —qu’ils soient volés
ou utilisés dans des actes de violence conjugale ou dans des
suicides—, que le ministere de la Sécurité publique travaille avec
nos organisations pour nous aider a mieux informer au sujet des
problémes de santé mentale, a mieux les reconnaitre et a étre en
mesure d’avoir une incidence positive pour faire en sorte que nos
athlétes et les personnes qui pratiquent notre sport aient des
comportements normaux que nous souhaitons voir dans notre
société.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Dagenais : Quand vous parlez de vos activités
avec les armes a feu, vous avez déja dit qu’on voulait vous priver
d’un héritage culturel. Comment voyez-vous ce que vous appelez
votre héritage culturel et comment le comparez-vous avec
I’héritage  constitutionnel qui existe pour les peuples
autochtones?

[Traduction]

Mme Honour : Je ne veux pas comparer notre situation a
celles des Autochtones parce que nous avons des dispositions
particuliéres pour eux. Je dirai, cependant, qu’en tant que
Canadiens, notre culture comprend des personnes qui apprennent
a chasser avec leur famille et qui apprennent a tirer sur des cibles
et a utiliser des armes a feu de fagon sécuritaire. Je suis
Canadienne de troisiéme génération. Cela fait partiec de ma
famille —de toute ma famille— et je pense qu’il est important de
pouvoir préserver cet ¢lément et de ne pas nous faire dicter notre
culture par des gens qui n’ont pas nécessairement les mémes
références.

Le sénateur Dagenais : Je vous remercie.
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Senator Plett: My first question is for Brian Mcllmoyle. I
once participated in an airsoft game at a youth camp that my son
was a director of. Other than a couple of good welts on my arms,
I thought it was a great sport and a way to teach some people
lessons. I certainly have never heard of anybody murdering
somebody or even robbing a bank with an airsoft gun, so I find it
kind of ironic that we put that into this gun bill.

Sir, you have stated that Bill C-21, as currently drafted, creates
a legal ambiguity on the possession of airsoft, which will have a
very serious impact upon your sport. Are you satisfied with the
amendments made in the House of Commons? Would you have
any additional amendments that you might recommend to clear
this up?

Mr. Mcllmoyle: That’s a very good question.

Essentially, the effect of the committee meetings with the
parliamentarians was to simply remove the provisions that would
have affected airsoft in Bill C-21. This didn’t, in fact, resolve all
of the issues with airsoft. As it still exists, it’s not completely
regulated clearly, and there’s still some ambiguity with respect to
the legal status of these items, particularly with respect to
import. The clarification necessary to CBSA would radically
reduce their workload in trying to figure out what to hold and
what to let go through. Some very clear regulation with respect
to the legal status of airsoft guns to be developed in the future
with consultation with our organization would be helpful.

Senator Plett: Thank you, sir.

Mr. Smith, we have heard a number of times now — the
minister even saying — that this doesn’t impact sports shooting,
doesn’t impact target shooting and doesn’t impact the Olympics.
Yet, you don’t go from having an interest in target shooting to
becoming an Olympian; you actually have to do some training
and practising on the way. Certainly, some senators here would
appreciate the fact that to become good in your sport, you have
to do some practising. How do we go from just having an interest
in and being a target shooter, sir, to becoming an Olympic
champion when the government says we’re not going to allow
you to practise?

Mr. Smith: I would say it’s probably impossible, if that’s the
case. Sandra outlined a good process there with government-
recognized sporting institutes that could have their athletes listed
and still be able to access. Other than that, not having Bill C-21
would probably help too.

Senator Plett: We wouldn’t have any gold medallists, I
assume?

Le sénateur Plett : Ma premiére question est pour Brian
Mcllmoyle. J’ai participé une fois a une partie d’airsoft dans un
camp de jeunes dont mon fils était le directeur. Hormis quelques
zébrures sur mes bras, j’ai pensé que c’était un excellent sport et
une fagon d’apprendre des choses a certaines personnes. En tout
cas, je n’ai jamais entendu dire qu’un meurtre ait ét¢ commis ou
méme qu’une banque ait été¢ dévalisée en utilisant un pistolet
airsoft. Je trouve donc assez paradoxal de le voir figurer dans ce
projet de loi sur les armes a feu.

Monsieur, vous avez déclaré que le projet de loi C-21, dans sa
version actuelle, crée une ambiguité juridique sur la possession
de pistolets airsoft, ce qui sera trés lourd de conséquences pour
votre sport. Etes-vous satisfait des amendements adoptés a la
Chambre des communes? Souhaitez-vous en recommander
d’autres pour lever cette ambiguité?

M. Mcllmoyle : C’est une trés bonne question.

Au fond, les réunions de comité avec les parlementaires ont
simplement abouti a la suppression des dispositions du projet de
loi C-21 qui se seraient appliquées aux pistolets airsoft.
Toutefois, cela n’a pas réglé toutes les questions les concernant.
Dans sa version actuelle, ils ne sont pas trés clairement
réglementés, et leur statut juridique demeure ambigu, notamment
en ce qui a trait & leur importation. La clarification nécessaire a
I’Agence des services frontaliers du Canada réduirait
considérablement sa charge de travail lorsqu’il lui faut décider
des marchandises a saisir ou & laisser entrer dans le pays. Il serait
utile qu’une réglementation trés claire quant au statut juridique
des pistolets airsoft soit définie par la suite en consultation avec
notre organisation.

Le sénateur Plett : Je vous remercie, monsieur.

Monsieur Smith, voici plusieurs fois que nous entendons
dire — méme par le ministre — que ce projet de loi n’a pas
d’incidence sur le tir sportif, sur le tir a la cible et sur les Jeux
olympiques. Toutefois, ce n’est pas parce que 1’on s’intéresse au
tir a la cible que 1’on devient athléte olympique. En fait, il fait
s’entrainer encore et encore. En tout cas, certains sénateurs ici
présents savent que pour devenir bon dans un sport, il faut
s’entrainer. Comme passe-t-on de s’intéresser au tir a devenir
tireur sur cible, monsieur, et champion olympique quand le
gouvernement dit qu’il ne vous autorisera pas a vous entrainer?

M. Smith : Je dirai que c’est probablement impossible, si tel
est le cas. Mme Honour a décrit un bon processus ou des
organisations sportives reconnues par le gouvernement
pourraient dresser la liste de leurs athlétes, qui pourraient
continuer de s’entrainer. Autrement, ne pas avoir de projet de
loi C-21 aiderait probablement aussi.

Le sénateur Plett : Nous n’aurions aucun médaillé d’or, je
suppose?



41:10

National Security, Defence and Veterans Affairs

6-11-2023

Mr. Smith: We would have no gold medallists.
Senator Plett: Thank you.
Dr. Honour, do you have any comments on that?

Dr. Honour: No. As I said, we have to have the ability to step
on and off the high-performance pathways to be able to create
Olympians, then have Olympians happily retire and not just sit
on the couch and suffer from incubating Type 2 diabetes and
dementia. Our sport is just such a lifelong sport that people can
do it into their 80s, if they can go to a recreational and not
necessarily Olympic event.

Senator Plett: Thank you very much.

Senator Oh: Thank you, witnesses, for being here with us.

I’'m going to go directly into the impact. When the minister
was here before our committee, he stated clearly that nothing
will affect the sportsmanship and sportsperson in the firearms
clubs. My question to all of you is this: Would you agree that
sportspersons, firearms clubs and hunters are not impacted by
this bill? Second, how many individuals in the shooting sports in
Canada are impacted by Bill C-21?

Mr. Smith: I would answer that we are definitely impacted.
We are already starting to see the impact. We’ve had people lose
their firearms in the wildfires. They can’t replace them. There’s
no avenue at all for them to replace those firearms.

What was your second question?

Senator Oh: How many individuals in the shooting sports in
Canada are impacted by Bill C-21? I believe it’s a big number, is
it not?

Mr. Smith: It would be a very large number. I don’t have it.
Our organization is only one sport, and it has about 5,000
members. At the recreational level of the sport throughout the
country, I suspect it would be 100,000.

Dr. Honour: I would back up those numbers. The problem is
that a gun range is almost always a not-for-profit corporation
that’s being run, and we need the members from all the sports to
keep a facility operating. When you impact the pistol sports, it
affects the rifle sports and the other sports that are being shot on
the same facility because the membership is required to own a
firearm, and that membership then helps support and maintain
the equipment to ensure the operation of those facilities.

M. Smith : Nous n’aurions pas de médaillé d’or.
Le sénateur Plett : Je vous remercie.
Madame Honour, avez-vous des commentaires a ce sujet?

Mme Honour : Non. Comme je 1’ai dit, nous devons pouvoir
ne pas nous limiter aux filieres de la haute performance afin
d’étre en mesure de former des athlétes olympiques qui seront
sereins au moment de mettre fin a leur carriére, au lieu d’avoir
des personnes qui passent leur temps sur leur canapé et couvent
un diabete de type 2 et une forme de démence. Notre sport se
pratique tellement toute la vie qu’il est possible de le pratiquer
comme loisir jusque passé 80 ans et pas nécessairement dans des
épreuves olympiques.

Le sénateur Plett : Je vous remercie.

Le sénateur Oh : Je remercie les témoins de leur présence
aujourd’hui.

Je parlerai directement des conséquences du projet de loi.
Quand il a comparu devant le comité, le ministre a clairement
déclaré qu’il n’y aurait aucune incidence sur 1’esprit sportif et
sur les sportifs dans les clubs de tir. Je vous demande donc a tous
si vous é&tes d’accord que ce projet de loi n’a aucune
conséquence pour les sportifs, les clubs de tir et les chasseurs.
Pouvez-vous me dire, ensuite, combien de personnes pratiquant
des sports de tir subiront les répercussions du projet de loi C-21?

M. Smith : Je répondrai que les conséquences sont tout a fait
réelles pour nous. Nous les ressentons déja. Nous connaissons
des personnes qui ont perdu leurs armes a feu dans des feux de
forét. Elles ne peuvent pas les remplacer. Il n’y a aucun moyen
pour elles de les remplacer.

Quelle était votre deuxiéme question?

Le sénateur Oh : Combien de personnes pratiquant le tir
sportif au Canada seraient concernées par le projet de loi C-21?
Il me semble qu’elles sont nombreuses, n’est-ce pas?

M. Smith : Elles sont trés nombreuses. Je n’ai pas le chiffre
exact. Notre organisation ne concerne qu’un sport et elle compte
environ 5 000 membres. Selon moi, pour le volet récréatif du
sport, ce serait 100 000 personnes.

Mme Honour : Je suis d’accord avec ces chiffres. Le
probléme est que les stands de tir sont presque toujours gérés par
des organisations a but non lucratif, et nous avons besoin des
membres de tous les sports pour qu’une installation continue de
fonctionner. Lorsque les sports qui utilisent des pistolets sont
touchés, les sports qui utilisent des carabines et les autres sports
de tir qui se pratiquent dans la méme installation le sont aussi
parce qu’il faut étre membre pour posséder une arme a feu et que
les membres aident ensuite a assurer I’entretien de 1’équipement
pour que ces installations continuent de fonctionner.
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Senator Oh: Thank you.

The Chair: Mr. Mcllmoyle, do you have any thoughts on
this?

Mr. Mcllmoyle: Yes. I'm a licensed firearm owner as well as
an advocate for airsoft. We are seeing a chilling effect across the
entire community from these restrictions coming into play.
Membership at shooting ranges is down, and competitions are
withering on the vine. The impacts of this have been immediate
and widespread, and they will continue to be immediate and
widespread. It is not just the social aspects with respect to people
being cut off from their main source of social activity but also
the economic impacts of people who used to make their
livelihoods supporting these organizations and competitions. The
impacts are widespread, deep and very disturbing for many
people.

Senator Oh: Mr. Smith, are you aware of any country in the
world that has implemented a similar bill to Bill C-21?

Mr. Smith: No. The U.K. probably has the most severe gun
control, and they still have IPSC representation at international
matches. North Ireland has ownership of handguns, the Channel
Islands, the Isle of Man, so there are people in the U.K. who
travel to those locations and store their firearms there and
compete in pistol sports. They would probably be the most
severe gun control in the world.

Senator Oh: It is nice to hear that. Thank you.

The Chair: Mr. Mcllmoyle, we understand you’re having
some interpretation problems. Are they cleared up now?

Mr. Mcllmoyle: It is not. We’re still working on the problem.

The Chair: Okay. Bear with us, and we’ll try to fix it.

[Translation]

Senator Boisvenu: Welcome, witnesses.

My first question is for Ms. Honour. I gather you have quite a
lot of members — thousands, is that right?
[English]

Dr. Honour: Yes, we have thousands of members in the
Shooting Federation of Canada.

Le sénateur Oh : Je vous remercie.

Le président : Monsieur Mcllmoyle, qu’en pensez-vous?

M. Mcllmoyle : Oui. J’ai un permis de possession d’arme a
feu et je suis un défenseur des pistolets airsoft. Les restrictions
qui entrent en vigueur ont un effet dissuasif sur toute la
communauté. Le nombre de membres des stands de tir baisse, et
les compétitions dépérissent. Les conséquences sont immédiates
et générales, et elles continueront de 1’étre. Ce ne sont pas
seulement les aspects sociaux relatifs aux personnes qui se
trouvent coupées de leur principale source d’activité sociale,
mais aussi les répercussions économiques pour les personnes qui
gagnaient leur vie en soutenant ces organisations et ces
compétitions. Les conséquences sont générales, importantes et
trés inquiétantes pour beaucoup de personnes.

Le sénateur Oh : Monsieur Smith, savez-vous si d’autres
pays ont mis en ceuvre des lois semblables au projet de loi C-21?

M. Smith : Non. Le Royaume-Uni a probablement le controle
le plus strict des armes a feu, et il est quand méme représenté par
I’IPSC aux compétitions internationales. L’Irlande du Nord, de
méme que les iles Anglo-Normandes et 1’ile de Man autorisent la
possession d’armes de poing. Il y a donc des personnes au
Royaume-Uni qui se rendent dans ces endroits, y conservent
leurs armes a feu et concourent dans des sports de tir. Il s’agit
probablement du contrdle le plus strict des armes a feu dans le
monde.

Le sénateur Oh : C’est bon a savoir. Je vous remercie.

Le président : Monsieur Mcllmoyle, vous avez apparemment
des problémes avec I’interprétation. Sont-ils résolus?

M. Mcllmoyle : Non, nous cherchons toujours a les régler.

Le président : D’accord. Soyez patient, nous essayer de les
régler.

[Frangais]
Le sénateur Boisvenu : Bienvenue a nos témoins.

Ma premiere question sera pour Mme Honour. J’ai compris
que le nombre de membres avec qui vous faites affaire est élevé.
On parle de milliers de membres, n’est-ce pas?

[Traduction]

Mme Honour : Oui, la Fédération de tir du Canada compte
des milliers de membres.
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[Translation]

Senator Boisvenu: When the minister testified before this
committee, he said, “I don’t think hunters or sports groups
oppose this legislation.”

Do you know of any sport shooting or hunting groups in
Canada that support this bill?

[English]

Dr. Honour: No, I am not aware of any sport shooting or
hunting groups that support Bill C-21.

[Translation]

Senator Boisvenu: The minister seemed to think that lots of
people support this bill.

My second question is for Mr. Smith. I put this same question
to police representatives and shooting range managers. The thing
that concerns me the most is this: If this bill were passed as
written, what impact would that have on the thousands of
shooting ranges across Canada? Also, what impact would it have
on people in law enforcement and the military who use these
shooting ranges for their annual recertification?

[English]

Mr. Smith: The result will eventually be the closing of all
those facilities as people are unable to participate as a result of
attrition through age, equipment breaking, etc. I can only speak
for Nova Scotia, but our local club that I manage is a non-profit
club run by our members, and all HPD shooters in Halifax use it.
We have a very good relationship. Without that range, they
would not be able to do their qualifications. They start on
August 1 and finish November 15. They are there every day.
That facility will no longer belong. I would hazard to say that at
least probably 75% of ranges in Canada are private clubs owned
by the members, and the rest would be commercial ranges. As
we lose members, we’ll get to a critical mass where we will no
longer be able to afford to keep the lights on, and we’ll have to
close.

[Translation]

Senator Boisvenu: You’re a large confederation with lots of
members. Have you had a chance to share your comments with
the minister or his representatives?

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Lorsque le ministre est venu
témoigner devant ce comité, il a dit une phrase que je cite : « Je
ne pense pas que les chasseurs et les groupes sportifs s’opposent
a ce projet de loi. »

Est-ce que vous connaissez des groupes de chasseurs ou de
sportifs au Canada qui appuient ce projet de 1oi?

[Traduction]

Mme Honour : Non, je ne connais aucun groupe de tir sportif
ou de chasse qui soutienne le projet de loi C-21.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Le ministre a supposé que beaucoup
de gens appuyaient ce projet de loi.

Ma deuxiéme question est pour M. Smith; c’est une question
que j’ai posée aux représentants policiers et aux gestionnaires de
champs de tir. La question qui me préoccupe le plus est la
suivante : si ce projet de loi est adopté tel quel, quel sera
I’impact sur la viabilité des milliers de champs de tir partout au
Canada? Quel sera aussi l’impact relativement aux corps
policiers et aux militaires qui utilisent ces champs de tir pour
leur qualification annuelle?

[Traduction]

M. Smith : Toutes ces installations finiront par fermer parce
que les gens ne pourront plus pratiquer le tir en raison de leur
age, de I'usure du matériel, etc. Je ne peux parler que de la
Nouvelle-Ecosse, mais notre club local que je gére est un club a
but non lucratif dirigé par ses membres, et tous les tireurs du
service de police d’Halifax viennent s’y entrainer. Nous
entretenons une trés bonne relation avec la police. Sans ce stand
de tir, ces policiers ne pourraient pas maintenir leurs
qualifications. Ils commencent le 1°T aoft et terminent le
15 novembre. Ils sont la tous les jours. Cette installation
disparaitra. J’irai jusqu’a dire que probablement 75 % des stands
de tir sont des clubs privés qui appartiennent a leurs membres et
que les autres sont des stands commerciaux. A force de perdre
des membres, nous arriverons a une masse critique ou nous
n’aurons plus les moyens de rester ouverts et nous devrons
fermer.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Vous étes une fédération importante
qui comporte beaucoup de membres. Avez-vous eu la chance de
faire part de vos commentaires au ministre ou a ses
représentants?
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[English]

Mr. Smith: I testified at Parliament and shared those

concerns.
[Translation]

Senator Boisvenu: Do you feel those people understood
where you were coming from or were open to amending the bill
so as to minimize the impact on your members?

[English]

Mr. Smith: There was discussion. During the parliamentary
amendments at committee, there was certainly some discussion,
and actually, some of it came to a vote, and it came down to a
tiebreaker by the chair.

[Translation]

Senator Boisvenu: Are your proposed amendments in the bill
before us now?

[English]
Mr. Smith: No, they are not.
Senator Boisvenu: Thank you.

Senator Richards: Thank you, witnesses, for being here.

My nephew is a lawyer and also a sports shooter. He has his
own pistols. Mr. Smith, do the shooting facilities offer the pistols
with which you practise? Sooner or later, do the participants
want their own pistols to use? If they supply their own, with this
bill, would it be almost impossible to continue the sport?

Mr. Smith: That is correct. At our facility, we do have some
firearms that we use for juniors to start with, but typically, by the
time they become 18 or 19, they acquire their own and move
through the program with them. It’s not only at the range where
practice time is needed. They practise off air with what we call
dry fire so they are not actually firing the firearm. They are just
practising with the trigger and the sights.

Senator Richards: Sure. In a way, they are vetted, aren’t
they, these people that come to your range?

Mr. Smith: They are all vetted through the Canadian National
Firearms Association, and in order to become a member, you
have to have your Restricted Possession Acquisition License, or
RPAL, or your Possession Acquisition Licence, or PAL.

[Traduction]

M. Smith : J’ai témoigné devant le Parlement et fait part des
mémes préoccupations.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Ces gens ont-ils démontré une
certaine sensibilité ou une ouverture a modifier ce projet de loi
afin que vous soyez touchés le moins possible?

[Traduction]

M. Smith : Il y a eu des discussions. Pendant I’examen des
amendements parlementaires en comité, il y a certainement eu
des discussions qui ont, en partie, fait ’objet d’un vote que le
président a da départager.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Est-ce que vos propositions
d’amendements sont dans le projet de loi dont nous sommes
saisis actuellement?

[Traduction]
M. Smith : Non, elles n’y sont pas.
Le sénateur Boisvenu : Je vous remercie.

Le sénateur Richards : Je remercie les témoins de leur
présence aujourd’hui.

Mon neveu, qui est avocat, pratique le tir sportif. Il a ses
propres pistolets. Monsieur Smith, est-ce que les installations de
tir proposent les pistolets avec lesquels tirer? Est-ce que, tot ou
tard, les participants veulent utiliser leurs propres pistolets? S’ils
apportent les leurs, avec ce projet de loi, sera-t-il pratiquement
impossible de continuer de pratiquer ce sport?

M. Smith : C’est exact. Dans notre centre, nous avons bien
quelques armes a feu que les juniors utilisent pour commencer,
mais généralement, quand ils arrivent a 18 ou 19 ans, ils
acquiérent leurs propres pistolets et suivent le programme avec.
Ils ne doivent pas seulement s’exercer au stand de tir, mais aussi
a D’air libre avec ce que nous appelons des tirs a vide ou ils ne
tirent pas vraiment de coups de feu. Ils s’entrainent seulement
avec la gachette et le viseur.

Le sénateur Richards : D’accord. D’une certaine maniére,
les personnes qui viennent a votre stand de tir font 1’objet d’un
contrdle, n’est-ce pas?

M. Smith : Oui, par [Dintermédiaire de 1’Association
canadienne pour les armes a feu et pour devenir membre, il faut
étre titulaire d’un permis de possession et d’acquisition d’armes
a feu a autorisation restreinte, ou PPA-AFAR, ou d’un permis de
possession et d’acquisition, ou PPA.
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Senator Richards: Of course.

Dr. Honour, there is a very heavy burden on the scrutiny and
legal, judgmental oversight that makes many turn away from
pistol shooting or not consider it as a sport or even as a hobby.
Would you agree with that statement?

Dr. Honour: I would say it’s a big hurdle to join the sport and
become competitive in it, yes.

Senator Richards: Thank you very much.

Senator Duncan: Thank you very much to the witnesses who
have come before us today.

My question is largely for Dr. Honour and concerns the sport
of biathlon. I am not an expert on firearms or on Bill C-21. My
understanding is that biathlon does not use a weapon that is
currently covered under this legislation. I believe you mentioned
an amendment that would ensure that a recognized sports
organization would be involved in the licensing or dealing with
weapons and the authorization to use them. I'm wondering if
your amendment that you propose would provide future comfort
to those involved in the sport of biathlon in that, in fact, the guns
would not in the future be covered under such legislation. Or
perhaps, has the sport of biathlon or the sports organization been
involved at all in your discussions? I ask this because, of course,
biathlon is part of the Arctic Winter Games, an international
sports competition.

Dr. Honour: In my understanding, we do not represent
biathlon. They are their own association. They are not impacted
by Bill C-21. The use of their firearm is allowed.

In terms of the proposed change that I'm asking for in
Bill C-21, it really is to deal with clause 43 and inserting
proposed sections 97.1(b)(i) and (ii), which is about pistols, the
firearm type being a handgun, so that it would identify which
handguns are allowed and who can own those handguns.

Senator Duncan: If 1 can follow up, then, if we were to
include that amendment, would it provide comfort for future
legislators and future individuals involved in biathlon? Yes, they
are a separate organization, and their weapons or guns are not
covered under this legislation, but forward thinking —

Dr. Honour: Biathlon is not impacted. The problem is that
any government can then say, “We don’t accept your
organization. We will no longer recognize your organization.”
There is always a threat that our government will not recognize
shooting sports. However, I’m trying to find a way in our current
government system so that we can find a balance between the
government wanting to have control of firearms and our ability
to operate our sports.

Le sénateur Richards : Bien entendu.

Madame Honour, il y a une trés lourde responsabilité en
matiére de surveillance juridique et critique qui en décourage
beaucoup de pratiquer le tir au pistolet ou qui ne leur fait pas
envisager la possibilité de pratiquer ce sport comme loisir. Etes-
vous d’accord sur ce point?

Mme Honour : Je dirai que c’est un gros obstacle pour qui
veut pratiquer ce sport et participer a des compétitions, en effet.

Le sénateur Richards : Je vous remercie.

La sénatrice Duncan : Je remercie les témoins de leur
présence aujourd’hui.

Ma question est dans une large mesure pour Mme Honour et
concerne le biathlon. Je ne suis pas experte en armes a feu ou en
ce qui concerne le projet de loi C-21. Je crois savoir que 1’on
n’utilise pas pour le biathlon d’arme actuellement visée par ce
projet de loi. Je crois que vous avez mentionné un amendement
qui garantirait qu’une organisation sportive reconnue participe a
la délivrance des permis ou au volet relatif aux armes et a
I’autorisation de les utiliser. Est-ce que 1’amendement que vous
proposez assurerait aux biathlétes que leurs armes ne seraient pas
visées par la suite par une loi de ce type? Ou est-ce que le
biathlon ou 1’organisation sportive participe a vos discussions?
Je le demande parce qu’évidemment, le biathlon fait partie des
épreuves des Jeux d’hiver de I’Arctique, manifestation sportive
internationale.

Mme Honour : A ma connaissance, nous ne représentons pas
le biathlon, qui a sa propre association. Cette discipline n’est pas
concernée par le projet de loi C-21. L’arme & feu utilisée est
autorisée.

Pour ce qui est du changement que je propose au projet de
loi C-21, il porte sur I’article 43 et I’insertion des sous-alinéas
97.1b)(i) et (ii) qui concernent les pistolets, le type d’arme a feu
étant une arme de poing, et il préciserait quelles armes de poing
sont autorisées et qui peut en posséder.

La sénatrice Duncan : Pour faire suite a ce que vous dites, si
nous incluions cet amendement, est-ce qu’il rassurerait les futurs
législateurs et les futurs biathlétes? Certes, ils ont leur propre
organisation, et leurs armes ou armes a feu ne sont pas visées par
ce projet de loi, mais si I’on pense a I’avenir...

Mme Honour : Le biathlon n’est pas concerné. Le probléme
est que n’importe quel gouvernement peut décider de ne pas
accepter une organisation, de ne plus la reconnaitre. Il y a
toujours le risque que le gouvernement ne reconnaisse pas un
jour les sports de tir. Cependant, j’essaie de trouver dans notre
systéme de gouvernement actuel un équilibre entre la volonté du
gouvernement de controler les armes a feu et notre capacité de
pratiquer nos sports.
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Senator Duncan: Your suggestion is to have this La sénatrice Duncan : Vous proposez donc d’adopter cet
amendment? amendement?

Dr. Honour: Yes.
Senator Duncan: Thank you.

Senator M. Deacon: Thank you all for being here this
afternoon.

My first question is to our witness Mr. Smith in an attempt to
really understand some of this. I'm wondering how International
Practical Shooting differs from shooting sports that are
recognized by the Olympics, Paralympic Games, Jeux de la
Francophonie, Commonwealth Games and all those games in
terms of the equipment.

At the Olympic level, the pistol, the rifle and the shotgun
events are governed by the International Sports Federation,
which has a rule book, as you know, about this thick, on the
construction and calibration of these precise firearms. It’s
regulated by really strict guidelines and staggering amounts of
minutiae that dictate everything from the trigger pull weight and
barrel construction to the thumb rest, ergonomics and
ammunition specs. I’m not a shooter, but they are very niche
firearms which serve one specific purpose tailored to their
events.

Are the firearms used a standard kind that you could walk into
a gun shop to purchase, or are they also very tailored to these
events without much use outside of competition? I’'m trying to
understand that technical difference.

Mr. Smith: Just to start, we also have an international
rule book that is recognized in all countries that participate in the
sport. For the actual firearms that are used, we have different
divisions. We have a division that starts with a firearm that you
can go buy — just a basic firearm. It’s called production, so it’s
a production firearm. There are then several other divisions with
the open division, which would be the highest level of firearm
that is tailored exactly to the sport. An analogy might be like
race cars where you might have your stock car and your F1 race
car. It goes through all those iterations. The production gun
would be $1,000 to purchase, and an open gun would be
$15,000. Most members would probably have two, as backup, so
they would have $30,000 invested into the sport. They might not
be able to continue.

Senator M. Deacon: Thank you.

Ms. Honour, congratulations on the recent performances in
Santiago. It’s great to have shooters qualify for the Olympics.
It’s the first time since 2000. I want my colleagues know that.
Around this issue of Bill C-21, you have been dealing with a lot
of roadblocks over the last two quadrennial periods, with

Mme Honour : Oui.
La sénatrice Duncan : Je vous remercie.

La sénatrice M. Deacon : Je vous remercie tous de votre
présence cet aprés-midi.

Ma premiere question est pour M. Smith afin d’essayer de bien
comprendre la situation. Je me demande quelle est la différence
entre le tir pratique international et les sports de tir reconnus par
les Jeux olympiques, les Jeux paralympiques, les Jeux de la
Francophonie, les Jeux du Commonwealth et tous les autres jeux
sur le plan de I’équipement.

En ce qui concerne les Jeux olympiques, les épreuves utilisant
des pistolets, des carabines et des fusils sont régies par la
Fédération internationale de sports, qui a un réglement, comme
vous le savez, trés épais sur la construction et I’étalonnage
précisément de ces armes a feu. Des lignes directrices trés
strictes avec des détails d’une minutie extraordinaire dictent tout,
du poids de la détente a la construction du barillet, en passant par
I’appuie-pouce, 1’ergonomie et les spécifications concernant les
munitions. Je ne pratique pas le tir, mais il existe des armes a feu
trés particuliéres qui servent a une fin précise et qui sont
adaptées aux épreuves dans lesquelles elles sont utilisées.

Les armes a feu utilisées sont-elles des armes courantes que
vous pourriez acheter chez un armurier ou sont-elles fabriquées
tout spécialement pour ces épreuves sans vraiment d’utilité en
dehors des compétitions? J’essaie de comprendre la différence
technique.

M. Smith : Je dirai d’abord que nous avons un réglement
international qui est reconnu dans tous les pays qui participent au
sport. Pour ce qui est des armes a feu utilisées, nous avons
différentes divisions. Dans 1’une d’elles, on commence avec une
arme a feu que 1’on peut acheter — une simple arme a feu dite de
série. Il existe plusieurs autres divisions, dont la division ouverte
ou I’on utilise les meilleures armes adaptées précisément au
sport. Pour faire une analogie, c’est comme les voitures de
course ou 1’on a un stock-car et une voiture de course de F1 et
tout ce qui vient entre les deux. L’arme de série colite 1 000 §$ et
I’arme de compétition, 15 000 $. La plupart des membres
possedent probablement deux armes, dont une en réserve, ce qui
veut dire qu’ils auront investi 30 000 $ dans le sport. Ils ne
pourront peut-&tre pas continuer.

La sénatrice M. Deacon : Je vous remercie.

Madame Honour, félicitations pour les récents résultats a
Santiago. C’est formidable de voir des tireurs qualifiés pour les
Jeux olympiques. Je tiens a ce que mes collégues le sachent. En
ce qui concerne le projet de loi C-21, il est certain que vous vous
étes heurtée a de nombreux obstacles au cours des deux derniéres
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facilities and keeping membership fulsome, for sure. We
recognize the challenges you have. You’ve heard today about the
minister being in the room and us asking the minister questions a
little while ago. He assured us that elite level Olympians and
Paralympians, right down to novices, would be able to train with
the exceptions provided in this bill. Were you and your group
consulted? Did you have an opportunity for input? If this bill is
passed, do you think there will be more clarity on what to expect
moving forward?

Dr. Honour: The Shooting Federation of Canada was not
asked to participate in the committee that discussed Bill C-21,
nor did we have letters answered to us after we wrote to the
minister several times to request. In terms of any contact, what
we have had is with the Ministry of Public Safety on the wording
of the letter and what kind of screening we’re doing to identify
athletes who would like to import or transfer ownership of a
pistol.

Senator M. Deacon: Thank you.

Senator Cardozo: Thank you to our witnesses who are here
in person and online. This is a complex bill, and we really
appreciate your time with us.

I want to ask my question to Sandra Honour, if I can. It’s
regarding the culture of recreational gun shooting. You made, at
one point, a comparison to bicycle riding. You suggested that
people needed to do more before they became an expert, a
competitive bicycle rider. I would say it was an interesting
analogy because it helps frame that, but the difference, though, is
that bicycles cannot be used to kill people.

I put that because I think that’s part of the criticism that we
certainly hear in this committee, concern about the culture of
recreational shooting. You did mention that it’s a forum where
people can meet and develop friendships. I understand that and |
get that. There are many ways that we, as citizens, develop our
friendships and get to know people. People have said to us that
there is a serious crisis, an epidemic, of domestic violence, and
they juxtapose that versus a hobby. Could comment on that in
light of what you talked about in terms of the friendships and
social atmosphere that people can develop in the field?

Dr. Honour: We definitely have community in all of the
different shooting sports. I think this is where we could provide
service. You have identified places where legal guns can be used
in the act of a violent crime. As a community that cares about
responsible firearm ownership, what could we do to help? We
have never been asked what we could do, what courses we could
provide, what information we could move to our community that
own pistols, that belong to our clubs, to help reduce any issues
around domestic violence and suicide. You are not asking us to

périodes quadriennales, avec les installations et pour garder tous
vos membres. Nous sommes conscients de vos difficultés. Vous
avez entendu aujourd’hui que le ministre a comparu tout a
I’heure devant le comité et que nous lui avons posé des
questions. Il nous a assuré que des athlétes olympiques et
paralympiques aux novices, tous pourraient s’entrainer avec les
exceptions prévues dans le projet de loi. Est-ce que vous-méme
et votre groupe avez été consultés? Avez-vous eu 1’occasion de
donner votre avis? Si ce projet de loi est adopté, pensez-vous que
les choses seront plus claires pour ce qui est des mesures
auxquelles s’attendre par la suite?

Mme Honour : Le comité qui a examiné le projet de loi C-21
n’a pas invité la Fédération de tir du Canada a participer et il n’a
pas été répondu aux différentes lettres que nous avons écrites au
ministre. Pour ce qui est de contacts, nous en avons eu avec le
ministere de la Sécurité publique au sujet du libellé de la lettre et
du type de vérification que nous faisons pour dire quels athlétes
souhaitent importer un pistolet ou en transférer la propriété.

La sénatrice M. Deacon : Je vous remercie.

Le sénateur Cardozo : Je remercie les témoins de leur
présence en personne et en ligne. Il s’agit d’un projet de loi
complexe, et nous vous sommes trés reconnaissants du temps
que vous nous consacrez.

Je poserai ma question & Sandra Honour, si je peux me
permettre. Elle concerne la culture du tir récréatif. Vous avez, a
un moment donné, fait une comparaison avec la bicyclette. Vous
avez expliqué qu’il faut beaucoup s’entrainer pour devenir un
expert, un coureur cycliste. Je dirai que [’analogie est
intéressante parce qu’elle aide a comprendre, mais la différence,
toutefois, est que I’on ne se sert pas de vélos pour tuer des gens.

Je le dis parce que cela fait partie des critiques que nous
entendons au comité, des préoccupations que suscite la culture
du tir récréatif. Vous avez bien mentionné qu’il s’agit d’un
milieu ou les gens se rencontrent et peuvent nouer des amitiés. Je
le congois et je le comprends. Les citoyens que nous sommes
font connaissance et nouent des amitiés de bien des fagons. Des
personnes nous ont dit qu’il y a une grave crise, une épidémie de
violence conjugale, et elles font le paralléle entre cette situation
et un passe-temps. Qu’en pensez-vous par rapport a ce que vous
avez dit au sujet de 1’atmosphére sociale et des amitiés qui se
nouent dans ce milieu?

Mme Honour : Il existe assurément une communauté dans
tous les sports de tir. Je pense que c’est la que nous pourrions
fournir un service. Vous avez mentionné les endroits ou des
armes légales risquent d’étre utilisées pour commettre un crime
violent. Que pouvons-nous faire pour aider en tant que
communauté soucieuse de la possession responsable d’armes a
feu? On ne nous a jamais demandé ce que nous pourrions faire,
quels cours nous pourrions offrir, quelle information nous

By

pourrions donner a notre communauté de propriétaires de
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be a part of the solution. You just identify us as a problem, and
that’s it, a blanket statement. I think it’s a two-way street. We
could support community change and identification as a part of a
community that really cares about responsible firearm
ownership. We could do work. If we understood how to identify
issues like mental health issues, if we were more educated as
people who instruct and manage gun clubs, we could do more for
the community than to just only make legal pistol ownership
illegal and no longer have any responsible people owning pistols.

Senator Cardozo: Are you aware of any gun clubs that do
that kind of awareness raising or help women’s groups?

Dr. Honour: I know IPSC Black Badge is incredible. You
can talk to them. They have an incredible safety program. All the
range officer training that gun clubs do has a strong component.
Do we have a strong mental health component? No, we are weak
in that. Could we do more? Absolutely, if someone worked with
us on it to actually tell us what we could do to improve on that.
The Shooting Federation of Canada is working on mental health
with our athletes, but it’s more around anxiety and issues around
competing, not necessarily mental health in day-to-day life, but
we have opportunities. All sport is working toward a safe sport
environment in regard to both mental health and the safe
operation of the facilities.

Senator Kutcher: Thank you all for sharing your thoughtful
considerations around the issues related to target shooting sports
and this bill.

My question is for Mr. Smith. Welcome to Ottawa. I
understand that the IPSC has some chapters in countries that
have quite restrictive gun legislation. You mentioned the U.K.
and Australia, but I also understand that Japan has a chapter.
Could you share with us, so we have a better understanding,
more details about how people who are involved in target
shooting sports in those countries are finessed there? What kind
of processes are there in place in those countries that have the
more restrictive legislation? Could you share the details of that?

Mr. Smith: I can’t speak to every one. We have a member in
Nova Scotia who lives in the U.K. He travels to the Channel
Islands to compete and practise. He also has a cottage in Nova
Scotia and has a valid RPAL in Canada and flies over to compete
in Canada and picks up his guns and flies back to other countries
to use them. I don’t know all the countries. I did reach out to the

pistolets, aux membres de nos clubs, pour aider a réduire les
problémes de violence conjugale et de suicide. Vous ne nous
demandez pas de faire partie de la solution. Vous nous désignez
seulement comme étant un probléme et c’est tout, en
généralisant. Je pense que cela va dans les deux sens. Nous
pouvons aider a identifier les membres de notre communauté qui
a vraiment a cceur une possession responsable d’armes a feu, et
I’encourager a apporter des changements. Nous pouvons y
contribuer. Si nous savions comment repérer des problémes
comme les problémes de santé mentale, si nous étions mieux
informés en tant qu’instructeurs et gestionnaires de clubs de tir,
nous pourrions faire plus pour la collectivité que nous contenter
de rendre illégale la possession légale de pistolets, avec pour
résultat que plus aucune personne responsable ne posséde de
pistolets.

Le sénateur Cardozo : Savez-vous si des clubs de tir font un
travail de sensibilisation ou aident des groupes de femmes?

Mme Honour : Je sais que le programme Black Badge de
I’IPSC est fantastique. Vous pouvez en parler avec son
représentant. L’IPSC a un programme formidable sur la sécurité.
Toute la formation des agents de terrain que font les clubs de tir
comprend un ¢élément important. Est-ce que nous avons un
¢lément important sur la santé mentale? Non, c’est un de nos
points faibles. Pourrions-nous faire plus? Trés certainement, si
quelqu’un travaillait en collaboration avec nous pour nous dire
ce que nous pouvons faire pour nous améliorer a cet égard. La
Fédération de tir du Canada travaille sur la santé mentale avec
ses athlétes, mais il s’agit plus de gérer ’angoisse et des
questions relatives aux compétitions, pas nécessairement de la
santé mentale dans la vie quotidienne, mais nous pouvons mieux
faire. Tous les sports s’efforcent de créer un milieu sportif
sécuritaire sur le plan de la santé mentale et d’utiliser les
installations de fagon sécuritaire également.

Le sénateur Kutcher : Merci a tous pour vos témoignages
trés éclairants sur les enjeux liés aux sports de tir et au projet de
loi.

J’ai une question pour M. Smith. Bienvenue a Ottawa. Je
comprends que I’IPSC a des divisions dans des pays qui ont une
l1égislation trés contraignante sur les armes a feu. Vous avez
mentionné le Royaume-Uni et 1’Australie, mais je crois qu’il
existe également une division japonaise. Pouvez-vous nous aider
a comprendre comment la 1égislation est adaptée pour les sports
de tir dans ces pays? Quels sont les processus en place dans les
pays ou la législation est plus contraignante? Pouvez-vous nous
donner des précisions a ce sujet?

M. Smith : Je ne suis pas au courant de ce qui se passe dans
tous ces pays. Nous avons un membre de la Nouvelle-Ecosse qui
vit au Royaume-Uni. Il se rend aux iles Anglo-Normandes pour
des compétitions et des entrainements. I a un chalet en
Nouvelle-Ecosse et il détient un permis de possession d’arme a
feu a autorisation restreinte valide au Canada. Il vient en avion
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section coordinator that runs Australia to ask about it and had
some correspondence back and forth. You are basically a novice,
and you spend six months going to the club and using other
people’s firearms. After that, you apply. It takes a year to
qualify. ’'m very familiar with that. I know Russia has centres
where the firearms are kept. There are 109 countries. I’'m not
familiar with every one of them.

Senator Kutcher: It would be impossible with 109 countries.

Would it be possible, as a request, for you to do some research
on this? Let’s pick Australia, the United Kingdom and Japan, for
three countries. They’re more like-minded with us than Russia.
Could you help us understand how they do it? What fail-safes are
in place for them? Would that be possible?

Mr. Smith: Yes. I did provide that information to the CQ
committee when I testified there. As I said, I did reach out to
Australia, because I think at least three times in testimony
they’ve been raised as the model.

Senator Kutcher: Yes, but those three.
Mr. Smith: Yes, I can do that.

Senator Kutcher: Thank you so much. That would be
fantastic.

Sandra Honour, thank you very much for being with us and
sharing your thoughts. This issue that you raised is an important
one about the role of the shooting organization in proactively
addressing concerns around suicide with guns. I thank you very
much for raising that as an issue. We know that many different
organizations, for example, sports organizations with young
people, are now bringing in mental health literacy into those
organizations, teaching people how to identify individuals who
might be suicidal and what interventions can be done in the
organization. Have your organizations had any discussions with
the federal government or your provincial governments or any
mental health groups to help you develop those capacities? Is
there a willingness to do so, if you haven’t?

Dr. Honour: As a national sports organization, there is an
absolute willingness. The other sports have that opportunity, and
we are going to be able to piggyback on some of those other
sports in terms of their learnings and how to manage that. We

pour participer a des compétitions ici, il prend ses armes et il va
dans d’autres pays ou il peut les utiliser. Je ne connais pas tous
les pays. J’ai communiqué avec le coordonnateur de section en
Australie pour le questionner a ce sujet. Nous nous sommes écrit
a quelques reprises. Un novice peut fréquenter un club pendant
six mois, utiliser les armes d’autres personnes et soumettre une
demande ensuite. Il faut une année pour se qualifier. C’est
quelque chose que je connais trés bien. Je sais qu’en Russie, les
armes a feu sont gardées dans des centres. On parle de 109 pays,
alors vous comprendrez que je ne connais pas en détail comment
les choses se passent dans chacun d’eux.

Le sénateur Kutcher : Effectivement, c’est
beaucoup.

109 pays,

Pensez-vous que vous pourriez faire des recherches la-dessus?
Est-ce que ce serait envisageable pour vous de faire des
recherches pour trois pays, soit I’ Australie, le Royaume-Uni et le
Japon? Disons que nos fagons de voir sont plus proches de celles
de ces pays que de celles de la Russie. Pourriez-vous nous aider
a comprendre comment les choses fonctionnent dans ces trois
pays? Quelles mesures de protection ont-ils mis en place? Est-ce
que ce serait possible pour vous de faire ces recherches?

M. Smith : Oui. J’ai déja fourni des informations quand j’ai
comparu devant le Comité de la sécurité publique. Comme je I’ai
dit, j’ai déja contacté quelqu’un en Australie étant donné qu’elle
a été citée en modéle au moins trois fois au cours des
témoignages.

Le sénateur Kutcher : Oui, mais ces trois...
M. Smith : Oui, je peux faire ces recherches.

Le sénateur Kutcher : Merci énormément. Ce serait

formidable.

Madame Honour, merci beaucoup d’étre avec nous et de nous
avoir donné votre point de vue. Vous avez soulevé un enjeu
important en parlant du réle proactif que peut jouer la fédération
de tir sur la question trés préoccupante des suicides par arme a
feu. Je vous remercie beaucoup d’avoir soulevé cette question.
Nous savons que de nombreux organismes, y compris des
organismes sportifs pour les jeunes, ont commencé a faire de la
sensibilisation sur la santé mentale. On apprend aux gens a
déceler les signes qu’une personne pourrait étre suicidaire et
quelles interventions sont possibles au sein de 1’organisme.
Votre organisme a-t-il eu des discussions avec le gouvernement
fédéral ou les gouvernements provinciaux, ou des groupes
spécialisés en santé mentale pour qu’ils vous aident a développer
ces capacités? Si vous ne ’avez pas encore fait, existe-t-il une
volonté a cet égard?

Mme Honour : En tant qu’organisme sportif national, c’est
clair que nous avons cette volonté. C’est quelque chose qui se
fait déja dans d’autres sports, et nous pourrons tirer profit de leur
travail, de ce qu’ils ont appris et de la maniére dont ils ont géré
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will absolutely be bringing it into the leadership and the
coaching and the officials and that type of work at the sports
organization. What would be great is if we could get that to the
clubs.

Senator Kutcher: Thank you.

Senator Yussuff: Thank you to the witnesses for being here.

My question will be both to Sandra Honour and, of course,
James Smith and is to deal with the concern that you have in
regard to the legislation and future membership because of the
Bill C-21 ban on handguns and use of handguns. Maybe there are
two parts to it. Membership in the organization is a serious
responsibility, and obviously, if there were an exemption based
on what was proposed in the other place, there would be a higher
degree of vigilance as to how you would police that because
anybody could join just to get around the handgun restriction.
Could you elaborate on some of your thoughts about this? This is
an issue that has been raised publicly. I would like to get your
thoughts in regard to this.

Mr. Smith: As I said in my opening statement, IPSC, since its
inception in Canada, had a requirement to have an extra training
course above and beyond what the government required. We call
it a “Black Badge” program. It’s a two-day course where we vet
the people. It’s some training. It’s the rules. It’s a bit of
everything. We have a limited number of instructors. If
everybody comes and says they want to join, it’s just not going
to happen because we don’t have the facilities. In addition to
that, we have a requirement that you have to participate on a
yearly basis or you lose that black badge and are no longer able
to participate. We certainly would cooperate and do that vetting.
As members come in and left, we would let everybody know that
that’s how it works.

Dr. Honour: Similarly, that could be done in the ISSF sports
as well.

Senator Yussuff: To follow up on your answer, what is the
requirement to maintain membership and ensure that someone
who joins your organization is actually engaged in the
competitive nature of what is required?

Mr. Smith: We track participation at the competitions at the
provincial and national levels. If you go a year without
participating, you go into a six-month probation. If you don’t
participate in that six months, you have to go through all the
training again.

Senator Yussuff: Would that be the same, Ms. Honour, in
regard to your organization?

ce processus. Nous voulons vraiment qu’on en tienne compte a
I’échelon de la direction, des entraineurs et des officiels, que ce
travail se fasse dans I’ensemble de notre organisme sportif. Et ce
serait vraiment merveilleux si nous réussissons a obtenir la
collaboration des clubs.

Le sénateur Kutcher : Merci.

Le sénateur Yussuff : Je remercie les témoins d’étre des
notres.

Ma question s’adresse a la fois 8 Mme Sandra Honour et, cela
va de soi, a M. James Smith. Elle porte sur votre inquiétude a
I’égard du projet de loi C-21 et du recrutement de membres en
raison de I’interdiction des armes de poing et de leur utilisation.
La question comporte peut-étre deux volets... Etre membre de
vos organismes vient avec une grande responsabilité et, chose
certaine, si l’exception proposée par 1’autre chambre est
accordée, il faudra resserrer les contrdles pour éviter les
adhésions dont le seul objectif est de déjouer les restrictions liées
aux armes de poing. Pouvez-vous nous dire un peu plus en détail
ce que vous en pensez? La question a été soulevée publiquement
et j’aimerais vous entendre davantage la-dessus.

M. Smith : Comme je 1’ai déclaré en introduction, I’'IPSC,
depuis sa création au Canada, exige un cours de formation qui
s’ajoute a toutes les exigences du gouvernement. C’est notre
programme Black Badge. Le cours dure deux jours et nous
faisons un contréle des participants. C’est une formation trés
compléte, qui couvre les régles et a peu pres tout ce qu’il faut
savoir. Nous avons un nombre limité d’instructeurs. Méme si ¢a
se bouscule au portillon, nous ne pourrons pas accepter tout le
monde parce que nous n’avons pas suffisamment d’installations.
En plus, il faut refaire la formation tous les ans pour conserver la
certification Black Badge et pour pouvoir s’y inscrire les années
suivantes. Nous pourrions certainement coopérer et effectuer les
contrdles. Nous pourrions informer les membres des procédures
a leur arrivée et a leur départ.

Mme Honour : Nous pourrions faire la méme chose pour les
sports de la Fédération Internationale de Tir Sportif.

Le sénateur Yussuff : Pour donner suite a votre réponse,
j’aimerais que vous me disiez quelles sont les conditions
d’adhésion. Comment vous assurez-vous qu’une personne qui
adhére a votre organisme se conforme aux exigences liées aux
compétitions?

M. Smith : Nous faisons un suivi de la participation aux
compétitions provinciales et nationales. Si une personne ne
participe a aucune compétition pendant une année, une période
probatoire de six mois est prévue. Si elle ne participe & aucune
compétition durant ces six mois, elle doit refaire toute la
formation.

Le sénateur Yussuff: Est-ce que les mémes
s’appliquent dans votre organisme, madame Honour?

régles
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Dr. Honour: No, we are not currently at that level, but could
be if required.

Senator Yussuff: In regard to the amendment that was
proposed in the other place, that amendment deals specifically
with some of the concerns that you have that the committee dealt
with and, obviously, didn’t support, but they did look at it. Were
you satisfied with the amendment as it was proposed?

Mr. Smith: Yes. It could have gone a little further, but the
writing was on the wall and we would take whatever we would
get at this point to have our sport survive.

Senator Yussuff: Thank you, both, for your testimony. Thank
you for being here.

The Chair: Colleagues, I’'m afraid that brings us to end of the
panel. There were more questions lined up, so that’s a mark of
the quality of the presentations that our three witnesses brought
to us today.

We greatly appreciate your time, expertise and contributions
today, and we finish by commending the three of you for the
very hard work that you do in representing your various
communities. Thank you very much for that and for joining us
today.

For the next 55 minutes, we have the pleasure of welcoming
Matthew Hipwell, Owner, Wolverine Supplies; William J.
Klassen, Former Police Officer, Royal Canadian Mounted
Police, Yukon; and, by video conference, Lynda Kiejko, Civil
Engineer and Olympian, Pistol.

Thank you all for joining to us day. I invite you to provide
your opening remarks, to be followed by questions from our
members. | remind you that you each have five minutes for your
testimony. We begin with Mr. Hipwell.

Matthew Hipwell, Owner, Wolverine Supplies, as an
individual: Good afternoon, senators and guests. Thank you
very much for the opportunity to speak before you this afternoon
and touch on a few points concerning Bill C-21.

The handgun freeze implemented by Bill C-21 and the Liberal
government currently has done nothing to reduce our handgun
crime in Canada since its implementation in October of 2022. Do
we know what this freeze has actually done for public safety to
date now that we’re a year into it? I’'m going to suggest we can’t
because the freeze that was on the sale and transfer of handguns
within Canada only affected those Canadian handgun owners
who were legally licensed and able to lawfully possess those
firearms. The freeze did not prevent the criminal element in

Mme Honour : Non, pas encore, mais nous pourrions les
appliquer si c’est nécessaire.

Le sénateur Yussuff : Un amendement proposé par 1’autre
chambre touche certaines de vos préoccupations. Le comité en a
discuté, mais il n’en a pas tenu compte, comme nous le savons. Il
y a quand méme eu une réflexion a ce sujet. Est-ce que
I’amendement proposé vous satisfait?

M. Smith : Oui. Il aurait pu aller un peu plus loin, mais nous
savions ce qui nous pendait au bout du nez. Nous en sommes au
point ou nous prendrons tout ce qu’on nous donne pour assurer la
survie de notre sport.

Le sénateur Yussuff: Merci a vous deux pour votre
témoignage. Et merci d’étre avec nous.

Le président : Distingués collégues, c’est ce qui met fin a nos
échanges avec ce groupe de témoins. Il restait encore des
questions, ce qui en dit long sur la qualité des témoignages des
trois personnes devant nous .

Nous vous sommes trés reconnaissants de nous avoir fait
profiter de votre temps, de votre expertise et de vos éclairages.
Nous terminons en vous félicitant tous les trois pour votre
excellent travail de représentation de vos communautés
respectives. Nous vous en remercions sincérement, et merci de
vous étre joints a nous aujourd’hui.

Au cours des 55 prochaines minutes, nous aurons le plaisir de
discuter avec M. Matthew Hipwell, le propriétaire de Wolverine
Supplies; M. William J. Klassen, un ancien officier de police de
la Gendarmerie royale du Canada au Yukon, ainsi que
Mme Lynda Kiejko, qui est ingénieure civile et athlete
olympique en tir sportif. Elle témoignera par vidéoconférence.

Merci a vous trois de vous joindre a nous. Nous allons tout
d’abord entendre vos déclarations liminaires et nous
enchainerons avec les questions des membres. Vous disposez de
cing minutes pour votre allocution. Monsieur Hipwell, vous
serez le premier.

Matthew Hipwell, propriétaire, Wolverine Supplies, a titre
personnel : Distingués sénateurs, mesdames et messieurs,
bonjour. Merci de me donner ’occasion de prendre la parole
devant le comité et d’aborder quelques aspects du projet de
loi C-21.

Le gel des armes de poing imposé par le projet de loi C-21 et
le gouvernement libéral n’a rien fait pour réduire le nombre de
crimes impliquant ce type d’armes au Canada depuis son entrée
en vigueur en octobre 2022. Savons-nous si ce gel a eu un effet
quelconque sur la sécurité du public aprés une année
d’application? Je serais porté a croire que c’est impossible de le
savoir parce que le gel de la vente et de la cession des armes de
poing au Canada a eu des conséquences seulement pour les
propriétaires qui détiennent un permis valide et qui peuvent
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Canada from possessing a handgun or acquiring one. Nor, as we
know, do the criminals care about any of those laws. They only
affect those who want to enjoy their chosen sport or hobby. We
have even heard from chiefs of police and the RCMP who have
stated legal handguns are not the problem, but the statements
from professionals at the front lines have been ignored so far.
We’ve missed an opportunity to enhance public safety. To
appease the public, we have focused on what was easy, and that
was the legal handgun owners who were fully licensed. We did
not address our open borders or handguns on the streets. We still
have media reports of shootings where handguns were used. Like
I asked previously, has there been a reduction in crime in the
first year?

Firearms classification is not complicated, although over the
years, individuals have built their careers on classifying firearms.
The exception is when it comes to handguns. They are clearly
defined by barrel length, calibre, number of shots — i.e.,
magazine capacity — and any one of us can determine that. I
bring this up because Minister LeBlanc has said that he wants to
re-establish the Canadian Firearms Advisory Committee to
independently examine the classification of existing models that
fall under a new prospective definition of a prohibited firearm in
Bill C-21 and to identify those that qualify as hunting firearms
and exclude them by a future decree — for example, an order-in-
council. What is the prospective definition of a prohibited
firearm under Bill C-21? We don’t know. It hasn’t been
developed. But if we stuck with simple classifications — barrel
length, magazine capacity, the action, et cetera — any one of us,
including the manufacturers and retail customers, would know
what the class of their firearms would be and how to use them.

Everyone from a manufacturer, importer, distributor or retailer
to an owner wants to comply with firearms laws and regulations,
but when these are not clearly defined and constantly
reinterpreted, we are placed in the precarious position of leaving
us liable to lose money and face possible criminal charges.
Where’s the media education for the firearms owners so they are
aware that their firearm is now prohibited? There are many
people out there today who use their firearms as tools and are
certainly not well versed in gun law. How many firearms like the
Ruger Mini-14, which was prohibited a number of years ago, are
used as a farm gun today where the farmer takes it out to deal
with a rabid skunk? Manufacturers have been accused of trying
to evade the law when they are only trying to comply with the
regulations that are laid out because the goalposts keep moving.

légitimement posséder ces armes a feu. Le gel n’a pas empéché
les criminels du pays de posséder ou d’acquérir une arme de
poing. Et comme nous le savons tous, les lois sont le dernier des
soucis des criminels. Elles dérangent seulement ceux qui
souhaitent s’adonner a leur sport ou a leur loisir préféré. Méme
des chefs de police et des représentants de la Gendarmerie royale
du Canada, la GRC, ont déclaré que le probléme ne vient pas des
armes de poing légales, mais, jusqu’ici, les professionnels qui
sont aux premieres lignes ont parlé dans le vide. Nous avons raté
une occasion de renforcer la sécurité du public. Et pour apaiser
les craintes du public, on a choisi la voie de la facilité en visant
les propriétaires 1égitimes d’armes de poing, ceux qui détiennent
tous les permis exigés. Rien n’a été fait pour contrdler la
circulation des armes de poing aux frontiéres ou poing dans les
rues. Les fusillades impliquant des armes de poing continuent de
faire les manchettes. Je le répéte, est-ce que la criminalité a
diminué au cours de la derniére année?

La classification des armes a feu est simple. Pourtant, au fil
des ans, des individus se sont bati une carriére en classant les
armes a feu. La seule exception est liée aux armes de poing.
Elles sont clairement définies en fonction de la longueur du
canon, du calibre et du nombre de coups, soit la capacité du
chargeur. C’est a la portée de n’importe qui. Je le mentionne
parce que le ministre Le Blanc a parlé de rétablir le Comité
consultatif canadien sur les armes a feu. Son mandat sera de faire
un examen indépendant de la classification des modéles existants
qui sont visés par une nouvelle définition prospective des armes
prohibées selon le projet de loi C-21, et de recenser les armes
pouvant étre considérées comme des armes de chasse en vue de
les exclure par la voie d’un décret ou d’une autre forme de
jugement. Quelle est la définition prospective d’une arme a feu
prohibée selon le projet de loi C-21? Nous ne le savons pas.
Cette définition n’a pas encore été établie. Pourtant, si on s’en
tenait a une classification simple fondée sur la longueur du
canon, la capacité du chargeur, le mécanisme et ce genre de
choses, nous serions tous capables de déterminer la classe d’une
arme a feu et I'utilisation qui peut en étre faite, y compris les
fabricants et les clients des détaillants.

Les fabricants, les importateurs, les distributeurs, les
détaillants et les propriétaires veulent se conformer aux lois et
aux réglements sur les armes a feu, c’est évident. C’est évident,
mais a cause du manque de clarté et des réinterprétations
constantes, nous nous retrouvons dans une position précaire et a
risque de perdre de I’argent ou de faire 1’objet d’accusations
criminelles. Qui fait de 1’éducation dans les médias pour
informer les propriétaires que leur arme a feu a été interdite?
Beaucoup de gens pour qui les armes a feu sont des outils ne
connaissent pas bien les lois. Combien d’armes a feu comme les
Ruger Mini-14, qui ont été interdites il y a quelques années, sont
en circulation et sont utilisées par les agriculteurs pour abattre
des moufettes enragées et d’autres animaux nuisibles? Les
fabricants ont été accusés de vouloir contourner la loi, mais la
réalité est que méme s’ils veulent se conformer aux reglements,
ils n’y arrivent pas parce qu’ils changent constamment.
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With respect to new offences in sentencing, I’ve taken this to
heart from my former experience. We have talked about
increasing sentences from 10 to 14 years. These sections do not
help us unless the tools in our justice system are there to
implement these new laws. During my years in law enforcement,
it was clear the justice system had many revolving doors, as
police officers and justice officials just became frustrated with
catch and release. Let’s address the system before we need to
add longer sentences.

We have new offences listed under Bill C-21. One, for
example:

Authorization to transfer cartridge magazine to individuals

(2) A person may transfer a cartridge magazine that is not
prescribed to be a prohibited device only if the individual
holds a licence authorizing him or her to possess firearms.

Now we need a licence to possess a magazine. A magazine for a
firearm will need a licence to purchase or possess? How many
22-calibre magazines are out there in Canada today? The number
is staggering.

I realize I’ve only touched on a few points from Bill C-21 this
afternoon, and I hope you can see the legislation has many areas
that need improvement. I am supportive of commonsense and
accountable firearms legislation and something that does not
infringe on the privileges of law-abiding Canadians.

Thank you very much.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Hipwell.

William J. Klassen, Former Police Officer, Royal
Canadian Mounted Police, Yukon, as an individual: Good
afternoon, senators, and thank you for the opportunity to talk
with you about Bill C-21 and how it will affect fircarms owners
like me.

Since I was a boy on the farm, I have used and owned firearms
for pest control, target shooting, hunting for meat, and in my
work. I am an active member of the Yukon Handgun
Association, and I speak in part on behalf of its members.

I agree with our Yukon Liberal member of Parliament who
voted against Bill C-21. I also agree with other witnesses who
have appeared here and have stated that Bill C-21 is seriously
flawed and recommended that it be scrapped.

Pour ce qui concerne les nouvelles infractions et les peines
imposées, c’est quelque chose qui m’intéresse particulierement
en raison de mon ancienne carriére. On prévoit d’augmenter les
peines de 10 a 14 ans. Ces dispositions seront inutiles si le
systéme de justice n’a pas les outils nécessaires pour les faire
appliquer. Quand je travaillais dans les services policiers, il y
avait un probléme évident de portes tournantes dans le systéme
de justice. C’était frustrant pour les policiers et le personnel de la
justice parce qu’ils étaient dans une spirale sans fin
d’arrestations et de remises en liberté. C’est ce systéme qu’il faut
améliorer avant de prolonger les peines.

De nouvelles infractions sont prévues au projet de loi C-21. En
voici un exemple:

Cession de chargeurs non prohibés aux particuliers

(2) La cession de chargeurs qui ne sont pas désignés comme
étant des dispositifs prohibés a un particulier n’est permise
que s’il est titulaire d’un permis 1’autorisant a posséder une
arme a feu.

A P’avenir, il faudra un permis pour posséder un chargeur pour
une arme a feu pour laquelle il faudra un permis d’acquisition ou
de possession... Combien de chargeurs de calibre 22 sont en
circulation au Canada actuellement? Il y en a un nombre
incalculable.

J’ai abordé quelques aspects seulement du projet de loi C-21
aujourd’hui, mais j’espére que ce sera suffisant pour vous
convaincre que les éléments a améliorer sont nombreux. Je suis
en faveur d’une législation sensée et responsable sur les armes a
feu, qui n’empiéte pas sur les privileges des Canadiens
respectueux de la loi.

Merci beaucoup.
Le président : Merci a vous, monsieur Hipwell.

William J. Klassen, ancien officier de police, Gendarmerie
royale du Canada, Yukon, a titre personnel : Bonjour,
distingués sénateurs. Merci de m’offrir cette possibilit¢ de
discuter avec vous du projet de loi C-21 et de ses répercussions
pour les propriétaires d’arme a feu, dont je fais partie.

Depuis mon enfance sur la ferme, j’utilise et je posséde des
armes a feu pour éliminer les animaux nuisibles, pratiquer le tir a
la cible, chasser pour rapporter de la viande et dans le cadre de
mon travail. Je suis un membre actif de la Yukon Handgun
Association, et je m’exprime en partie au nom de ses membres.

Je suis d’accord avec le député libéral du Yukon qui a voté
contre le projet de loi C-21. Je suis également d’accord avec
d’autres témoins qui sont venus vous dire que ce projet de loi
comporte de sérieuses lacunes et qui vous ont recommand¢ de le
laisser tomber.
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In my view, the current firearms laws, if properly enforced,
are all that is needed to keep Canada and Canadian communities
safe. If the Senate, in its sober second thought deliberations,
decides to pass the bill, then it should make some substantial
amendments. I fully support the amendments suggested in the
brief sent to you by the group of seven researchers, policy
experts and subject-matter experts.

I have time to speak to only two aspects of the bill, the semi-
automatic rifle ban and the handgun freeze.

If T understand it correctly, sections 15 and 16 of the bill
propose to ban semi-automatic, centre-fire long guns with
detachable magazines capable of holding more than five rounds.
That is unnecessary. All semi-automatic, centre-fire long guns
are already restricted to five-round magazines. Some of the
firearms that are termed assault-style rifles are used by many
Canadians for hunting and target shooting. Why ban those?
Where is the evidence that such legally owned guns are used in
crime or that banning them will make Canada safer?

The list of prohibited firearms includes the ArmaLite AR-10.
Three years ago, the Yukon government bought AR-10-type
rifles — actually, SIG Sauer 716s — for their conservation
officers, arguing that they needed semi-automatic rifles to deal
with conflicts with dangerous wildlife. There have been at least
three instances in recent years where Yukoners were killed by
grizzly bears. Why should Yukoners and other Canadians not be
able to own the same type of firearms that conservation officers
need to protect themselves? Many Yukoners spend considerably
more time in the bush than do conservation officers, but the ban
will prevent them from owning and using AR-10-type rifles to
protect themselves.

Over the years, I have collected more than a few handguns,
three of which were the issue sidearms of RCMP members with
whom I served. These revolvers have considerable historic and
sentimental as well as real economic value to me. The freeze on
handgun transfers by order-in-council in October 2022, which
has been strengthened under this bill, has destroyed the
considerable economic value of my collection. I may not transfer
them to my children or grandchildren, and I may not sell them. I
can donate some of them to a Yukon museum, but an income tax
receipt will not come close to equalling their real value. My
executor may well have to surrender many of the handguns from
my estate to be destroyed.

A mon avis, les lois actuelles sur les armes a feu, si elles sont
appliquées correctement, suffisent largement pour assurer la
sécurité du Canada et des communautés. Si le Sénat, a 1’issue de
son processus de second examen objectif, décide d’appuyer le
projet de loi, il faudra y apporter des amendements de fond.
J’appuie pleinement les amendements proposés dans le mémoire
que vous a transmis un groupe de sept chercheurs, d’experts en
politiques et d’experts en la matiere.

Dans le temps qui m’est alloué, je vais m’en tenir a deux
aspects du projet de loi, soit I’interdiction des fusils semi-
automatiques et le gel des armes de poing.

Si j’ai bien compris, les articles 15 et 16 du projet de loi
prévoient ’interdiction des armes d’épaule semi-automatiques
qui tirent des munitions a percussion centrale et qui sont munies
d’un chargeur détachable pouvant contenir plus de cing
cartouches. C’est inutile. Il existe déja une limite de cingq
cartouches pour toutes les armes d’épaule semi-automatiques qui
tirent des munitions a percussion centrale. Beaucoup de
Canadiens utilisent certaines armes a feu dites « de style arme
d’assaut » pour la chasse et le tir a la cible. Pourquoi les
interdire? Ou sont les preuves que ces armes détenues 1également
sont utilisées pour commettre des crimes ou que les Canadiens
seront plus en sécurité si elles sont interdites?

La liste des armes a feu prohibées inclut le modele ArmaLite
AR-10. Il y a trois ans, le gouvernement du Yukon a acheté des
armes de type AR-10, ou plus exactement des SIG SAUER 716s,
pour les agents de conservation. La raison invoquée était qu’ils
avaient besoin d’armes semi-automatiques pour se défendre
contre des animaux dangereux. Ces derniéres années, des grizzlis
ont été impliqués dans au moins trois accidents mortels au
Yukon. Pourquoi serait-il interdit aux Yukonais et a d’autres
Canadiens de posséder le méme type d’armes a feu que les
agents de conservation utilisent pour se protéger? De nombreux
Yukonais passent beaucoup plus de temps dans la forét que les
agents de conservation, mais I’interdiction va les empécher de
posséder et d’utiliser une arme de type AR-10 pour se protéger.

Au fil du temps, j’ai monté une belle collection d’armes de
poing, dont trois sont des armes courtes remises aux membres de
la GRC, dont je faisais partie. Ces pistolets ont pour moi une
valeur historique et sentimentale considérable, mais ils ont aussi
une valeur économique. Depuis le gel sur les cessions d’armes de
poing imposé par le décret d’octobre 2022 et renforcé par le
projet de loi, ma collection a perdu sa valeur économique, qui
était considérable. Je ne pourrai peut-étre pas les céder a mes
enfants ou a mes petits-enfants, ni les vendre. Je pourrais en
donner quelques-unes a un musée du Yukon, mais un regu pour
crédit d’impdt ne pourra jamais compenser leur valeur réelle.
Mon liquidateur devra peut-étre remettre plusieurs de mes armes
de poing pour qu’elles soient détruites.
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Where is the evidence that banning and destroying this
valuable property will make Canadian communities safer?
Canadian handgun owners must take instruction, pass tests and
have their spouses or partners agree to their receiving a restricted
firearms licence for guns that they may then only use at RCMP-
licensed ranges. Licensed firearms owners are not the people
responsible for shootings in Canada. Preventing them from
trading or selling these restricted firearms will not make Canada
safer.

Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Klassen.

Lynda Kiejko, Civil Engineer and Olympian, as an
individual: Thank you, Mr. Chair and committee members, for
having me here today.

I’'m the volunteer president of the Alberta Handgun
Association. I’'m also a current national team member on the
pistol shooting team. I have recently returned from representing
Canada at the Pan American Games. This was my third time
representing Canada at the Pan Am Games. I'm a three-time
Pan Am Games medallist, a Commonwealth Games medallist
and also a two-time Olympian in pistol shooting. Both my father
and one of my sisters are also Olympians in pistol shooting
sports.

Target shooting is one of the most inclusive, lifelong sports in
the world and one Canadians should consider valuable. Target
shooting sports provides a level playing field that no other sport
really provides. All people, all body shapes, all genders,
able-bodied, otherwise, it doesn’t matter. We can all compete
shoulder to shoulder against each other on a level playing field.

The limitations that Bill C-21 now presents, and some of the
rules that have been created, create issues specifically for me and
for future athletes like me. If my gun becomes broken, I can no
longer acquire parts. I can’t have warranty work done outside the
country. I have no access to new firearms and the latest models
with which to compete on the international scene, and the delay
on import and export licenses is significantly a concern.

Currently, I already have to bite my nails waiting to receive
my export permits when I get named to a team with less than six
weeks departure. I received my export permit for the Pan
American Games after I arrived at the airport to depart for the
games. It has caused me excess stress leading up to the games. It

Ou est la preuve que les communautés canadiennes seront plus
en sécurité si ces biens de grande valeur sont interdits et détruits?
Les propriétaires canadiens d’armes de poing doivent suivre une
formation, réussir des tests et obtenir 1’accord de leur conjoint
pour I’obtention d’un permis d’arme a feu a utilisation restreinte,
qui servira peut-étre seulement dans un champ de tir autorisé par
la GRC. Ce ne sont pas des propriétaires autorisés d’armes a feu
qui commettent des fusillades au Canada. Les empécher
d’échanger ou de vendre ces armes a feu a utilisation restreinte
ne rendra pas le Canada plus sir.

Merci.
Le président : Merci beaucoup, monsieur Klassen.

Lynda Kiejko, ingénieure civile et olympienne, a titre
personnel : Monsieur le président, distingués membres du
comité, merci de m’accueillir.

Je suis la présidente bénévole de I’Alberta Handgun
Association. Je fais aussi partie de 1’équipe nationale de tir. Je
reviens tout juste des Jeux panaméricains, ou j’ai représenté le
Canada pour la troisiéme fois. J’ai remporté trois médailles aux
Jeux panaméricains, une médaille aux Jeux du Commonwealth,
et j’ai participé deux fois aux Jeux olympiques dans la discipline
du tir au pistolet. Mon pére et une de mes sceurs sont aussi des
athletes olympiques en tir au pistolet.

Le tir a la cible est I'une des disciplines sportives les plus
inclusives et les plus susceptibles d’étre pratiquées pendant toute
la vie, partout dans le monde. C’est un sport qui mérite que les
Canadiens s’y intéressent. L’équité de ce sport est sans pareille.
Tout le monde, peu importe la morphologie, le genre ou les
capacités physiques, peut pratiquer le tir a la cible. Nous
pouvons tous compétitionner épaule contre épaule dans un cadre
ou les régles du jeu sont équitables.

Les limites imposées par le projet de loi C-21, et certaines des
régles mises en place, entrainent des difficultés particuliéres pour
les athlétes comme moi et pour les futurs athlétes. Si j’ai un
probléme avec mon arme, je ne peux plus me procurer des picces
de rechange. Je ne peux plus I’envoyer a I’extérieur du pays pour
des réparations sous garantie. Je n’ai plus acceés a de nouvelles
armes a feu et aux derniers modéles nécessaires pour participer a
des compétitions internationales, et les délais d’obtention d’un
permis  d’importation et d’exportation sont vraiment
problématiques.

3

Je vis beaucoup de stress a cause des délais d’obtention des
permis d’exportation nécessaires lorsque je suis sélectionnée par
une équipe a moins de six semaines avant le départ. J’ai regu
mon permis d’exportation pour les Jeux panaméricains alors que
j’étais déja a D’aéroport pour me rendre aux compétitions.
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did nothing to improve your safety overtop of the existing
regulations that are already in place. It only really impacted me
and nobody else.

I have at least two teammates who are currently struggling
with acquiring new firearms. One firearm was ordered before the
handgun freeze was put into place, and it was issued. My
understanding is it’s still sitting in import purgatory. One has
been trying to move through the regulations as they sit today to
acquire a new firearm under the regulations that have been
introduced to the market after the handgun freeze was put in
place. More than a year later, both these individuals do not have
the required equipment in their hands to participate in their
events. By removing the ability to enter the sport, new shooters
are struggling to acquire the equipment to participate.

Bill C-21 is requiring athletes to prove they are training for the
Olympics before they even start into the event. It makes no
sense. Athletes rarely start off a new sport with the sole purpose
of making the Olympics. Sport is intended to promote activity
for life. Why are we putting such an additional pressure on the
shooting sports only to produce Olympians? Participation in
other shooting sports provides an avenue to enter into the
International Shooting Sport Federation, the ISSF events. It
covers a greater opportunity for competition than just Olympic
events. There are more events within the ISSF World
Championships than are contested at the Olympic games.
Bill C-21 removes the option to compete at an international
competition just because the Olympic Games has now a limited
subset of what the ISSF covers. This also doesn’t take into
account any of the other international bodies that are also
handgun events.

Bill C-21 would limit the ability to take an RPAL course
required to own a handgun, any ability to require a handgun,
ranges qualified to shoot a handgun, and the list keeps going on.
For what? What goal is being achieved by the regulations of
Bill C-21? My guns and those of my teammates are not the guns
we are trying to remove from the streets. Our guns have never
been on the streets. These regulations are impacting me directly
and doing nothing for illegal guns, nothing for violent crime and
nothing for public safety. Bill C-21 has a pretense of doing
something while doing nothing productive.

I have been competing in pistol shooting for 31 years. I have
been part of the national team for the better part of 24 years. I
became an Olympian seven years ago. Without all of the training

L’attente a beaucoup contribué & augmenter mon stress avant les
Jeux. Le renforcement des régles existantes n’a pas du tout
amélioré votre sécurité. J’ai été la seule a en subir les
conséquences.

Au moins deux de mes coéquipiers ont de la difficulté
actuellement a se procurer de nouvelles armes a feu. Une arme a
feu a été commandée avant le gel sur les armes de poing, et elle a
été livrée. Selon ce que j’en comprends, elle attend toujours au
purgatoire des importations. Une personne a essayé de se
dépétrer dans la réglementation en vigueur pour se procurer une
arme a feu nouvellement mise en marché apres le gel des armes
de poing. Plus d’une année plus tard, ces deux personnes n’ont
pas le matériel nécessaire pour participer a leurs compétitions. Si
on enléve la possibilit¢t de commencer dans le sport, c’est
difficile pour les nouveaux tireurs d’acquérir le matériel
nécessaire.

Le projet de loi C-21 exige que les athlétes donnent une
preuve qu’ils s’entrainent pour les Jeux olympiques avant méme
qu’ils commencent & pratiquer le sport. C’est insensé. Les
athlétes commencent rarement a pratiquer un nouveau sport en
ayant pour objectif de se rendre aux Jeux olympiques. La
pratique du sport est censée promouvoir ’activité physique tout
au long de la vie. Pourquoi ajouter de la pression sur les sports
de tir et tout miser sur la formation d’athlétes olympiques? La
participation a d’autres disciplines de tir permet d’adhérer a la
Fédération Internationale de Tir Sportif et de participer a ses
activités. La Fédération offre beaucoup plus de possibilités de
compétitions que les Jeux olympiques. Les Championnats du
monde de la Fédération comportent un éventail de disciplines
beaucoup plus diversifié que les Jeux olympiques. Le projet de
loi C-21 prive les athlétes de la possibilité de concourir dans une
compétition d’envergure internationale parce que les disciplines
représentées aux Jeux olympiques sont une petite partie de celles
qui sont proposées par la Fédération Internationale de Tir
Sportif, sans compter les autres organismes internationaux qui
organisent aussi des événements de tir au pistolet.

Le projet de loi C-21 limite la possibilité de suivre un cours
requis pour [’obtention d’un permis d’acquisition et de
possession d’une arme a feu a autorisation restreinte, qui est
obligatoire pour posséder une arme de poing, acquérir une arme
de poing, utiliser une arme de poing dans un champ de tir agréé,
et la liste s’allonge. Pour quelle raison? Quel objectif le projet de
loi C-21 remplit-i1? Mes armes et celles de mes coéquipiers ne
sont pas celles dont nous voulons débarrasser les rues. Nos armes
ne circulent jamais dans les rues. Ces réglements me touchent
directement, mais ils sont inutiles pour lutter contre les armes
illégales et la criminalité violente, et pour assurer la sécurité¢ du
public. Le projet de loi C-21 donne I’illusion que quelque chose
est fait, mais ce n’est pas productif.

Je participe a des compétitions de tir au pistolet depuis 31 ans.
Je suis membre de 1’équipe nationale depuis prés de 24 ans. Je
suis devenue une athléte olympique il y a sept ans. Si je ne
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leading up to my first Olympic Games, I would not have become
an Olympian. What happens if I retire from my sport? Will you
confiscate my firearm? Would you confiscate a swimmer’s swim
suit? What about a soccer player’s ball? What about a tennis
player’s racquet? Where is the recreational element for shooters?
Olympians come out to participate after their rigorous training is
done, and it is part of the motivation for future athletes. By
requiring the Olympic or Paralympic discipline as the only valid
sport to train, compete or coach to have the equipment to take
part, there is a significant restriction on future athletes.

Sport matters. Target shooting is a sport for life. With the
current Bill C-21, you’re taking it away from Canadians, without
significant impact on violent crime. As the Senate, I implore you
to include all pistols commonly used in ISSF disciplines, the
world championship sports and at participation in organized
target shooting sports to the training and competition section.
This should not be just restricted to the Olympic or Paralympic
disciplines. There are a lot of other disciplines with which we
actually collect people to go to the Olympics. IPSC has their own
international sport federation. I implore you to look —

The Chair: Ms. Kiejko, I'm afraid —
Ms. Kiejko: Thanks very much.

The Chair: I’'m sorry to have interrupted you. Let me just say
congratulations on behalf of all of us in this room on your many
sporting accomplishments. Well done.

We’re now going to proceed to questions. The panel finishes
at 4 p.m. As with the last panel, I'm limiting each question,
including the answer, to four minutes. I’ll hold up this card to
indicate that 30 seconds remain in your time. Please keep your
questions succinct and identify the person to whom you’re
addressing the question. The first question goes to our deputy
chair.

[Translation]
Senator Dagenais: My question is for Mr. Hipwell.

Mr. Hipwell, you’ve said it’s impossible to please everyone,
especially when it comes to gun control in Canada. I believe you
responded to PolyRemembers’ demands by saying you wanted to
find what you called a reasonable approach.

m’étais pas autant entrainée avant mes premiers Jeux
olympiques, je ne serais jamais devenue une athléte olympique.
Qu’arrivera-t-il si je prends ma retraite? Allez-vous confisquer
mon arme a feu? Est-ce qu’on confisquerait le maillot de bain
d’un nageur? Le ballon d’un joueur de soccer? Et que feriez-
vous avec la raquette d’un joueur de tennis? Ou se trouve la
dimension récréative pour un tireur? Avant les compétitions, les
athleétes olympiques ont suivi un entrainement rigoureux, et ils
contribuent a la motivation des futurs athlétes. La participation a
des disciplines olympiques ou paralympiques comme unique
condition pour avoir le droit de s’entrainer, de compétitionner,
d’entrainer d’autres athleétes et d’avoir accés au matériel
nécessaire est une importante restriction pour les futurs athlétes.

Le sport est important. Le tir a la cible est un sport qui peut
étre pratiqué tout au long de la vie. Actuellement, le projet de
loi C-21 prive les Canadiens de cette possibilité, mais il n’a pas
vraiment d’impact sur la criminalité violente. Je m’adresse a
vous, a titre de membres du Sénat, pour vous demander d’inclure
dans la disposition sur I’entrainement et les compétitions tous les
pistolets couramment utilisés dans les disciplines reconnues par
la Fédération Internationale de Tir Sportif, dans les disciplines
des championnats mondiaux et durant les activités organisées de
tir a la cible. L’exception ne doit pas se limiter aux disciplines
olympiques et paralympiques. Beaucoup d’autres disciplines
servent de bassins de recrutement d’athlétes olympiques. L’IPSC
est une fédération sportive internationale, et je vous exhorte a
examiner...

Le président : Madame Kiejko, je suis désolé...
Mme Kiejko : Merci beaucoup.

Le président : Je suis désolé de vous avoir interrompue. Je
prends quand méme quelques instants pour vous féliciter, au
nom de nous tous ici, pour vos nombreux exploits sportifs.
Bravo.

Nous allons passer aux questions. Nous avons jusqu’a
16 heures avec ce groupe. Comme je 1’ai fait pour le groupe
précédent, je vais limiter les temps de parole, y compris les
réponses, a quatre minutes. Je vais lever ce carton pour indiquer
qu’il reste 30 secondes. Je vous demanderais de poser des
questions succinctes et de désigner la personne a qui vous vous
adressez. Notre vice-président aura I’honneur de commencer.

[Frangais]
Le sénateur Dagenais : Ma question s’adresse a M. Hipwell.

Monsieur Hipwell, vous avez déja admis qu’il est impossible
de plaire a tout le monde, surtout lorsqu’il s’agit du controle des
armes a feu au Canada. Devant les revendications de
PolySeSouvient, je crois que vous avez dit vouloir trouver une
approche dite raisonnable.
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Given the current state of things with Bill C-21, do you think
it’s still possible to reconcile legal gun owners’ position with
that of people who want to make all guns disappear? What do
you think would be a reasonable approach?

[English)
Mr. Hipwell: Thank you. That’s a very good question.

I believe, yes, we can find a middle road, but there needs to be
a little more work done. We need to be able to hold people
accountable. We’ve heard this afternoon that there are many
different levels of what that accountability looks like, from
licensing to additional training. You talked about storage and
transportation regulations. That’s another aspect. We have heard
mental health being spoken of highly. We all know the impact
that’s had on various individuals. A lot more things need to take
place. I don’t think it’s just for one body to make those
decisions.

[Translation]

Senator Dagenais: As someone who sells guns, what do you
think of the Liberal government’s buy-back program?

[English]

Mr. Hipwell: Regarding the repurchase relating back to the
OIC from May 1 of 2020, first, if these guns were so bad and the
government wanted to remove them from the streets, why
haven’t they repurchased them now? It’s been three years, and
those guns are still sitting locked up securely in homeowners’
safes, vaults and cabinets. That’s not the road we want to go
down.

[Translation]

Senator Dagenais: I’d like to hear your thoughts on the
definition of the semi-automatic weapons the government wants
to take off the market. For starters, do you sell these? Who buys
these combat weapons?

[English]

Mr. Hipwell: There are many different types of semi-
automatic firearms, and that’s a very broad statement. There are
different calibres, from rim-fire to .22 to shotguns, which your
bird hunters and competitive sports shooters, to various other
centre-fire hunting rifles and target-type rifles. They are used in
many different walks of life — some that aren’t recognized, and
some that are for a livelihood. For an example of a semi-
automatic firearm that’s used in predator control, I took a phone
call from a customer on my way here today who was having

Compte tenu de 1’état actuel des choses en ce qui concerne le
projet de loi C-21, croyez-vous qu’il est toujours possible de
réconcilier le point de vue des détenteurs d’armes a feu 1égales et
celui des personnes qui désirent toutes les faire disparaitre? A
votre avis, quelle serait une approche raisonnable?

[Traduction]
M. Hipwell : Merci. C’est une excellente question.

Je crois qu’il est possible d’arriver & un compromis, mais il
faudra travailler un peu plus. Il faut que les gens prennent leurs
responsabilités. Nous venons d’entendre qu’il existe plusieurs
niveaux de responsabilité, qui vont de 1’obtention d’un permis a
la participation a des formations supplémentaires. Vous avez
évoqué la réglementation de I’entreposage et du transport. C’est
un autre aspect. Il a aussi été beaucoup question de santé
mentale. Nous sommes tous conscients des incidences pour
certaines personnes. Il reste beaucoup a faire, et je ne crois pas
qu’une seule instance peut prendre toutes ces décisions.

[Frangais)

Le sénateur Dagenais : A titre de commercant d’armes, que
pensez-vous du programme de rachat d’armes que le
gouvernement libéral a mis en place?

[Traduction]

M. Hipwell : Premi¢rement, concernant le programme de
rachat découlant du décret du 1 mai 2020, je me demande
pourquoi le gouvernement n’a pas encore racheté ces armes si
elles étaient si nuisibles et s’il était si urgent d’en débarrasser les
rues? Cela fait maintenant trois ans et ces armes sont encore
entreposées en toute sécurité dans les coffres-forts, les chambres
fortes et les armoires des propriétaires de maisons. Ce n’est pas
la bonne approche selon nous.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Dagenais : J’aimerais vous entendre sur la
définition d’armes semi-automatiques que 1’on souhaite retirer
du marché. Tout d’abord, en vendez-vous? Qui achéte ce type
d’armes de combat?

[Traduction]

M. Hipwell : II existe beaucoup de types différents d’armes a
feu semi-automatiques, et je sais que c’est une réponse assez
vague. Ces armes ont différents calibres, et vont de ’arme a
percussion annulaire de calibre 22 aux armes de chasse utilisées
par les chasseurs d’oiseaux et les tireurs sportifs lors des
compétitions, en passant par les diverses armes de chasse a
percussion centrale et les carabines de tir. Ces armes sont
utilisées de multiples maniécres, parfois de fagon clandestine,
parfois pour la subsistance. Je vais vous donner un exemple
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problems. He’s already had 27 coyotes he’s had to dispatch this
fall, and the winter hasn’t even begun. There’s a time and place
in many parts of the country.

Senator Oh: Witnesses, thank you for being here with us.

My question is for our Olympian, Lynda Kiejko. I want to
thank you very much for representing Canada and putting our
country on the map of the world. My brother is also an Olympian
shooter, so I understand how professional and hard-working all
of you are and the high level of discipline in your work.

The minister has been to our committee. He came on
October 23. Referring to the Olympic level of competition, he
said that we are not affecting the ability of these elite athletes to
access the firearms they need for the sports competitions.
However, we also heard from the Chief Firearms Officers from
Alberta and Saskatchewan, who told us that not a single
application for firearms acquisition has been approved for
Olympic-level athletes since the federal government issued the
order-in-council banning the sale and purchase of handguns. Can
you tell us if it is your understanding that what the minister has
said is correct?

Ms. Kiejko: No, the minister is not correct. The Bill C-21
regulations are trying to carve out a bit of an exemption for
handgun owners, specifically in the Olympic sports. However,
from what we’ve seen currently, we’re having lots of problems.
There’s no way to actually get approval or importation of a new
type of firearm. There are some brand new ones on the market
that are cutting edge, and Canadians will not have access to those
firearms. I have a teammate who has literally been trying — 1
compete alongside her, and I train alongside her on a regular
basis — for probably over a year now to import one of these new
cutting-edge firearms specifically for competition. It’s one of the
only things you can use it for, and it’s specifically for an
Olympic event. It’s been to no avail. We’re not having any luck,
and she’s not having any luck with it.

The truth of the matter is that Bill C-21 cuts down our ability
to compete on an international scale. Whatever we have within
the country right now is all we’re going to be able to attain. If
anyone new coming into the sport wants to move into the 22
events, they will not be able to. They will have to borrow. We
are literally having to supervise new athletes coming in and lend
them our equipment. Everybody’s handgun is kind of customized
to your hand. You need a customized grip. It’s like borrowing
someone else’s sneakers and trying to run a marathon in them.
It’s not something that works really well. You have to have your
own equipment.

Senator Oh: I hope the minister listens to what you say.

d’arme a feu semi-automatique utilisée pour le contrdle des
prédateurs. En route pour venir ici, j’ai recu un appel d’un client
qui a ce genre de probléme. Il a déja da abattre 27 coyotes cet
automne, et I’hiver n’est pas encore arrivé. C’est la réalité a bien
des endroits au pays.

Le sénateur Oh : Je remercie les témoins d’étre avec nous.

Ma question s’adresse a notre athléte olympique, Mme Lynda
Kiejko. Je vous remercie sincérement d’avoir représenté le
Canada et d’avoir contribué¢ a la renommée mondiale de notre
pays. Mon frere est aussi un athléte olympique en tir, et je sais
parfaitement que vous étes tous extrémement professionnels, et
que vous vous entrainez avec énormément d’ardeur et de rigueur.

Nous avons regu le ministre ici. Il a comparu le 23 octobre.
Sur la question de la participation aux Jeux olympiques, il a
affirmé qu’il n’y a pas du tout d’incidence sur I’accés aux armes
a feu dont les athletes d’¢élite ont besoin pour prendre part a des
compétitions sportives. A 1’inverse, les contrdleurs des armes a
feu de I’Alberta et de la Saskatchewan nous ont indiqué
qu’aucune demande d’acquisition d’une arme a feu n’a été
approuvée pour des athlétes olympiques depuis que le
gouvernement fédéral a pris le décret interdisant la vente et
I’achat d’armes de poing. Selon ce que vous en savez, est-ce que
cette déclaration du ministre est exacte?

Mme Kiejko : Non, le ministre n’a pas raison. Le réglement
découlant du projet de loi C-21 tente de prévoir une petite
exemption pour les propriétaires d’armes de poing, en particulier
dans les sports olympiques. Cependant, nous avons constaté de
nombreux problémes. Il n’y a aucun moyen, a ’heure actuelle,
d’obtenir I’approbation d’une nouvelle sorte d’arme a feu ou
d’importer celle-ci. Il y en a de toutes nouvelles sur le marché
qui sont a la pointe de la technologie, et les Canadiens n’y auront
pas accés. J’ai une coéquipiére — avec qui je participe a des
compétitions et je m’entraine réguliérement — qui essaie depuis
probablement plus d’un an maintenant d’importer 1’'une de ces
nouvelles armes a feu de pointe pour la compétition uniquement.
C’est 'une des seules choses pour lesquelles vous pouvez
I’utiliser, et c¢’est pour un événement olympique en particulier.
Mais en vain. Nous n’avons pas pu le faire, et elle non plus.

En vérité, le projet de loi C-21 réduit notre capacité de nous
mesurer a 1’échelle internationale. Tout ce que nous avons dans
le pays a I’heure actuelle est tout ce que nous pourrons obtenir.
Toute nouvelle personne qui veut participer aux 22 épreuves ne
pourra pas le faire. Elle devra emprunter. Nous devons
littéralement superviser les nouveaux athlétes et leur préter notre
équipement. L’arme de poing de chaque personne est en quelque
sorte adaptée a sa main. Il faut avoir une poignée personnalisée.
C’est comme emprunter les chaussures de sport de quelqu’un
d’autre et essayer de courir un marathon. Ce n’est pas une bonne
fagon de fonctionner. Il faut avoir son propre équipement.

Le sénateur Oh : J’espére que le ministre écoutera ce que
vous dites.
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Senator Plett: Hear, hear.

Senator Oh: I hope we have more young athletes like you
representing us in the future. Otherwise, we will be wiped off the
map. Thank you.

Ms. Kiejko: Thank you.

Senator Plett: My first question is for both Mr. Klassen and
Mr. Hipwell. You’re both ex-law enforcement officers.

Since 1976, gun control measures have ramped up
significantly: Bill C-83 in 1976, Bill C-51 in 1977, Bill C-17 in
1990, Bill C-68 in 1995, Bill C-10A in 2003 and Bill C-71 in
2018. Along with these were measures that were introduced by
order-in-council. This is a pile of gun control bills, and in spite
of all these measures, the sponsor of Bill C-21, Senator Yussuff,
noted at our last meeting: “When I was young and went to
school, gun violence was not a thing.”

I want to make our communities safer as well. I think we all
do. Can you explain to me why gun control measures are going
to succeed in making our communities safer with this bill when
all others have failed to do so? I know I’m asking opponents of
the bill rather than proponents. I maybe should have asked them
that question, but please go ahead.

Mr. Klassen: I think Mr. Hipwell said it earlier. For the most
part, the people who commit gun crimes pay no attention to the
laws, so adding more laws and regulations for those of us who do
comply with the existing laws is not going to have, in my view, a
positive effect. I have a small example. I live in the Yukon just
outside of Whitehorse. Within the last three months, four
kilometres from where I live, the police — the RCMP — raided
the home of a young man who was under court order not to be in
possession of firearms. He had no firearms licence. He was a
drug dealer, and he was found with several firearms. In my view,
Bill C-21 will have no effect on someone like that who ignores
even court orders to not be in possession of firearms.

Senator Plett: I will ask Mr. Hipwell another question. I’'m
sure the answer to this one will be very similar to yours,
although I don’t want to put words in your mouth, Matt.

Some witnesses who appeared before our committee last week
were supportive of the ban on assault weapons, but it is the
definition of those that is in large part the problem. What it
seems to have come down to is the look of a firearm rather than

Le sénateur Plett : J’applaudis!

Le sénateur Oh : J’espére que nous aurons davantage de
jeunes athlétes comme vous pour nous représenter a 1’avenir.
Sinon, nous disparaitrons du tableau. Je vous remercie.

Mme Kiejko : Merci.

Le sénateur Plett: Ma premiére question s’adresse a
M. Klassen et a M. Hipwell. Vous étes tous deux d’anciens
policiers.

Depuis 1976, les mesures de contrdle des armes a feu se sont
multipliées : le projet de loi C-83 en 1976, le projet de loi C-51
en 1977, le projet de loi C-17 en 1990, le projet de loi C-68 en
1995, le projet de loi C-10A en 2003 et le projet de loi C-71 en
2018. A cela s’ajoutent les mesures imposées par décret. C’est
tout un tas de projets de loi sur le controle des armes a feu, et
malgré toutes ces mesures, le parrain du projet de loi C-21, le
sénateur Yussuff, a fait remarquer lors de notre derniére
réunion : « Quand j’étais jeune et que j’allais a 1’école, la
violence armée n’existait pas ».

Je veux moi aussi rendre nos collectivités plus slres. Je pense
que nous le voulons tous. Pouvez-vous m’expliquer pourquoi ce
projet de loi et ses mesures de controle des armes a feu vont
réussir a rendre nos collectivités plus stires alors que tous les
autres n’ont pas réussi a le faire? Je sais que je pose la question
aux opposants du projet de loi plutét qu’a ses partisans. C’est
peut-étre a eux que j’aurais dii la poser, mais je vous en prie,
allez-y.

M. Klassen : Je pense que M. Hipwell I’a dit plus tot. Pour la
plupart, les personnes qui commettent des crimes avec des armes
a feu ne prétent pas attention aux lois, de sorte que ’ajout de
nouvelles lois et réglements pour ceux d’entre nous qui
respectent les lois existantes n’aura, a mon avis, aucun effet
positif. J’ai un petit exemple. J’habite dans le Yukon, tout pres
de Whitehorse. Au cours des trois derniers mois, a quatre
kilométres de chez moi, la police — la GRC — a fait une
descente au domicile d’un jeune homme qu’une ordonnance du
tribunal interdisait de posséder des armes a feu. Il n’avait pas de
permis de port d’arme. C’était un trafiquant de drogue et il était
en possession de plusieurs armes a feu. A mon avis, le projet de
loi C-21 n’aura aucun effet sur quelqu’un comme lui qui ignore
méme les ordonnances lui interdisant de posséder des armes a
feu.

Le sénateur Plett : Je vais poser une autre question a
M. Hipwell. Je suis slr que sa réponse ressemblera beaucoup a la
votre, mais je ne veux pas vous faire dire ce que vous n’avez pas
dit, monsieur Hipwell.

Certains témoins qui ont comparu devant notre comité la
semaine derniére étaient pour 1’interdiction des armes d’assaut,
mais c’est la définition de ces armes qui pose en grande partie le
probléme. Il semble que 1’on en soit réduit a I’apparence d’une
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what it actually does. In Canada, as you know, we have many
semi-automatic rifles that are used for hunting. Certainly well
over a million semi-automatic rifles are in legal hands and are
non-restricted firearms. How does one pick and choose these
guns and classify them as assault weapons but leave them in
circulation — like the non-restricted semi-automatic firearms
that may shoot exactly the same ammunition — and claim that
some of these guns are safer than others? How do you pick and
choose?

Mr. Hipwell: How do you pick and choose between them?
That’s very challenging. I’'m not an expert in that area to be able
to pick and choose between the different types. They all have
different features — the ergonomics or the fit, much like the
example of a grip on a pistol. Some of these rifles are smaller.
They are designed for smaller shooters. I’ve heard of grizzly
bear examples. I’ve heard of wild boar examples where semi-
automatic firearms come into their own. There’s environment
and predator control. With a coyote population explosion in parts
of the country, these types of firearms come into their own and
are tools to protect people’s livelihoods.

Senator Plett: If a wild boar was coming after you after it had
been shot once, you’d probably be happy to have another bullet
in your clip.

Mr. Hipwell: I haven’t encountered it, but I’'m sure that might
be the case.

Senator M. Deacon: Thank you all for being here this
afternoon.

My question comes in two parts and goes to Ms. Kiejko.
Welcome back. We’re thrilled that you got back. We know the
rest of your team is certain to be back by today, and we’re so
glad you were able to make it this afternoon.

Looking at this legislation, of course, we are told — and we
see — there are exceptions for people in your position, not only
elite athletes like yourself but also those who are training. When
I asked a question about this of the minister, he assured the
committee:

It’s not only the persons who go to these international
competitions representing Canada, it’s those who are
training and getting ready to, one day, hopefully, have the
opportunity to do that.

Also — as I note — the bill provides exceptions for those who
are training, competing or coaching in a handgun shooting
discipline that is on the program of the International Olympic
Committee, or IOC, or the International Paralympic Committee,
or IPC. I take this to mean they don’t necessarily need to be

arme a feu plutdt qu’a sa fonction réelle. Au Canada, comme
vous le savez, de nombreux fusils semi-automatiques sont
utilisés pour la chasse. Il est certain que plus d’un million de
fusils semi-automatiques sont en la possession de détenteurs
légaux et sont des armes & feu sans restriction. Comment peut-on
sélectionner ces armes et leur attribuer la classification d’armes
d’assaut tout en les laissant en circulation — comme les armes a
feu semi-automatiques sans restriction qui peuvent utiliser
exactement les mémes munitions —, et prétendre que certaines
de ces armes sont plus sires que d’autres? Comment choisir?

M. Hipwell : Comment choisir entre les deux? C’est un
véritable défi. Je ne suis pas un expert dans ce domaine pour
pouvoir choisir entre les différents types d’armes. Elles ont
toutes des caractéristiques différentes — 1’ergonomie ou
’ajustement, un peu comme la poignée d’un pistolet. Certains de
ces fusils sont plus petits. Ils sont congus pour des tireurs plus
petits. J’ai entendu parler d’exemples concernant les grizzlis. J’ai
entendu parler d’exemples concernant des sangliers ou les armes
a feu semi-automatiques se sont révélées utiles. Il y a
I’environnement et le contrdle des prédateurs. Avec 1’explosion
de la population de coyotes dans certaines régions du pays, ces
types d’armes a feu sont utiles et permettent de protéger les
moyens de subsistance des gens.

Le sénateur Plett : Si un sanglier vous poursuivait aprés
avoir regu un premier coup de fusil, vous seriez probablement
heureux d’avoir une autre balle dans votre chargeur.

M. Hipwell : Je n’ai pas vécu une telle situation, mais je suis
str que cela pourrait se produire.

La sénatrice M. Deacon : Je vous remercie tous d’étre
présents cet aprés-midi.

Ma question est en deux parties et s’adresse a Mme Kiejko.
Bienvenue a nouveau. Nous sommes ravis de vous revoir. Nous
savons que le reste de votre équipe sera certainement de retour
aujourd’hui, et nous sommes ravis que vous ayez pu venir cet
aprés-midi.

En examinant cette loi, on nous dit — et nous voyons — qu’il
y a des exceptions pour les personnes dans votre situation, non
seulement pour les athlétes d’élite comme vous, mais aussi pour
ceux qui s’entrainent. Lorsque j’ai posé une question a ce sujet
au ministre, il a assuré ceci au comité :

I n’y a pas que les personnes qui participent a ces
compétitions internationales pour représenter le Canada; il y
a ceux qui s’entrainent et se préparent a avoir un jour,
espérons-le, ’occasion de le faire.

En outre, comme je le note, le projet de loi prévoit des
exceptions pour les personnes qui s’entrainent, participent a des
compétitions ou entrainent d’autres dans une discipline de tir a
I’arme de poing inscrite au programme du Comité international
olympique, le CIO, ou du Comité international paralympique, le
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training for the Olympics but simply participating in a sport
recognized by these agencies. Why do you think this won’t be
the case?

Ms. Kiejko: How do you prove that you’re training for that?
There are 15 different Olympic disciplines. Paralympic
disciplines, I believe, are a very similar amount. Really, when it
comes right down to it, how do you prove you’re training for it?
One of the International Practical Shooting Confederation
witnesses said that they have a regulated amount where they
track where everybody is, what everybody is doing and how
often they have been competing. Our events don’t necessarily
track it the same way. You can go back and look at the listings,
and you can figure it out. However, we don’t actively track how
often someone competes to make sure they are still competing,
training and working toward it. There are some people who
trained a few years ago, and they had some life changes and
weren’t able to come back. Then, three years later, they jump
right back into it. We’re totally supportive of that. They could
have definitely been training away from it. They just may not
have been able to come to a competition due to a whole bunch of
life things.

I think there is a huge limitation by just saying that we need to
only look at the Olympic events and not do anything with that.
There are some other Olympic events where, if they want to
bring them in, they might bring them in or they might not. There
are some Olympic events that once were Olympic events but no
longer are, but they are still competed in on the world
championship stage. Those are still supported by the
International Shooting Sport Federation, ISSF. Those events are
a whole bunch of guns that would no longer be allowed under
the regulations.

Senator M. Deacon: Thank you.

I’'m going to dig deeper on something else in your experience.
I think it’s that trained participation piece that you’re talking
about. Let’s look at something you touched upon a little earlier.
Having worked on many Olympic Games, two of the biggest
challenges are the logistics of getting the horses to the riders out
of ships and quarantine, and getting guns and ammunition to the
athletes. Those are the two biggest challenges of the games. I
know you’ve been through it. You started to talk about it. What
is that like for you, and how do you see that perhaps changing as
a result of Bill C-21?

Ms. Kiejko: I think one of the other witnesses has mentioned
it. If somebody’s firearms are lost in transit, what do you do to
replace them? I literally had to compete a year ago at one of our
championships with somebody else’s gun. Again, it was awful. It

CIP. J’en déduis qu’ils ne doivent pas forcément s’entrainer pour
les Jeux olympiques uniquement, mais simplement participer a
un sport reconnu par ces organismes. Pourquoi pensez-vous que
ce ne sera pas le cas?

Mme Kiejko : Comment prouver que ’on s’entraine pour
cela? Il y a 15 disciplines olympiques différentes. Les disciplines
paralympiques sont, je crois, & peu prés du méme nombre. En fin
de compte, comment prouver pour quoi l’on s’entraine? Le
témoin de la Confédération internationale de tir pratique a dit
qu’ils ont une quantité réglementée au sein de laquelle ils suivent
ou tout le monde se trouve, ce que tout le monde fait et combien
de fois ils ont participé a des compétitions. Nos événements ne
sont pas nécessairement suivis de la méme maniére. Vous
pouvez revenir en arrieére et consulter les listes, et vous pouvez
vous y retrouver. Cependant, nous ne suivons pas activement la
fréquence des compétitions pour nous assurer que les
participants sont toujours en compétition, qu’ils s’entrainent et
qu’ils travaillent pour atteindre leurs objectifs. Certaines
personnes se sont entrainées il y a quelques années, ont eu des
changements dans leur vie et n’ont pas pu poursuivre leur sport.
Puis, trois ans plus tard, elles s’y sont remises. Nous les
soutenons totalement dans cette démarche. Elles auraient
certainement pu s’entrainer a 1’écart. Il se peut simplement
qu’elles n’aient pas pu participer a une compétition a cause
d’une foule de raisons.

Je pense que se contenter de dire que nous ne devons
considérer que les épreuves olympiques et se limiter a ¢a, c’est
se mettre les batons dans les roues. Il y a d’autres épreuves
olympiques ou, s’ils veulent les intégrer, ils peuvent le faire ou
non. I1 y a des épreuves qui ont été des épreuves olympiques, qui
ne le sont plus, mais qui sont toujours actives sur la scéne des
championnats mondiaux. Elles sont toujours soutenues par la
Fédération Internationale de Tir Sportif, ’ISSF. Ces épreuves
représentent toute une série d’armes que cette loi interdirait.

La sénatrice M. Deacon : Merci.

Je vais approfondir un autre aspect de votre expérience. Je
pense qu’il s’agit de la participation dont vous parlez.
Examinons un point que vous avez abordé un peu plus tét. Selon
vous qui avez participé a de nombreux Jeux olympiques, deux
des plus grands défis sont la logistique de 1’acheminement des
chevaux vers les cavaliers depuis les navires et la quarantaine,
d’une part, et ’acheminement des armes et des munitions vers
les athlétes, d’autre part. Ce sont les deux plus grands défis des
Jeux. Je sais que vous avez vécu cela. Vous avez commencé a en
parler. Comment cela se passe-t-il pour vous, et comment voyez-
vous les choses changer avec le projet de loi C-21?

Mme Kiejko : Je crois que 'un des autres témoins 1’a
mentionné. Si les armes a feu de quelqu’un sont perdues pendant
le transport, que faire pour les remplacer? Il y a un an, j’ai
effectivement di participer a 1’'un de nos championnats avec
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doesn’t fit, it didn’t suit me and it did not work. My performance
was definitely subpar. What if I had never gotten them back?
What would I have done? I don’t know. Under the regulation, I
wouldn’t have had a firearm to continue competing with. I
wouldn’t have gone to the Pan Am Games this year. I wouldn’t
have made the team this year because my guns would be gone.

We’re looking at logistics. I am entrusting my firearms to the
airline to be able to get it to me. There are logistics. There are
rules, permits and everything in place. Right now, I have a whole
bunch of permits I have to apply for before I leave the country to
be able to get back into the country. I’'m at the mercy of the
government to get all of that done in place. If I dare to apply late
because I get named to a team late, then there is nothing I can do
and there is no way I can rush those permits.

Senator M. Deacon: Thank you.
[Translation]

Senator Boisvenu: My question is for Mr. Klassen. I’d like to
draw on your experience as a police officer.

This bill pits two of our society’s values against one another.
Firearms have been around for about 800 years. The history of
firearms goes back to the 13th century, more or less, and people
who strongly support this bill are looking at things from a
philosophical or utopian perspective according to which Canada
must eliminate all firearms. We’ve heard the arguments.

There are also those who say this bill is flawed, people such as
directors of sporting organizations and Olympians, as we saw
earlier, and law-abiding hunters who use these weapons within
the bounds of a very safe firearms culture. As we saw after the
act was passed in the 1990s, successful gun control takes citizen
and gun owner buy-in.

My question is simple. Do hunters and gun owners support
this bill? If not, what’s the future of gun control in Canada if
most gun owners don’t support a bill?

[English)
Mr. Klassen: Thank you for the question.

The firearms owners I know, mostly the members of the
shooting club of which I’'m a member, to the extent that they
understand the bill — and it’s not a bill that is easily understood,
because when you read the legislation — and I have some
experience in doing that — you have to cross-reference it to all

I’arme de quelqu’un d’autre. Je le répéte, c’était horrible. Elle ne
me convenait pas et elle ne fonctionnait pas bien pour moi. Ma
performance a été nettement inférieure a la moyenne. Et si je
n’avais jamais récupéré mes armes? Qu’aurais-je fait? Je
I’ignore. En vertu du réglement, je n’aurais pas eu d’armes a feu
pour continuer a participer a des compétitions. Je n’aurais pas
participé aux Jeux panaméricains cette année. Je n’aurais pas fait
partie de I’équipe cette année parce que je n’aurais plus d’armes.

Prenons la logistique. Je confie mes armes a feu a la
compagnie aérienne pour qu’elle puisse me les apporter. C’est
une question de logistique. Il y a des régles, des permis et tout ce
qu’il faut. A T’heure actuelle, je dois demander une série de
permis avant de quitter le pays, afin de pouvoir y revenir. Je suis
a la merci du gouvernement pour que tout soit en place. Si j’ose
faire une demande un peu tard parce que je suis nommée tard
dans une équipe, je n’y peux rien et il n’y a aucun moyen
d’accélérer I’obtention de ces permis.

La sénatrice M. Deacon : Merci.
[Frangais]

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Je vais poser ma question a
M. Klassen et je ferai appel a son expérience a titre de policier.

Ce projet de loi confronte deux valeurs de notre société. Les
armes a feu existent depuis environ 800 ans. Lorsqu’on fait
I’historique de la présence des armes a feu, cela date du
XIII® siécle environ, et les gens qui appuient fortement ce projet
de loi ont une philosophie ou une utopie de dire qu’il faudrait
débarrasser le Canada de toutes les armes a feu. On a entendu ce
discours.

Il y a aussi ceux qui disent que ce projet de loi est relativement
imparfait. Ce sont des directeurs sportifs ou des olympiens,
comme on 1’a vu plus t6t, et d’honnétes chasseurs qui utilisent
ces armes en vertu d’une culture trés sécuritaire de 1’arme a feu.
On I’a constaté a la suite de la loi que nous avons adoptée dans
les années 1990, si on veut en faire un succés sur le plan du
contrdle des armes a feu, il faut obtenir 1’adhésion des citoyens,
des propriétaires d’armes.

Ma question est simple. Est-ce que ce projet de loi a
I’adhésion des chasseurs ou des propriétaires d’armes? Dans la
négative, quel est ’avenir de la gestion des armes a feu au
Canada si la majorité des propriétaires n’adhérent pas a un projet
de loi?

[Traduction]
M. Klassen : Merci pour la question.

Les propriétaires d’armes a feu que je connais, principalement
les membres du club de tir auquel j’appartiens, dans la mesure ou
ils comprennent le projet de loi — et ce n’est pas un projet de loi
facile a comprendre, parce que lorsqu’on lit le texte de la loi, ce
dont j’ai une certaine expérience, il faut faire des recoupements
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these other bills that are being amended at the same time. So to
the extent that shooters understand the bill, no, they do not
support it.

Many of the members of the handgun association own
handguns. Perhaps that’s obvious. They are negatively affected
by this bill because it has resulted in the loss of the value of the
firearms they own, and the value of those firearms is not
insignificant; that is to say, it is significant, as the previous
witness mentioned. If you own several handguns, you’re into the
tens of thousands of dollars. Looking at the loss of the value of
that, and in my case, given my age, from my estate, yes, it leads
to opposition to the bill.

[Translation]

Senator Boisvenu: Bill C-68 was passed in 1995. In 2004-05,
50% of the information in the Canadian Firearms Registry was
incorrect. Police offers would frequently show up at an address
that had no indication of guns being present, only to find guns
there. The registry did very little to protect police officers even
though protecting them was one of its main reasons for being. If
this bill passes, might we end up five years from now with gun
control being neither better nor worse than it is now, when
Canada has one of the best gun control regimes?

[English]

Mr. Klassen: As a former peace officer, when I went to a
home where there was some concern about the possibility of
firearms being present, I always assumed that there would be a
firearm there.

The registry was certainly not perfect. In my own case, |
transferred a handgun from the former registry to the new
registry, and when I received my registration certificate, it said [
only owned the frame and it had no barrel, so I had to re-register
it because of that error. There were many errors. I have a friend
who was not used to using computers, and he tried to register his
firearms online. He registered them three times, so he suddenly
owned three times as many firearms, according to the registry, as
he actually owned because of that error.

Senator Boehm: My question is for Ms. Kiejko, following
along from what Senator Deacon was asking you about, but first,
I join others in congratulating you on your amazing sporting
career.

We have heard from victims groups about the so-called
Olympic exception. They are concerned that people might fall
between the cracks in that context, but I would imagine that in
the many sporting events that you have participated in — maybe
not so much the last one in Santiago at the Pan American Games

avec tous ces autres projets de loi qui sont amendés par la méme
occasion —, je dis donc, dans la mesure ou les tireurs
comprennent le projet de loi, ils ne le soutiennent pas.

De nombreux membres de 1’association des armes de poing
possédent des armes de poing. C’est peut-étre évident. Ce projet
de loi les touche négativement parce qu’il a entrainé une perte de
valeur des armes a feu qu’ils possédent, et cette valeur n’est pas
négligeable; elle est importante, comme 1’a mentionné le témoin
précédent. Si vous possédez plusieurs armes de poing, cela
représente des dizaines de milliers de dollars. Si 1’on considére la
perte de valeur de ces armes, et dans mon cas, compte tenu de
mon age, de ma succession, oui, cela conduit une personne a
s’opposer au projet de loi.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Le projet de loi C-68 a été adopté en
1995. En 2004-2005, 50 % des renseignements dans le Registre
canadien des armes a feu étaient erronés. Les policiers se
rendaient souvent & une adresse donnée ou on n’avait aucune
indication qu’il y avait des armes, mais il y en avait. Le registre
servait trés peu a protéger les policiers, alors que la protection
des policiers était un facteur prioritaire. Est-il possible que 1’on
se retrouve dans cinq ans avec ce projet de loi, ou le contrdle des
armes a feu ne sera ni meilleur ni pire qu’il ’est aujourd’hui,
alors que le Canada a un des meilleurs régimes en matiére de
contrdle des armes a feu?

[Traduction]

M. Klassen : En tant qu’ancien policier, lorsque je me rendais
dans une maison ou il était possible qu’il y ait des armes a feu, je
partais toujours du principe qu’il y avait une arme a feu.

Le registre n’était certainement pas parfait. Dans mon propre
cas, j’ai transféré une arme de poing de I’ancien registre au
nouveau, et lorsque mon certificat d’enregistrement est arrivé, il
indiquait que je ne possédais que le corps lui-méme et qu’il n’y
avait pas de canon; j’ai donc du la réenregistrer a cause de cette
erreur. Il y a eu de nombreuses erreurs. J’ai un ami qui n’était
pas habitué a utiliser des ordinateurs et qui a essayé d’enregistrer
ses armes a feu en ligne. Il s’y est pris a trois reprises, si bien
qu’il possédait soudain, selon le registre, trois fois plus d’armes
a feu qu’il n’en possédait en réalité, a cause de cela.

Le sénateur Boehm : Ma question s’adresse 8 Mme Kiejko,
pour donner suite a ce que vous demandait la sénatrice Deacon,
mais tout d’abord, je me joins aux autres pour vous féliciter de
votre incroyable carriére sportive.

Des groupes de victimes nous ont parlé de ce que I’on appelle
I’exception olympique. Ils craignent que des personnes se
glissent entre les mailles du filet dans ce contexte, mais
j’imagine que dans les nombreux événements sportifs auxquels
vous avez participé — peut-tre pas tant le dernier a Santiago
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but for others — there are athletes representing other countries
that have enacted laws that would outlaw guns of certain kinds.
I’m thinking, in particular, perhaps in the context of the
Commonwealth Games and Olympic Games. Maybe when
you’re not as tense as you would be in competition, but when
you relax with your colleagues, have you had a chance to talk
about laws in other countries and how they are applied? Do other
competitors face the same tensions that you would in getting
their permits before getting on the plane? I would be interested
whether you have heard others’ views.

Ms. Kiejko: I haven’t necessarily heard other views. There
are definitely a few, like some of the challenges that some of my
Great Britain teammates have gone through. They literally have
to go to a different country to be able to train for their event, and
they have to store their firearms somewhere completely different.
I would say it’s a huge disservice. I actually personally do a lot
of dry firing. T have three young children at home, and the
majority of my training actually occurs after they go to bed,
which gives me very small windows during the day to be able to
do my training. To not be able to have my firearms at home with
me to be able to do that dry training, I can’t even imagine the
challenges that some of my other competitors might actually be
under or how they even manage that situation entirely.

I have had conversations on the flipside where people look at
me and shake their heads, wondering how on earth I even
manage. “How do you get your guns out? You might be arrested
getting back into the country because your own country didn’t
give you the permit to get there?” That’s even though I’m taking
out the same thing that I have owned legally within the country.
It’s a bit staggering to some that we jump through so many
hoops just to be able to go, compete and then come home to
represent a country that doesn’t seem to be very proud of us.

Senator Boehm: What would you say to the groups that are
concerned about the so-called Olympic exemption?

Ms. Kiejko: I would ask them why. I understand that the
sporting tool that we use can be seen in a very negative light, but
I think any Olympian, any sport competitor in any sport, respects
their sport and respects the tools they use in their sport. I would
have a hard time. I would really want to understand where they
are coming from and if they are focused only on the tool or on
the practice that goes into it and the intentional practice that goes
into competing in any sport at a high level. Any competitor at a
high level has a high respect for their sport, for their competitors
and for the general public around them. We’re expected to be
role models for the general public. That’s just the expectation.

Senator Boehm: Thank you very much.

lors des Jeux panaméricains, mais d’autres —, il y a des athlétes
représentant des pays qui ont adopté des lois interdisant certains
types d’armes a feu. Je pense en particulier aux Jeux du
Commonwealth et aux Jeux olympiques. Lorsque vous vous
détendez avec vos collégues, peut-étre quand vous n’étes pas
aussi tendue qu’en compétition, avez-vous eu 1’occasion de
parler des lois dans d’autres pays et de la maniére dont elles sont
appliquées? Les autres concurrents sont-ils confrontés aux
mémes tensions que vous pour obtenir leur permis avant de
prendre I’avion? J’aimerais savoir si vous avez entendu le point
de vue d’autres personnes.

Mme Kiejko : Je n’ai pas vraiment entendu d’autres points de
vue. Il y en a certainement quelques-uns, comme les difficultés
rencontrées par certains de mes coéquipiers britanniques. Ils
doivent littéralement se rendre dans un autre pays afin de
s’entrainer pour leur épreuve, et ils doivent entreposer leurs
armes a feu dans un endroit complétement différent. Je dirais que
c’est un trés mauvais service a leur rendre. Pour ma part, je fais
beaucoup de tir a sec. J’ai trois jeunes enfants a la maison, et la
majeure partiec de mon entrainement a lieu aprés qu’ils sont
couchés, ce qui me laisse un trés petit créneau de la journée pour
m’entrainer. Je ne peux méme pas imaginer les défis que doivent
relever certains de mes concurrents, ni comment ils gérent
entierement cette situation, s’ils ne peuvent pas avoir leurs armes
a feu a la maison pour s’entrainer a sec.

J’ai déja eu des conversations avec des gens qui me
regardaient en secouant la téte, se demandant comment je faisais.
« Comment faites-vous pour sortir vos armes? Vous risquez
d’étre arrétée en rentrant dans le pays parce que votre propre
pays ne vous a pas donné 1’autorisation d’y aller. » Et ce, méme
si je sors I’arme que je posséde 1également dans le pays. Certains
trouvent un peu stupéfiant que nous devions franchir tant
d’obstacles simplement pour pouvoir partir, participer a des
compétitions et revenir, et ce, pour représenter un pays qui ne
semble pas étre tres fier de nous.

Le sénateur Boehm : Que diriez-vous aux groupes qui
s’inquiétent de ce qu’on appelle I’exemption olympique?

Mme Kiejko : Je leur demanderais pourquoi. Je comprends
que 1’outil sportif que nous utilisons puisse étre trés mal pergu,
mais je pense que tout athléte olympique, tout compétiteur
sportif, quel que soit son sport, respecte son sport et les outils
qu’il utilise pour ce sport. J’aurais du mal. Je voudrais vraiment
comprendre leur raisonnement et savoir s’ils se concentrent
uniquement sur 1’outil ou sur I’entrainement qui y est consacré et
sur le degré d’entrainement requis pour participer a des
compétitions de haut niveau dans n’importe quel sport. Tout
participant a des compétitions de haut niveau respecte
immensément son sport, ses concurrents et le public qui
I’entoure. Nous sommes censés étre des modéles pour le grand
public. C’est ce qu’on attend de nous.

Le sénateur Boehm : Merci beaucoup.
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Senator Kutcher: Congratulations, Ms. Kiejko, and thank
you for bringing forward the issues that Bill C-21 may have on
target-shooting sports. I think it’s an important issue.

My question has two parts. The first part has been taken by my
seatmate, Senator Boehm, so I won’t repeat it. The second part is
this: realizing the challenges that your sport would have, but at
the same time balancing the right of people not to be shot, are
there any changes that you would make to the bill that would
protect your sport, while at the same time protecting Canadians
from gun violence?

Ms. Kiejko: That’s a really double-edged question. In my
opinion, I’m not sure there is a whole lot of Bill C-21 that I
would necessarily keep because I don’t think any of it addresses
gun violence. If you’re looking to address gun violence, then you
need to look at the places where gun violence is being
committed. If you’re looking for that, it is not at the gun range.
It’s not in competitive sports. If that’s the case, then pretty much
all target sports need to be exempt from the restrictions that
Bill C-21 is trying to implement. If you’re trying to literally deal
with the violent acts that are happening, you need to look at
where they are happening and who they are being perpetrated by.
In the majority of cases, that’s being handled by illegal firearms,
and Bill C-21 will have no impact on illegal firearms or illegal
firearm ownership. Bill C-21 will create more people who don’t
want to be a criminal and potentially end up creating more
criminals than we want. I don’t want to be a criminal. I want to
follow the regulations, and I want to continue participating in my
sport. Through additional regulations, you’re going to create
accidental criminals, and that’s not really the case. It’s not
making you any safer.

Trying to deal with the socio-economic factors that are
creating gun violence, gangs and problems on the streets, being
able to implement and enforce the regulations that we have and
reinforce the RCMP and give them the tools required to help
keep the streets safer and do their jobs appropriately, those are
things I would see as being a better regulation than putting
additional things into Bill C-21. I’'m sorry, I don’t have a whole
lot of hope or support for Bill C-21 as it sits today.

The Chair: Thanks very much.

Senator Dasko: Thank you to our witnesses for being here
today.

A couple of my questions have already been asked by my
colleagues, but I did want to dig a little deeper after Senator
Deacon’s questions. I wanted to ask about the sports in the
Olympics and other international events that involve shooting or
guns. I wanted to know if you knew or could give me a number

Le sénateur Kutcher : Félicitations, madame Kiejko, et
merci d’avoir soulevé les questions que le projet de loi C-21
pourrait provoquer au sujet des sports de tir a la cible. Je pense
que c’est une question importante.

Ma question comporte deux parties. La premicre partie a été
traitée par mon voisin de banquette, le sénateur Boehm, et je ne
la répéterai donc pas. La deuxiéme partie est la suivante : compte
tenu des défis que votre sport aurait a relever, tout en faisant le
contrepoids de cela avec le droit des gens a ne pas se faire tirer
dessus, y a-t-il des changements que vous apporteriez au projet
de loi pour protéger votre sport, tout en protégeant les Canadiens
de la violence liée aux armes a feu?

Mme Kiejko : C’est une question a deux volets. A mon avis,
je ne suis pas sire qu’il y a grand-chose dans le projet de
loi C-21 que je conserverais, parce que je ne crois pas qu’il y ait
quoi que ce soit qui traite de la violence armée. Si I’on veut
s’attaquer a la violence armée, il faut se pencher sur les endroits
ou elle est commise. Si c’est la violence armée que vous visez,
vous ne la trouverez pas au stand de tir. Elle n’existe pas dans les
sports de compétition. Dans ce cas, pratiquement tous les sports
a cible doivent alors étre exemptés des restrictions que le projet
de loi C-21 tente de mettre en ceuvre. Si I’on veut véritablement
s’attaquer aux actes violents, il faut regarder ou ils se produisent
et par qui ils sont perpétrés. Dans la majorité des cas, ces actes
sont perpétrés a 1’aide d’armes a feu illégales, et le projet de
loi C-21 n’a aucun impact sur les armes a feu illégales ni sur la
possession illégale d’armes a feu. Le projet de loi C-21 va
potentiellement faire des criminels de gens qui ne veulent pas
étre des criminels. Je ne veux pas étre une criminelle. Je veux
respecter le réglement et continuer a pratiquer mon sport. En
adoptant des régles supplémentaires, vous allez créer des
criminels accidentels, ce qui n’est pas vraiment ce que vous
visez. Cela n’augmente en rien votre sécurité.

Essayer de régler les problémes socioéconomiques qui sont a
I’origine de la violence armée, des gangs et des problémes dans
les rues, pouvoir mettre en ceuvre et appliquer les réeglements que
nous avons, ainsi que renforcer la GRC et lui fournir les outils
dont elle a besoin pour augmenter la sécurité dans les rues et
faire son travail correctement, voila ce qui est, a mon avis, une
meilleure mesure législative qu’ajouter d’autres choses dans le
projet de loi C-21. Je suis désolée, mais je n’ai pas beaucoup
d’espoir ou de soutien pour le projet de loi C-21 sous sa forme
actuelle.

Le président : Merci beaucoup.

La sénatrice Dasko : Je remercie nos témoins d’étre présents
aujourd’hui.

Quelques-unes de mes questions ont déja été posées par mes
collégues, mais j’aimerais creuser un peu plus apres les questions
de la sénatrice Deacon. Je voudrais poser une question sur les
sports des Jeux olympiques et d’autres événements
internationaux qui comprennent le tir ou les armes a feu.
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of Canadian athletes who might be involved in shooting
competitions in the Pan Am Games, which is where you
competed so successfully, in the Olympic Games and in other
international events. Can you give me a sense of how many
Canadian athletes are involved in shooting in any of these
international events like, for example, the Pan Am Games? I just
want to get a sense of the numbers.

Ms. Kiejko: I'm going to preface this by saying that the
numbers once you get to the international level is significantly
less than the numbers that are competing within Canada to work
towards those numbers. In the most recent Pan American Games,
we had 14 athletes competing. In the last Olympic Games, I was
actually the sole Olympian there. We are very fortunate we have
qualified two athletes for the next Olympic Games from these
last Pan American Games.

When you’re looking at, say, world championships, then you
can expand that. I think we only had a handful of Canadians. I
can’t count them all up. We’re looking at between 5 and 10 at
world championships. Most of that was actually due to the
financial cost of getting to the world championships. It cost each
of us between $6,000 and $8,000 to go to world championships
because we didn’t have any financial support. That’s a lot for
some of our athletes. If we had fielded a full team, then we
probably could have had at least 30 people at world
championships.

Within Canada, there are a whole lot more who are competing
within Canada because we would have between three and five
athletes per event who would then compete in it, depending on
their own self-funded basis.

Senator Dasko: Right. When you said 14, is that the number
of Canadians at the Pan Am games who were in shooting
competitions?

Ms. Kiejko: Yes.
Senator Dasko: 14.
Ms. Kiejko: 14.

Senator Dasko: That is quite significant, actually. It’s more
than T would have thought.

Tell me about the new firearms issues. Why is it that you
would not be able to have access to developing technology?

Ms. Kiejko: Because it’s a new handgun. There is a new
firearm that is being manufactured, and it’s taking some
technology from several different types of firearms. It’s kind of
taking the best of a few different versions that are on the high

J’aimerais savoir si vous connaissez des athlétes canadiens ou si
vous pouvez me citer un nombre d’athlétes canadiens qui
pourraient participer a des compétitions de tir aux Jeux
panaméricains, ou vous avez remporté tant de succes, aux Jeux
olympiques et a d’autres événements internationaux. Pouvez-
vous me donner une idée du nombre d’athlétes canadiens qui
participent a des compétitions de tir lors de ces événements
internationaux comme, disons, les Jeux panaméricains?
J’aimerais simplement avoir une idée du nombre.

Mme Kiejko : Je dirais tout d’abord que le nombre a 1’échelle
internationale est nettement inférieur a celui des athlétes qui
participent a des compétitions au Canada pour atteindre ce
niveau. Lors des derniers Jeux panaméricains, nous avions 14
athlétes en compétition. Lors des derniers Jeux olympiques,
j’étais en fait la seule athléte olympique présente. Nous avons la
chance d’avoir deux athlétes qui se sont qualifiés pour les
prochains Jeux olympiques a 1’occasion de ces derniers Jeux
panaméricains.

Si I’on consideére les championnats du monde, par exemple, il
est possible d’élargir cette perspective. Je pense que nous
n’avions qu’une poignée de Canadiens. Je ne peux pas tous les
compter. Ils sont entre 5 et 10 aux championnats du monde. Dans
la plupart du temps, c’est le colt que représente la participation
aux championnats du monde qui limite ce nombre. Chacun
d’entre nous a dii débourser entre 6 000 et 8 000 $ pour
participer aux championnats du monde, car nous ne recevons
aucune aide financiére. C’est trop, pour certains de nos athlétes.
Si nous avions aligné une équipe compléte, nous aurions
probablement pu avoir au moins 30 personnes aux championnats
du monde.

Au Canada, il y en a beaucoup plus qui participent aux
compétitions; nous avons entre trois et cinq athlétes par
événement qui participent, en fonction de leur propre
financement.

La sénatrice Dasko : D’accord. Lorsque vous avez dit 14,
est-ce le nombre de Canadiens qui ont participé aux Jeux
panaméricains dans les compétitions de tir?

Mme Kiejko : Oui.
La sénatrice Dasko : 14.
Mme Kiejko : 14.

La sénatrice Dasko : C’est assez important, en fait. C’est
plus que je ne I’imaginais.

Parlez-moi de la nouvelle arme a feu. Pourquoi ne pourrez-
vous pas avoir acces a la nouvelle technologie?

Mme Kiejko : Parce que c’est une nouvelle arme de poing.
C’est une nouvelle arme a feu qui est en cours de fabrication et
qui réunit la technologie de plusieurs sortes d’armes a feu. Il
s’agit en quelque sorte de prendre le meilleur de quelques
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competition level. It’s being manufactured from Germany, I
believe, and trying to export that firearm from Germany, with the
German firearm rules, and then import that firearm into Canada,
there is a minimum export process of at least six months to be
able to get it out of Germany, and then we have the import
process to be able to get it into Canada. No one has been
successful because you can’t do that. There are very few limited
import licenses for this specific type of firearm or this
manufactured firearm. The ones who do it haven’t been able to
navigate a way to do it yet.

Senator Dasko: Right.

Senator  Richards: Thank you  for here.

Congratulations, Ms. Kiejko.

being

My question is for Mr. Klassen or Mr. Hipwell. Maybe I'm the
odd man out here, but I think this, in a way, targets rural and
northern Canadians and people who use guns for a livelihood or
for hunting. I think it’s an extremely elitist bill made by people
who have perhaps never used weapons or never grew up on a
farm. I don’t know what you think of that, but I would like your
opinion on that. That is what I said in second reading about it.

I also think that if you’re going to make semi-automatics
illegal, you’re going to put three quarters of my friends on the
wrong side of the law. I think those on the wrong side of the law
would never give up their semi-automatics. I would like either of
you to comment on that, if you could.

Mr. Hipwell: The first part of your question was about
creating a divide between rural and urban Canadians. I’1l speak
on the handgun side. I’ll use IPSC as part of my example
because that’s a sport I’'m more familiar with and I did compete
in. I’ll use the province of Manitoba. I’'m going to say 80% of
the shooters live within Winnipeg. You have 80% who are in an
urban environment. Yes, in some cases you are seeing examples
from rural Canadians and of rural Canadians, but it’s not just
affecting rural Canadians. When we get into southern Ontario,
where we have a large following with IPSC — I don’t have the
number; I’m sure Mr. Smith would be able to get those numbers
for you — there are a lot of urban Canadians who are also being
affected by this legislation.

Senator Richards: That’s handguns? Yes.

Mr. Hipwell: Correct. I'm just speaking of hand guns.
Senator Richards: Great.

Mr. Klassen: Thank you, senator.

versions différentes qui sont au niveau de la haute compétition.
Elle est fabriquée en Allemagne, je crois; il faut exporter cette
arme a feu d’Allemagne, avec les régles allemandes sur les
armes a feu, puis D'importer au Canada. Il faut suivre un
processus d’exportation d’au moins six mois pour la sortir
d’Allemagne, puis se soumettre au processus d’importation pour
la faire entrer au Canada. Personne n’a réussi a le faire parce que
c’est impossible. Il existe trés peu de licences d’importation
restreintes pour ce type particulier d’arme a feu ou cette arme a
feu construite de toutes pieces. Ceux qui le veulent n’ont pas
encore réussi a trouver un moyen de le faire.

La sénatrice Dasko : C’est exact.

Le sénateur Richards : Je vous remercie de votre présence.
Félicitations, madame Kiejko.

Ma question s’adresse a M. Klassen ou a M. Hipwell. Je fais
peut-étre un peu bande a part ici, mais je pense que cette mesure
vise d’une certaine maniére les Canadiens des régions rurales et
du Nord et les personnes qui utilisent des armes a feu pour
gagner leur vie ou pour chasser. Je pense que c’est un projet de
loi extrémement élitiste élaboré par des personnes qui n’ont
peut-étre jamais utilis€ d’arme ou qui n’ont pas grandi dans une
ferme. Je ne sais pas ce que vous en pensez, mais j’aimerais
avoir votre avis a ce sujet. C’est ce que j’ai dit a ce sujet lors de
la deuxieéme lecture.

Je pense aussi que si vous rendez les semi-automatiques
illégaux, vous allez placer les trois quarts de mes amis du
mauvais coté de la loi. Je crois que ceux qui sont du mauvais
coté de la loi ne renonceront jamais a leur semi-automatique.
J’aimerais que 1’un ou I’autre d’entre vous commente cet aspect,
si vous le pouvez.

M. Hipwell : La premicre partie de votre question crée en fait
un fossé entre les Canadiens ruraux et les Canadiens urbains. Je
parlerai des armes de poing avec le tir pratique comme exemple,
car c’est un sport que je connais mieux et dans lequel j’ai
participé a des compétitions. J utiliserai I’exemple du Manitoba.
Je dirai que 80 % des tireurs vivent 8 Winnipeg. Il y a donc 80 %
d’entre eux qui vivent en milieu urbain. Oui, dans certains cas, il
y a des exemples de Canadiens ruraux, mais cela ne concerne pas
seulement les Canadiens ruraux. Dans le Sud de 1’Ontario, ou le
tir pratique compte un grand nombre d’adeptes — je n’ai pas les
chiffres; je suis sir que M. Smith pourrait vous les fournir —, il
y a beaucoup de Canadiens vivant en milieu urbain qui sont
également touchés par cette mesure 1égislative.

Le sénateur Richards : Il s’agit des armes de poing, n’est-ce
pas?

M. Hipwell : C’est exact. Je ne parle que des armes de poing.
Le sénateur Richards : Trés bien.

M. Klassen : Merci, sénateur.
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When it comes to firearms use in Northern Canada, yes,
Indigenous or Aboriginal people certainly use them as part of the
way of maintaining themselves. Obtaining meat from the wild, or
country food, as it’s sometimes called, is an essential part of
their lives. Whether the bill is elitist or not, as I said, witnesses
have been here have either suggested doing away with it, not
passing it, or at least substantially amending it.

Earlier legislation, as I think Senator Plett was referring to,
even that long gun legislation, was not understood by some of
the older First Nations people I knew who would go into a
firearms store — in this case, Canadian Tire in Whitehorse — to
buy a rifle. They would be asked for their firearms license. They
didn’t have one, and they wouldn’t be sold a rifle. A little while
later, a younger Aboriginal man would come in and buy the same
firearm, and you could be quite confident that it was going to the
older man in the community and there would be no record of
where that firearm was being stored. I think there is a lack of
understanding in legislation like this that there are still people in
this country who have great difficulty with our system of laws.
All they know is that they need a firearm to get a moose.

I recall another Senate committee that came to Whitehorse in
1995, I think it was, and there was an older First Nations man
from the community of Ross River who said, I think tellingly, “If
you take my gun away, how am I going to live?” He said to the
senators, “I can’t sit at the table, look at paper and make money
like you guys.”

Senator Richards: That’s pretty well what I was also saying
about rural Canada and about many people in the Maritimes.
Thank you very much.

The Chair: Colleagues, we are running out of time, and there
are still several senators on the list, so we will now go to three
minutes each.

Senator Yussuff: Thank you, witnesses, for being here.

Mr. Hipwell, you don’t have an issue with those who have a
firearms license being able to purchase ammunition, do you? I
think you made reference in regard to a magazine. As you know,
ghost guns are an issue that we are struggling with in the
country. There is a real challenge as to how we can get control of
that, recognizing the technology is evolving pretty quickly. The
legislation will put restrictions wherein you will have to have a
license to purchase some of this equipment, obviously so as to
not get into the wrong hands. Is that an issue? Why would it be
an issue?

En ce qui concerne I’utilisation des armes a feu dans le Nord
du Canada, oui, les peuples autochtones les utilisent
certainement pour leur subsistance. L’obtention de viande dans
la nature, ou de nourriture traditionnelle, comme on 1’appelle
parfois, est un ¢lément essentiel de leur vie. Que le projet de loi
soit élitiste ou non, comme je 1’ai dit, les témoins qui sont venus
ici ont recommandé soit de 1’annuler, soit de ne pas 1’adopter, ou
encore de le modifier considérablement.

La loi antérieure, que le sénateur Plett mentionnait, je crois,
méme cette loi sur les armes d’épaule n’était pas comprise par
certains des membres plus agés des Premiéres Nations que je
connaissais et qui se rendaient dans un magasin d’armes a feu —
en I’occurrence, Canadian Tire a Whitehorse — pour acheter une
carabine. On leur demandait leur permis de port d’arme. Comme
ils n’en avaient pas, on ne leur vendait pas de fusil. Peu de temps
aprés, un jeune Autochtone se présentait et achetait la méme
arme a feu, et ’on pouvait parier que celle-ci était destinée a
I’homme plus 4gé de la collectivité, sans qu’il y ait de trace de
I’endroit ou elle était entreposée. Je pense que ce genre de lois
démontre que I’on n’a pas compris qu’il y a encore des gens dans
ce pays qui assimilent trés mal notre systéme 1égislatif. Tout ce
qu’ils savent, c’est qu’ils ont besoin d’une arme a feu pour tuer
un orignal.

Je me souviens d’une autre visite de comité sénatorial a
Whitehorse, en 1995 je crois, ou un homme 4gé des Premicres
Nations provenant de la communauté de Ross River a tenu aux
sénateurs des propos que je juge révélateurs : « Si vous me
prenez mon arme, comment vais-je pouvoir vivre? Contrairement
a vous, je ne peux pas m’asseoir a une table, regarder du papier
et gagner de I’argent ».

Le sénateur Richards : Ca s’apparente a ce que je disais au
sujet du Canada rural et d’une bonne partie de la population des
Maritimes. Merci beaucoup.

Le président : Chers collégues, nous commengons a manquer
de temps et il reste plusieurs sénateurs sur la liste; chaque
intervenant aura donc maintenant trois minutes.

Le sénateur Yussuff: Je remercie les témoins de leur
présence.

Monsieur Hipwell, vous ne voyez pas d’inconvénient a ce que
les détenteurs de permis d’armes a feu puissent acheter des
munitions, n’est-ce pas? Je crois que vous avez fait mention d’un
chargeur. Comme vous le savez, les armes fantdmes posent un
probléme au Canada, un probléme qui représente un véritable
défi parce que la technologie évolue trés rapidement. La loi
imposera des restrictions en vertu desquelles il faudra détenir un
permis pour acheter certains de ces équipements, évidemment
pour éviter qu’ils n’aboutissent entre de mauvaises mains. Est-ce
que ¢a constitue un probléme? Pourquoi serait-ce un probléme?
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Let me finish on this point. A criminal who committed a
terrible crime on Danforth in the city of Toronto went in and
bought ammunition, even though back then he didn’t have a
license. He was able to purchase ammunition in regard to the
gun, which was obtained illegally and used to commit the crime
of killing individuals in the Danforth shooting.

You don’t have an issue with putting restrictions on
purchasing ammunition and other equipment that will bring some
continuity to how the law can be maintained so criminals are not
doing bad things, do you?

Mr. Hipwell: No. I think that’s a little bit misunderstood. As
it sits today, to purchase a firearm, the serialized item, and
ammunition, you require a firearms license. That’s already in
place. My example there was now it was going to be an offence
for the magazine that belongs to that firearm. If I were to give
you the magazine that belongs to that firearm and you don’t have
a firearms license, that is now going to be an offence. Now we’re
talking a part of it. How is that going to be controlled? There are
firearms manufacturers who you will hear from later today. The
number of magazines they manufacture in relation to the number
of firearms is probably 5 to 1, maybe 10 to 1, so you have all
these parts. I don’t see how it is going to curb and enhance
public safety by saying that you now need a license to have a
part.

Senator Yussuff: It would certainly allow us to track those
who are purchasing these parts so they don’t end up being put
into ghost guns, if that’s a possibility.

Mr. Hipwell: I’m not sure how we will track it.

Senator Yussuff: If you require a license to do so, we would
know who was purchasing this equipment.

Mr. Hipwell: So we will start today with a license for all
those parts, but what about all the parts that are currently in
society?

Senator Yussuff: Maybe you can’t solve every problem with
one piece of legislation, but certainly, going forward, it’s looking
to ensure people who are purchasing these things have a license
to do so because you want them to be responsible for what they
are doing.

Mr. Hipwell: The next part to that is how do we educate
everyone that that is now the law, much like Mr. Klassen’s
example here with the transfer of a firearm? A lot of people
don’t understand. We have gone from the serialized piece, which
is the expensive part, the part that we can track and control
because it has a serial number like a VIN on our vehicles. Now
we’re going to a small component and we want to try to track it?

Je conclurai sur ce point. Un criminel qui a commis un acte
horrible sur la rue Danforth, a Toronto, avait pu acheter des
munitions méme s’il n’avait pas de permis. Il a pu acheter des
munitions pour 1’arme qu’il s’était procurée illégalement et qui
lui a servi a tuer des gens lors de la fusillade de Danforth.

Vous ne voyez pas d’inconvénient, je suppose, a ce qu’on
impose des restrictions a 1’achat de munitions et d’autres
équipements afin d’assurer une certaine continuité dans le
processus d’application des lois, pour contrer les noirs desseins
des criminels?

M. Hipwell : Non. Je pense que la situation est un peu mal
comprise. Aujourd’hui, pour acheter une arme a feu, une arme
avec numéro de série, et des munitions, il faut un permis d’armes
a feu. Cette exigence est déja en place. Dans mon exemple, je
voulais dire que ce serait désormais une infraction de se procurer
le chargeur qui va avec I’arme a feu. Si je vous donnais le
chargeur de cette arme a feu et que vous n’avez pas de permis
d’arme a feu, je commettrais dorénavant une infraction. On parle
maintenant d’une composante de 1’arme. Comment va-t-on faire
pour contrdler cela? Plus tard dans la journée, vous entendrez
des fabricants d’armes a feu. Le nombre de chargeurs qu’ils
fabriquent par rapport au nombre d’armes a feu est probablement
de 5 pour 1, peut-étre 10 pour 1, alors il y a toutes ces
composantes. Je ne vois pas en quoi le fait d’exiger un permis
pour posséder une piece contribuera a améliorer la sécurité
publique.

Le sénateur Yussuff : Ca nous permettrait certainement de
faire un suivi des personnes qui achétent ces pieces, pour éviter
qu’elles n’aboutissent dans des armes fantomes, si c’est possible.

M. Hipwell : J’ignore au juste comment on pourra faire un
suivi.

Le sénateur Yussuff : Si on exige un permis pour acheter ce
matériel, on saura qui 1’achéte.

M. Hipwell : Si on commence aujourd’hui a exiger un permis
pour toutes ces pi€ces, qu’est-ce qu’on fera pour toutes les picces
qui circulent actuellement?

Le sénateur Yussuff : On ne peut peut-étre pas résoudre tous
les problemes avec une seule loi, mais a 1’avenir, on souhaite
exiger que les personnes qui achétent ces produits aient un
permis, parce qu’on veut qu’elles soient responsables de leurs
actions.

M. Hipwell : Il faudra ensuite déterminer comment faire
savoir a tout le monde que c’est désormais la loi, comme dans
I’exemple de M. Klassen concernant la cession d’une arme a feu.
Beaucoup de gens ne comprennent pas. Nous avons commencé
par la picce sérialisée, qui est la piece cotiteuse, la piéce qu’on
peut suivre et contrdler parce qu’elle porte un numéro de série
similaire aux numéros d’identification des véhicules, et on veut
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I think we can come up with better ways to help our law
enforcement resources and put our money towards other areas
that would be more effective.

Senator Duncan: Thank you very much to all our witnesses.

Thank you, Mr. Klassen, for being here. You spoke of your
work in public service as an RCMP officer, but you didn’t
mention your work with the Department of Environment or
renewable resources. You spoke very eloquently about the use of
the semi-automatic rifle by the Department of Environment. If
you could, I would like you to perhaps briefly address the
background that would have gone into the minister purchasing
those semi-automatic rifles.

Mr. Klassen: Actually, the Minister of Environment in the
Yukon Legislative Assembly tabled a legislative return that
outlined the process that they had gone through, the firearms
instructors in-house in the Department of Environment where,
yes, coincidentally, I was the deputy minister of that department
for a time. The in-house instructors in that department tested a
range of semi-automatic rifles, and they determined that the
SIG Sauer 716 was the firearm that best met the needs of the
conservation officers. Last week, I spoke with the former senior
conservation officer about the use of those firearms. He said that
they had been used in dealing with some grizzly bears at a bison
kill, and they were very effective. The training the officers
received is extensive.

But also outside of government, there are instructors in the
handgun club to which I belong who are actually experts in the
use of these semi-automatic firearms so that training could also
be provided to civilian owners.

Senator Duncan: Under Bill C-21, as a Yukoner, if I had this
training, I couldn’t buy one of these same weapons. Is that what
you’re saying?

Mr. Klassen: I’m sorry, the system was failing me. I have a
hearing impairment and didn’t hear —

The Chair: I think we have to end. I'm sorry.

That brings us to the end of this panel, colleagues. We're a
little bit overtime.

I extend a sincere thanks to Mr. Hipwell, Mr. Klassen and
Ms. Kiejko. We greatly appreciate the contributions and time
you took to share your expertise with us today. Congratulations,
Ms. Kiejko, and thank you for the work that all three of you do
in representing your communities so well. We had many more

maintenant faire le suivi des petites composantes? A mon avis,
on peut trouver de meilleurs moyens d’aider nos agences

policiéres et consacrer notre argent a d’autres mesures plus
efficaces.

La sénatrice Duncan : Merci beaucoup a tous nos témoins.

Merci, monsieur Klassen, de votre présence. Vous avez parlé
de votre travail au service du public comme agent de la
Gendarmerie royale du Canada, mais vous n’avez pas mentionné
votre travail au ministére de 1’Environnement ou des Ressources
renouvelables. Vous avez expliqué avec grande éloquence
I’utilisation du fusil semi-automatique au ministére de
I’Environnement. Si vous le voulez bien, j’aimerais que vous
nous parliez brievement du contexte qui a amené le ministre a
acquérir ces fusils semi-automatiques.

M. Klassen : En fait, le ministre de I’Environnement a déposé
a D’Assemblée législative du Yukon un rapport législatif
décrivant le processus suivi a l’interne par les instructeurs
d’armes a feu du ministere de I’Environnement, dont j’ai
d’ailleurs été pendant un certain temps sous-ministre. Aprés
avoir testé toute une série de fusils semi-automatiques,
les instructeurs internes du ministére ont déterminé que le
SIG Sauer 716 était I’arme a feu qui répondait le mieux aux
besoins des agents de conservation. La semaine derniére, j’ai
discuté de I’utilisation de ces armes a feu avec 1’ancien agent de
conservation principal, qui m’a souligné a quel point elles
avaient été efficaces face a des grizzlis qui avaient tué un bison.
Les agents suivent une formation approfondie.

Mais a part la fonction publique, il y a aussi dans le club
d’armes de poing auquel j’appartiens des instructeurs qui sont en
fait des experts dans I’utilisation de ces armes a feu semi-
automatiques; il serait donc possible de donner aussi une
formation aux propriétaires civils.

La sénatrice Duncan : En vertu du projet de loi C-21,
comme Yukonnais, je ne pourrais pas acheter une de ces armes
méme si j’avais suivi cette formation. C’est bien ce que vous
dites?

M. Klassen : Désolé, le systeme n’a pas fonctionné. J’ai une
déficience auditive et je n’ai pas entendu...

Le président : Nous devons terminer, désolé.

Cela nous amene a la fin de ce groupe de témoins. Nous avons
un peu dépassé le temps imparti.

Je remercie sincérement M. Hipwell, M. Klassen et
Mme Kiejko pour le temps qu’ils ont consacré aujourd’hui a
nous faire profiter de leur expertise. Félicitations madame
Kiejko, et merci a vous trois pour 1’excellent travail que vous
accomplissez en représentant si bien vos communautés. Nous
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questions for you today, but thank you so much for the amount
of information and advice you could squeeze in in the time
available.

We will now continue with our third panel of the meeting. We
have the pleasure of welcoming, by video conference, on behalf
of the Canadian Shooting Sports Association, Mr. Tony
Bernardo, Executive Director; Master Warrant Officer (Ret’d)
Richard James Ostashower, Instructor, Canadian Firearms Safety
Course, former Military and Police Firearms Instructor; and in
the room with us today, Richard Edward Terry McCullough,
Vice President and General Manager, Savage Arms Inc.

Thank you for joining us today. I invite you to provide your
opening remarks, to be followed by questions from members. I
remind you that you each have five minutes for your testimony.
We begin today with Mr. Bernardo.

Tony Bernardo, Executive Director, Canadian Shooting
Sports Association: Good afternoon, everybody. The Canadian
Shooting Sports Association, CSSA, is one of the largest
firearms associations in Canada, with a membership of 37,000
individuals. We have existed in various forms for 66 years. Over
75% of our members own and shoot handguns, and we are one of
the regulatory bodies for sport shooting in Canada.

You have been listening to firearms experts. They have told
you the problem and have given you the science to reduce gun
crime. What I don’t understand is why is the government not
listening to them? Why is this government directing its efforts
against the law-abiding as opposed to directing them against the
criminal misuse of these objects? From all of the evidence
you’ve listened to, it seems clear the government is engaged in a
witch hunt against millions of lawful Canadian citizens. Yet
expert after expert has told you the same things, from Marcell
Wilson to the former OPP Commissioner, Chris Lewis.

Bill C-21 will not stop or lessen gun crime, and it’s totally
focused on the law-abiding. Every measure we have has shown
the current government pogrom against lawful gun owners has
failed to curtail violence with firearms; in fact, the problem
increases each year. Clearly, this 30-year-old approach doesn’t
work.

Please also address as well the devaluation and confiscation of
the handguns. This bill does not simply freeze transfer of
handguns; it mandates their fiscal destruction. Finally, let me
address the confiscation without compensation. Worse, it doesn’t

aurions eu encore beaucoup de questions & vous poser, mais nous
vous remercions pour toutes les informations et tous les conseils
que vous nous avez fournis durant la période dont nous
disposions.

Nous allons maintenant poursuivre avec notre troisiéme
groupe de témoins. Nous avons le plaisir d’accueillir, par
vidéoconférence M. Tony Bernardo, directeur général de
1’ Association des sports de tir du Canada; I’adjudant-maitre (a la
retraite) Richard James Ostashower, instructeur, Cours canadien
de sécurité dans le maniement des armes a feu, ancien militaire
et instructeur de police en maniement des armes a feu; et en
présentiel M. Richard Edward Terry McCullough, vice-président
et directeur général, Savage Arms Inc.

Je vous remercie de vous joindre a nous aujourd’hui. Je vous
invite maintenant a faire vos exposés liminaires, qui seront suivis
d’une période de questions. Je vous rappelle que vous disposez
chacun de cinq minutes pour votre exposé. Nous commencerons
par M. Bernardo.

Tony Bernardo, directeur général, Association des sports
de tir du Canada : Bonjour a tous. Avec ses 37 000 membres,
I’ Association des sports de tir du Canada est un des plus grands
regroupements canadiens de propriétaires d’armes a feu. Notre
organisation existe sous diverses formes depuis 66 ans. Plus de
75 % de nos membres possedent et utilisent des armes de poing,
et nous faisons partie des organismes de réglementation du tir
sportif au Canada.

Vous avez écouté des experts en armes a feu. Ils vous ont
exposé le probléme et vous ont fourni les arguments scientifiques
qui permettraient de réduire la criminalité liée aux armes a feu.
Ce que je ne comprends pas, c’est pourquoi le gouvernement ne
les écoute-t-il pas? Pourquoi ce gouvernement dirige-t-il ses
efforts vers les citoyens respectueux de la loi plutét que vers
I’utilisation criminelle de ces objets? D’aprés tous les
témoignages que vous avez entendus, il est clair que le
gouvernement a entrepris une chasse aux sorciéres contre des
millions de citoyens canadiens respectueux de la loi. Pourtant,
tous les experts qui se sont succédé vous ont dit la méme chose,
de Marcell Wilson a Chris Lewis, ex-commissaire de la Police
provinciale de I’Ontario.

Le projet de loi C-21 n’arrétera pas ni ne réduira les crimes
commis a 1’aide d’armes a feu, et il cible exclusivement les
personnes qui se conforment & la loi. Au regard de toutes les
mesures dont nous disposons, le pogrom que livre actuellement
le gouvernement contre les propriétaires légitimes d’armes a feu
n’a aucunement réussi & diminuer la violence par arme a feu; en
fait, le probléme s’aggrave d’année en année. De toute évidence,
cette approche vieille de 30 ans ne fonctionne pas.

Je vous demande également de prendre en compte la
dévaluation et la confiscation des armes de poing. Le projet de
loi ne se contente pas de geler la cession des armes de poing; il
impose leur destruction financiére. Permettez-moi d’aborder
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have the courage to confiscate them from me. It takes the
cowardly route of confiscating many millions of dollars of
private property from grieving spouses left behind when their
loved ones perish. It literally robs large sums of money from the
purses of widowers and widows at their worst moment of
vulnerability and leaves this obscenely immoral issue to another
government to deal with.

England didn’t deal with it that way. Australia didn’t either.
Even New Zealand had the fidelity to pay compensation to its
citizens. Yet this government chooses to ignore the experiences
of our Commonwealth partners and British common law. Even
this government recognized how wrong this was when they
enacted the May 2020 order-in-council confiscation of modern
sporting and hunting firearms. They pledged fair-market
compensation for the theft of those firearms.

The May 2020 order-in-council guns, you want to take them
away from me; the Bill C-21 handguns, you want to take them
away from my grieving widow.

As of last year, media outlets have reported that 661 repeat
offenders, all arrested for committing other serious crimes, were
also charged with 1,514 counts of breaching firearms prohibition
orders, yet our Public Safety Minister refuses to lift a finger to
fix Canada’s broken firearms prohibition order system to address
this serious public safety issue. The CSSA even went so far as to
present a system to remedy the firearms prohibition order
problem, but no response was received from the federal
government.

Thank you for hearing our concerns. We will leave you with
my statement given on October 18, 2022, before the House of
Commons SECU Committee:

The people who are using guns now aren’t the lawful
owners who have registered guns and done the background
checks and been trained and safely store them. Those are not
the people committing the violent crimes. It’s people who
are using smuggled guns from the United States. That’s the
vast majority of guns used in crimes, handguns.

There are all kinds of laws in effect now that those people
are disobeying, so adding more laws for the lawful owners
isn’t going to impact the criminals, who don’t care about
laws. They commit them all, including murder.

I’enjeu de la confiscation sans compensation. Le projet de loi n’a
pas le courage de confisquer mes armes. Il emprunte plutot le
lache stratagéme consistant a confisquer plusieurs millions de
dollars de biens privés aux conjoints endeuillés par la mort de
leur partenaire. Il dérobe littéralement de vastes sommes aux
veufs et aux veuves au pire moment de leur vulnérabilité, en
laissant a un autre gouvernement le soin de s’occuper de cet
enjeu grossierement immoral.

L’Angleterre n’a pas procédé ainsi. L’Australie non plus.
Méme la Nouvelle-Zélande a eu le cceur d’indemniser ses
citoyens. Malgré cela, 1’actuel gouvernement canadien choisit
d’ignorer 1’expérience de nos partenaires du Commonwealth et
la common law britannique. Méme ce gouvernement
reconnaissait 1’erreur d’une telle approche lorsqu’il a promulgué
en mai 2020 le décret sur la confiscation des armes a feu
modernes de sport et de chasse, puisqu’il s’est alors engagé a
verser une indemnisation équitable pour le vol de ces armes a
feu.

Les armes a feu du décret de mai 2020, vous voulez me les
prendre; les armes de poing du projet de loi C-21, vous voulez
les prendre & ma veuve éplorée.

Alors que les médias nous apprennent que 1’année dernicre
661 récidivistes, tous arrétés pour avoir commis d’autres crimes
graves, étaient également inculpés de 1 514 chefs d’accusation
pour avoir enfreint des ordonnances d’interdiction d’armes a feu,
notre ministre de la Sécurité publique refuse de lever le petit
doigt pour réparer le dysfonctionnement du systéme
d’ordonnances d’interdiction d’armes a feu du Canada afin de
résoudre ce grave probléme de sécurité publique. L’Association
des sports de tir du Canada est méme allée jusqu’a proposer un
systtme pour remédier au probléme des ordonnances
d’interdiction d’armes a feu, mais le gouvernement fédéral n’a
pas daigné nous répondre.

Je vous remercie d’entendre nos préoccupations. Je vous
laisserai sur la déclaration que j’ai faite le 18 octobre 2022
devant le comité des Communes sur la sécurité publique et
nationale :

Les personnes qui utilisent des armes a feu a I’heure actuelle
ne sont pas les propriétaires légitimes qui ont enregistré
leurs armes, vérifié leurs antécédents, suivi une formation,
et qui entreposent leurs armes en toute sécurité. Ce ne sont
pas les personnes qui commettent des crimes violents. Ce
sont des gens qui utilisent des armes de contrebande en
provenance des Etats-Unis. C’est la grande majorité des
armes utilisées dans les crimes, des armes de poing.

I y a toutes sortes de lois en vigueur actuellement
auxquelles ces personnes ne se conforment pas, donc ajouter
plus de lois pour les propriétaires légitimes n’aura aucun
impact sur les criminels, qui ne se soucient pas des lois. Ils
commettent toutes sortes de crimes, y compris le meurtre.



6-11-2023

Sécurité nationale, défense et anciens combattants

41:43

According to Chris Lewis, the former OPP Commissioner,
“ ... banning lawfully owned handguns is just not going to solve
the problem.”

Please pay the deepest attention to this matter. The
confiscation of legally owned property from lawful Canadians
who have committed no offence is a slap in the face to the
liberties our country has enjoyed. You have the power to change
this fraudulent bill. Respectfully, please do so, and thank you for
your service to Canada.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Bernardo.

Richard Edward Terry McCullough, Vice President and
General Manager, Savage Arms Canada Inc., as an
individual: Honourable members of the Senate of Canada, I’d
like to thank you for inviting me here today to testify. For the
last 16 years, I have been in the role of vice president and
general manager at Savage Arms Canada, which currently stands
as Canada’s largest rifle company. I’m also in my sixth year as a
volunteer board member of the Peterborough & the Kawarthas
Economic Development Agency, having served as the board
chair in 2020. I am also a former member of the board of the
Canadian Sporting Arms and Ammunition Association.

Savage Arms is an iconic gunmaker founded in 1894 by a
gentleman called Arthur Savage in Utica, New York. It is
currently headquartered in Westfield, Massachusetts, and the
company has manufacturing facilities in Lakefield, Ontario, and
Westfield, Massachusetts. Savage Arms began in 1969 as
Lakefield Arms in the village of Lakefield, Ontario. The
company was, in turn, acquired by Savage Arms in 1995, and
today the Canadian division of Savage Arms Canada employs
between 80 and 225 persons. We manufacture anywhere between
150 to over 336,000 rim-fire rifles in Lakefield, Ontario.

I want to reiterate some of the comments made by previous
witnesses, one being our CSAAA president. Our Canadian
firearms industry plays a pivotal role in the Canadian economy,
contributing over $8 billion annually to our national GDP and
providing employment for over 45,000 individuals. However, we
are currently weighed down by a regulatory environment that has
become a substantial burden and source of anxiety for our
industry.

Some of the previous witnesses brought some great insight.
Dr. Christian Leuprecht said that about 90% of the handguns
seized in the commission of a crime or that are possessed
unlawfully in Canada have been smuggled into Canada by
various organized crime groups.

Selon Chris Lewis, ancien commissaire de la Police
provinciale de 1’Ontario, D’interdiction des armes de poing
détenues légalement ne réglera pas le probléme.

Nous vous demandons d’accorder la plus grande attention a
cette question. La confiscation de biens légalement détenus par
des Canadiens respectueux de la loi qui n’ont commis aucune
infraction représente un affront aux libertés dont nous jouissons
dans notre pays. Vous avez le pouvoir de modifier ce projet de
loi inique. Je vous demande en tout respect de le faire, et je vous
remercie de servir le Canada.

Le président : Merci beaucoup, monsieur Bernardo.

Richard Edward Terry McCullough, vice-président et
directeur général, Savage Arms Canada Inc., a titre
personnel : Honorables sénateurs, je vous remercie de m’avoir
invité a témoigner aujourd’hui. Depuis 16 ans, je suis vice-
président et directeur général de Savage Arms Canada, qui est
actuellement le plus grand fabricant de fusils au Canada. Je siége
également depuis six ans a titre bénévole au conseil
d’administration de 1’agence de développement économique de
Peterborough et des Kawarthas, que j’ai par ailleurs présidé en
2020. J’ai également siégé au conseil d’administration de
1’ Association canadienne des munitions et armes de sport.

Savage Arms est une société emblématique de fabrication
d’armes fondée en 1894 par un dénommé Arthur Savage a Utica,
dans I’Etat de New York. Le siége social est actuellement situé a
Westfield dans le Massachusetts, et la compagnie posséde des
usines a Lakefield en Ontario et a Westfield au Massachusetts.
Savage Arms a démarré ses activités en 1969 sous le nom de
Lakefield Arms dans le village de Lakefield en Ontario.
L’entreprise a ¢té rachetée en 1995 par Savage Arms, et
aujourd’hui, la division canadienne, Savage Arms Canada,
emploie entre 80 et 225 personnes. Nous fabriquons entre
150 000 et 336 000 fusils a percussion annulaire a Lakefield en
Ontario.

Je tiens a réitérer certaines des observations formulées par les
témoins précédents, notamment par le président de 1’ Association
canadienne des munitions et armes de sport. L’industrie
canadienne des armes a feu joue un rdle névralgique dans
I’économie canadienne, en contribuant pour plus de huit
milliards de dollars par an au PIB national et en donnant de
I’emploi a plus de 45 000 personnes. Cependant, notre industrie
doit actuellement supporter un environnement réglementaire qui
est devenu pour nous un lourd fardeau et une grave source
d’anxiété.

Certains des témoins précédents vous ont présenté des
arguments trés révélateurs. M. Leuprecht nous a appris
qu’environ 90 % des armes de poing saisies aprés la commission
d’un crime ou détenues illégalement au Canada ont été
introduites clandestinement au Canada par divers groupes
criminels organisés.
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The current government came into power claiming it would
engage in evidence-based decision making, and instead, the bill
amounts to decision-based evidence seeking. As has been
commented on by several of the expert witnesses, including
Mr. Bernardo, going after law-abiding Canadian handgun owners
will do nothing to control gun crimes that we see in our cities
and towns.

It’s certainly an organized crime gang element that really does
not care about the laws and certainly cannot abide by cities
choosing to ban handguns. Enforce the bans on shooting people.
Enforce the bans on illegal handgun ownership.

I understand there’s a large group of folks who have already
commented on law enforcement and our Canadian Association of
Chiefs of Police. One of the comments I did want to read was a
national headline. There were several of them. One is “Canadian
police chiefs won’t back handgun ban, say it wouldn’t stop flow
of guns into the country.” Vancouver Police Chief Adam Palmer
said, “The firearms laws in Canada are actually very good right
now. They’re very strict.”

We have really seen several times that experts — as we say, a
group of seven academic scholars and doctors have come
together and written to the Senate. We all agree.

I’ll finish by saying that attention must be focused on
bolstering policing efforts. Really, that’s what we see. Rectify
the flaws in our catch-and-release bail system and fortify our
border services.

I’d like to thank you very much. I’m ready for any questions
you might have.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. McCullough.

Master Warrant Officer (Ret’d) Richard James
Ostashower, Instructor, Canadian Firearms Safety Course,
former Military and Police Firearms Instructor: Honourable
senators, ladies and gentlemen, thank you for hearing me today.
There are many things I wish to say.

I have read and researched the Canadian Charter of Rights and
Freedoms, the Canadian Bill of Rights and the Criminal Code
since starting with the Calgary Police Service, CPS, in 1989. 1
have found little if any correlation to public safety in Bill C-21
as it relates to these critical documents. There are several direct
discrepancies — if not outright contradictions — within this bill
as it relates to the Charter and the Bill of Rights, especially the
enjoyment of property.

Alors que le gouvernement actuel est arrivé au pouvoir en
affirmant qu’il baserait ses décisions sur des données probantes,
le projet de loi équivaut a une quéte de données probantes basée
sur une décision. Comme 1’ont souligné plusieurs témoins
experts, dont M. Bernardo, s’en prendre aux propriétaires
d’armes de poing respectueux de la loi ne contribuera en rien a
combattre la criminalité par arme a feu qui sévit dans nos villes
et nos villages.

De toute évidence, les membres des gangs criminalisés ne se
soucient pas des lois et ne vont certainement pas se plier aux
désirs des villes qui choisissent d’interdire les armes de poing.
Faites respecter les interdictions de tirer sur les gens. Faites
respecter les interdictions visant la détention illégale d’armes de

poing.

Je crois savoir qu’un grand ombre de témoins, notamment
1’ Association canadienne des chefs de police, ont déja présenté
des commentaires sur I’application des lois. Je souhaite lire un
commentaire qui a défrayé la manchette nationale. Il y en a eu
plusieurs de la sorte. « Les chefs de police canadiens n’appuient
pas linterdiction des armes de poing, en affirmant qu’elle
n’empécherait pas ’entrée d’armes au pays ». Adam Palmer,
chef de la police de Vancouver, a déclaré que « Les lois sur les
armes a feu au Canada sont en fait trés bonnes a 1’heure actuelle.
Elles sont trés strictes. »

Des experts se sont prononcés a plusieurs reprises. Un groupe
de sept universitaires et médecins ont adressé ensemble une
lettre au Sénat. Nous sommes tous d’accord.

En conclusion, je dirai qu’il faut s’efforcer d’intensifier les
efforts d’application de la loi. C’est vraiment notre perception.
Corriger les lacunes de notre systéme de libération sous caution
et renforcer nos services frontaliers.

Je vous remercie chaleureusement, et il me fera plaisir de
répondre a vos questions.

Le président : Merci beaucoup, monsieur McCullough.

Adjudant-maitre (2 la retraite) Richard James
Ostashower, instructeur, Cours canadien de sécurité dans le
maniement des armes a feu, ancien militaire et instructeur de
police en maniement des armes a feu : Honorables sénateurs,
mesdames et messieurs, merci de m’écouter aujourd’hui. J’ai
beaucoup de choses a dire.

Depuis mon entrée au service de police de Calgary en 1989,
j’ai lu et étudié la Charte canadienne des droits et libertés, la
Déclaration canadienne des droits et le Code criminel. A la
lumieére de ces documents essentiels, j’estime que le projet de
loi C-21 n’a aucune corrélation, ou si peu, avec la sécurité
publique. Il comporte plusieurs divergences directes, voire des
contradictions, par rapport a la Charte et a la Déclaration des
droits, en particulier au chapitre de la jouissance des biens.
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I must point out that I have maintained contact with many
people of varying ranks and positions within the Calgary Police
Service, the RCMP and the military, and I’'m regularly kept
abreast of many of the circumstances and situations they are

labouring under. After speaking with several extremely
knowledgeable people — and I'm fortunate to know very
many — [ have decided against speaking out about how

Bill C-21 affects me personally. I shall emphasize instead several
points that have multiple effects on our country writ large.

The first point I wish to make is about the negative effect
some of the bans have and will continue to have on our society’s
safety. I’'m referring to the inability of police and military, as
well as public agents and armed guards, to purchase for private
use and practice firearms that are either similar or, in some
instances, identical to their service firearms.

I recently met a young woman in a local shooting range who
had purchased a Glock 17 — 9 mm semi-automatic pistol for
those who may not be aware of it — and was practising with it.
She obviously had well-taught drills and skills, so I asked her
what her regimental number was — her police identifier. The
young lady told me that she had failed the RCMP recruitment
course at Depot Division in Regina because of her difficulty with
firing the RCMP-issue firearm. She’d subsequently applied for
and been accepted to the Calgary Police Service and was
preparing for that. Her devotion to never quitting was evident
through her tenacity in learning how to handle what would
become her service firearm. She had paid the better part of
$1,000 for the gun — although I didn’t ask for specifics — and
only she knows how much time and ammunition she has spent
practising with it. Obviously, this happened before the handgun
freeze, so this is an option not available to others of the same ilk.

I spoke with someone who told me she had learned of a recent
gun show in Irma, Alberta, not far from Canadian Armed Forces
base Wainwright, where I have spent many years. A military
couple at this gun show came up and spoke with her, and she
questioned them, of course, about what they do and their views
on what’s happening now. Their response was that we, as a
military, are hurting. We have 25 rounds of ammunition per
annum to practise with and 25 rounds to do a basic weapons
proficiency test with. That’s it. Granted, these must be young
soldiers and probably not infantry, but they still have to know
how to use their firearms.

Having served over 40 years in the Canadian Armed Forces
and almost 13 years with the Calgary Police Service as a civilian
member of the firearms unit, I know that these are new
developments. When I was in the army, especially attached to

Je souligne que je suis resté en contact avec de nombreuses
personnes occupant différents rangs et positions au service de
police de Calgary, a la GRC et dans I’armée, et que ces individus
me tiennent réguliérement au courant des circonstances et des
situations dans lesquelles ils exercent leur travail. Aprés avoir
parlé avec plusieurs personnes extrémement bien renseignées —
et j’ai la chance d’en connaitre beaucoup —, j’ai décidé de ne
pas parler de la facon dont le projet de loi C-21 me touche
personnellement, mais plutot de faire ressortir plusieurs points
qui ont de multiples effets sur notre pays dans son ensemble.

Tout d’abord, je souhaite souligner D’effet négatif que
certaines interdictions ont et continueront d’avoir sur la sécurité
de notre société. Je parle ici de I’impossibilité pour les policiers
et les militaires, ainsi que pour les agents publics et les gardes
armés, d’acheter pour leur usage personnel, et de s’entrainer
avec, des armes a feu similaires ou dans certains cas identiques a
leurs armes de service.

Dans une galerie de tir locale, j’ai récemment rencontré une
jeune femme qui s’entrainait avec un Glock 17 — un pistolet
semi-automatique 9 mm, pour ceux qui I’ignorent — qu’elle
avait acheté. Comme elle était manifestement rompue aux
exercices et techniques de tir, je lui ai demandé quel était son
numéro matricule, c’est-a-dire son identifiant dans la police. Elle
m’a répondu qu’elle avait échoué au cours de recrutement de la
GRC a la Division Dépot de Regina parce qu’elle avait de la
difficulté a tirer avec I’arme a feu de service de la GRC. Par la
suite, elle avait postulé et avait été acceptée au service de police
de Calgary, et elle se préparait a son nouvel emploi. La ténacité
qu’elle démontrait a apprendre & manier ce qui allait devenir son
arme a feu de service témoignait ¢éloquemment de son
inébranlable détermination. Elle avait payé prés de 1 000 $ pour
I’arme — je n’ai pas demandé plus de précisions —, et elle seule
sait combien de temps et de munitions elle a consacrés a
s’entrainer avec son arme. Evidemment, cela remonte avant le
gel des armes de poing, et c’est donc une option qui n’est plus
possible pour les personnes de la méme trempe.

J’ai aussi parlé a une femme qui était allée a une foire d’armes
a feu a Irma, en Alberta, non loin de la base des Forces armées
canadiennes Wainwright ou j’ai passé de nombreuses années.
Apres avoir commencé a discuter avec un couple militaire, elle
les a évidemment interrogés sur leur travail et sur ce qu’ils
pensent de la situation actuelle. Leur réponse a été qu’en tant que
militaires, ils souffraient. On leur donne 25 cartouches par an
pour s’entrainer, et 25 cartouches pour passer un test d’aptitude
au maniement des armes. C’est tout. Je suppose qu’il s’agit de
jeunes soldats qui ne servent probablement pas dans ’infanterie,
mais il faut quand méme qu’ils sachent comment utiliser leurs
armes a feu.

Ayant servi plus de 40 ans dans les Forces armées canadiennes
et pres de 13 ans au service de police de Calgary comme membre
civil de I'unité des armes a feu, je sais pertinemment qu’il s’agit
la d’une nouvelle conjoncture. Quand j’étais dans ’armée, en
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combat arms units, there was never a shortage of training
ammunition. In fact, I spent over 10 years on rifle teams where it
was not uncommon for an individual to expend upwards of 1,000
rounds a day, and we would be shooting for five days a week for
months and months at a time.

We had shooting teams, as I said, in both organizations, and I
was proud to be part of them. I know that after 10 years of being
on various shooting teams, I fired well into the millions of
rounds of ammunition. Part of being accepted as an expert
witness in Alberta in both the provincial court and Court of
Queen’s Bench — able to deliver opinion evidence on firearms,
ammunition, explosives and other weapons — was my history of
shooting and utilizing many different firearms systems.

While I was with the Calgary Police Service, there was a
requirement to qualify with one sidearm three times a year —
once every four months. Wednesday evenings —

The Chair: Mr. Ostashower, I’m sorry to interrupt. Could you
wrap up please in the next 15 seconds or so? Thanks.

MWO Ostashower: Certainly.

They no longer have that. They now qualify twice a year. The
big problem is liability. What happens when somebody who is
not trained and not allowed to keep their proficiency shoots the
wrong person? Everybody loses at that point: the person who’s
shot, the person who does the shooting and the family.

For myself, my fircarms — and I won’t go into them — are
now literally not worth the price of scrap metal because I can’t
even do that to them. They are wall hangers in my vault.

Bill C-21 is bad law, and you, honourable senators, have the
ability to stop it. I ask of you, with all humbleness and respect, to
you bring this into consideration.

Thank you, sir.
The Chair: Thanks very much, Mr. Ostashower.

We’ll now go to questions. We have to finish at six o’clock.
We have four minutes for each question and answer, with the
30-second warning card that you’re familiar with. We go to the
deputy chair, Senator Dagenais, for our first question.

[Translation]

Senator Dagenais: I’ll get right to the point. My questions are
for Mr. McCullough.

particulier dans les unités d’armes de combat, nous n’avons
jamais manqué de munitions d’entrainement. En fait, j’ai passé
plus de 10 ans dans des équipes de tir ou il n’était pas rare qu’un
individu brlle plus de 1 000 cartouches par jour, et nous nous
entrainions au tir cinqg jours par semaine pendant des mois et des
mois.

Comme je 1’ai dit, nous avions des équipes de tir dans les deux
organisations, et j’étais fier d’en faire partie. Je sais qu’en
10 années dans diverses équipes de tir, j’ai certainement tiré des
millions de cartouches. Mon expérience de tir et dans
I’utilisation de nombreux systémes d’armes a feu différents —
ma capacité de donner un avis d’expert sur les armes a feu, les
munitions, les explosifs et d’autres armes — a contribué¢ a mon
acceptation comme témoin expert en Alberta, tant au tribunal
provincial qu’a la Cour du Banc de la Reine.

Quand j’étais au service de la police de Calgary, nous devions
nous qualifier au tir a I’arme de poing trois fois par année — une
fois aux quatre mois. Les mercredis soirs...

Le président : Monsieur Ostashower, désolé de vous
interrompre, mais pourriez-vous conclure dans les 15 prochaines
secondes s’il vous plait? Merci.

L’adjum Ostashower : Certainement.

Ce n’est plus le cas aujourd’hui. Ils se qualifient désormais
deux fois par année. Le gros probléme, c’est celui de la
responsabilité. Qu’est-ce qui arrive quand quelqu’un qui n’est
pas form¢ et qui n’est pas en mesure de conserver ses aptitudes
tire sur la mauvaise personne? Tout le monde est alors perdant :
la personne touchée, la personne qui tire et la famille.

En ce qui me concerne, mes armes a feu — je n’en parlerai
pas — ne valent littéralement plus le prix de la ferraille, parce
que je ne peux méme pas les céder a un ferrailleur. Elles
garnissent les murs de mon coffre-fort.

Le projet de loi C-21 est une mauvaise mesure législative et
vous, honorables sénateurs, avez la capacité d’y mettre fin. Je
vous demande, en toute humilité et avec tout le respect que je
vous dois, d’en tenir compte.

Je vous remercie.
Le président : Merci beaucoup, monsieur Ostashower.

Nous allons maintenant passer aux questions. Nous devons
terminer & 18 heures. Nous consacrerons quatre minutes a
chaque question et réponse, avec le carton d’avertissement de
30 secondes que vous connaissez. Pour la premiére question,
nous passerons au vice-président, le sénateur Dagenais.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Dagenais : Je vais aller droit au but. Mes
questions s’adresseront 8 M. McCullough.
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Mr. McCullough, you sell components to repair guns, and we
know the new 3D printing firearm manufacturing phenomenon is
very worrisome.

Can people who illegally manufacture plastic firearms buy the
components you sell and incorporate them into illegal weapons?
What kind of control do you have over that?

[English]

Mr. McCullough: That’s a very interesting question. Thank
you, sir.

With our particular Savage Arms models and designs, I would
say no. We do not sell those types of components. If someone
was to be nefarious and buy a Savage Arms rifle and start taking
it apart and trying to re-engineer, that could be possible.
However, we make rifles that are not in the 3-D printing and 3-
D metal. But it is the technology, and 3-D printing is available
now in metal, as you know, for aerospace parts.

[Translation]

Senator Dagenais: [ checked out a website for a Quebec
business that sells hunting gear. It sells some of your Savage
Arms Canada Inc. products, including various magazines that
can hold up to 10 rounds. Bill C-21 would limit the number of
rounds in semi-automatic weapons.

Is that limit realistic? Do you think it will make people safer?
Is it true that it’s easy for people who want to circumvent the law
to modify a magazine? I believe it can be done by unscrewing a
single screw. Correct me if I’'m wrong.

[English]

Mr. McCullough: For rim-fire ammunition, if that’s what
you’re referring to, we sell 10-round magazines, yes. If I’'m
clear, with centre-fire ammunition, you’re not allowed more than
five rounds for hunting. It has already been testified that five
rounds is the most you can get in a centre-fire magazine today in
Canada. Ten-round would only be available in rim-fire, unless
you were at a specific range, and then you would be allowed a
10-round magazine. But my understanding on the centre-fire side
is that’s the absolute maximum in Canada — 10 rounds.

Monsieur McCullough, vous vendez des pic¢ces pour réparer
des armes a feu et nous savons que le nouveau phénomene de la
fabrication d’armes au moyen d’imprimantes 3D est
particuliérement inquiétant.

Est-il possible pour ceux qui fabriquent illégalement des armes
en plastique d’acheter des piéces de réparation d’armes que vous
offrez sur le marché pour ensuite les inclure dans des armes
illégales? Quel genre de contréle pouvez-vous exercer?

[Traduction]

M. McCullough : C’est une question trés intéressante, et je
vous en remercie.

Pour ce qui est des configurations et des modeéles que nous
offrons chez Savage Arms, je dirais que non. Nous ne vendons
pas ce type de composantes. Si une personne malintentionnée
achetait un fusil de Savage Arms, le démontait et essayait de le
réingénier, ce serait peut-&tre possible. Cependant, nous n’avons
pas recours a I’impression 3D, au métal 3D, pour fabriquer nos
fusils. Mais la technologie d’impression 3D est désormais
disponible pour le métal, comme vous le savez, pour les piéces
aérospatiales.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Dagenais : J’ai vu sur un site de commerce
québécois de chasse, qui vend certains de vos produits de marque
Savage Arms Canada Inc., une offre de différents chargeurs qui
peuvent contenir parfois 10 projectiles. Le projet de loi C-21
veut limiter le nombre de projectiles dans les armes semi-
automatiques.

Cette restriction est-elle valable? Croyez-vous que cela va
augmenter la sécurité des citoyens? Est-il vrai qu’il est facile de
modifier un chargeur pour ceux qui veulent contourner la loi? Je
crois que cela est possible en dévissant seulement une vis;
corrigez-moi si je me trompe.

[Traduction]

M. McCullough : Pour les munitions a percussion annulaire,
si c’est ce a quoi vous faites référence, effectivement nous
vendons des chargeurs de 10 balles. Si je comprends bien, pour
les munitions & percussion centrale, on n’a pas droit a plus de
cinq cartouches pour la chasse. Un témoin a déja dit que cinq
cartouches c’est le maximum que peut contenir un chargeur de
cartouches a percussion centrale aujourd’hui au Canada. Seuls
les chargeurs de cartouches a percussion annulaire peuvent
contenir 10 cartouches, a moins qu’une galerie de tir spécifique
vous donne droit a un chargeur de dix cartouches. Mais d’apres
ce que je comprends, pour les armes a percussion centrale, c’est
le maximum absolu au Canada : 10 cartouches.
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[Translation]

Senator Dagenais: You're in charge of an American
company that makes and sells guns and gun parts in Canada. |
don’t doubt that Bill C-21 will impact your business in many
ways, but can you quickly compare American and Canadian gun
buyers? I’'m sure you have different marketing strategies for each
country.

[English]

Mr. McCullough: I want to be clear. We are manufacturing
firearms in Lakefield, Ontario. We’re not a retailer in that sense.
I wouldn’t know the American laws per se to comment on this
state.

[Translation]

Senator Dagenais: Don’t you sell guns in the United States?
Don’t you do any business with the United States?

[English]

Mr. McCullough: Yes. We sell our rim-fire rifles in the U.S.,
and Savage Arms is also manufacturing firearms in the U.S. We
export 94% of all the firearms we make to America and the
world. Again, as the other witness testified, to be up on every
single country’s firearms laws — I would not profess to know
that.

Senator Oh: Thank you, witnesses, for joining us.

My question is around compensation for handgun sales and the
purchase ban. The government has offered no compensation for
its decision to ban the purchase and sale of handguns. These
firearms have been acquired legally and in good faith by licensed
firearms owners, and the government decided to arbitrarily ban
their sales and purchase. Do you have any estimate as to the
monetary impact on restricted firearms owners of these
measures? Do you believe that the government should offer
compensation for this action, which obviously has a negative
impact on the value of these firearms?

Mr. McCullough: On the first, I would defer the question to
Mr. Bernardo, who is more able to answer it.

The second question, however, I will answer. Yes, absolutely.
I believe, as was already testified, that this is a grab. People have
value in their collections and in their estates. I met a gentleman
at the Clays for Kids shoot last month, a cancer fundraiser, who
had literally hundreds of thousands of dollars in an 1880s
handgun collection, for example. The monetary value would be

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Dagenais : Vous étes a la téte d’une entreprise
américaine qui fabrique et vend des armes et des piéces d’armes
au Canada. Je ne doute pas que le projet de loi C-21 va changer
bien des aspects dans vos activités commerciales, mais pouvez-
vous faire une comparaison rapide entre 1’acheteur d’armes
américain et I’acheteur d’armes canadien? Je présume que vous
avez slrement une approche commerciale différente dans les
deux pays.

[Traduction]

M. McCullough : Je tiens a préciser : nous fabriquons des
armes a feu a Lakefield, en Ontario. Nous ne sommes pas un
détaillant d’armes. Je ne connais pas assez les lois américaines
pour me prononcer a ce sujet.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Dagenais : Ne vendez-vous aucune arme aux
Etats-Unis? Ne faites-vous aucun commerce avec les Etats-Unis?

[Traduction]

M. McCullough : Oui. Nous vendons nos fusils a percussion
annulaire aux Etats-Unis, et Savage Arms fabrique également
des armes a feu aux Etats-Unis. Nous exportons 94 % de toute
notre production vers les Etats-Unis et le reste du monde. Encore
une fois, comme I’a dit P’autre témoin, je ne prétends pas
connaitre a fond les lois sur les armes a feu de tous les pays.

Le sénateur Oh : Je remercie les témoins de leur présence
aujourd’hui.

Ma question porte sur la compensation pour les ventes d’armes
de poing et sur I’interdiction d’achat. Le gouvernement n’a offert
aucune compensation dans sa décision d’interdire 1’achat et la
vente d’armes de poing. Méme si ces armes ont été acquises
légalement et en toute bonne foi par des personnes titulaires d’un
permis, le gouvernement a arbitrairement décidé d’en interdire la
vente et 1’achat. Avez-vous une idée de 1’impact monétaire de
ces mesures sur les propriétaires d’armes a feu a autorisation
restreinte? Pensez-vous que le gouvernement devrait offrir une
indemnisation pour cette décision, qui a manifestement un
impact négatif sur la valeur de ces armes a feu?

M. McCullough : Je renverrai la premiére question a
M. Bernardo, qui sera plus en mesure d’y répondre.

Je répondrai toutefois & la deuxiéme question. Oui,
absolument. Je pense, comme un témoin 1’a déja dit, qu’il s’agit
d’une confiscation. Les collections d’armes que les gens
possedent et qu’ils entendent léguer ont de la valeur. Le mois
dernier par exemple, lors du tournoi de tir Clays for Kids, qui est
une collecte de fonds contre le cancer, j’ai rencontré un homme
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huge. If the government is going to arbitrarily make these guns
illegal, I think they have a responsibility to compensate the
owners.

Senator Oh: This is similar to people who collect art for their
retirement.

The Chair: Mr. Bernardo, did you want to answer the first
question?

Mr. Bernardo: Yes, I would. Thank you very much.

Senator Oh, there are a number of large collections. There are
a number of small collections. Some of the collections might be
only two or three handguns, and those collections would be
worth, for example, $2,000 or $3,000. The larger collections, as
Mr. McCullough said, could be worth well into the hundreds of
thousands of dollars. The point is that it doesn’t matter if it’s
$1 or $100,000. The federal government shouldn’t be taking
money from Canadians through confiscation of their legally
acquired property. There is no compensation scheme attached to
this. I would guesstimate that the overall value of handguns
would be into the hundreds of millions of dollars across the
entire country.

Senator Oh: Thank you.

Senator M. Deacon: Thank you all for being here with us
today.

Mr. Bernardo, as we look at witnesses, I try to have a look at
your websites and learn what I can about you ahead of time,
usually in committee. On CSSA’s, I found some commentary on
the Hamas terrorist attack in Israel, which I’'ll quote here. It
makes sense.

An old saying reminds us, “You don’t need a gun until you
NEED a gun.”

The world saw this proved true in the most horrific ways
over the weekend. Hamas terrorist atrocities in Israel
continue, with no end in sight.

It’s a stark and brutal reminder of why the Americans have
the Second Amendment in their Constitution.

There cannot be a right to life without the corollary right to
possess the tools required to protect and defend that life.

Israel forgot that historical lesson and, to the world’s horror,
is paying the price for it today.

qui possédait une collection d’armes de poing des années 1880
valant littéralement des centaines de milliers de dollars. La
valeur monétaire serait énorme. Si le gouvernement rend
arbitrairement ces armes illégales, je pense qu’il a la
responsabilité de dédommager les propriétaires.

Le sénateur Oh : C’est la méme chose pour les personnes qui
collectionnent des ceuvres d’art en vue de leur retraite.

Le président : Monsieur Bernardo, voulez-vous répondre a la
premiére question?

M. Bernardo : Oui, merci.

Monsieur le sénateur, il existe un certain nombre de grandes
collections et un certain nombre de petites collections. Certaines
collections ne comprennent que deux ou trois armes de poing, et
valent disons 2 000 ou 3 000 $. Les collections plus
conséquentes, comme 1’a dit M. McCullough, peuvent facilement
atteindre des centaines de milliers de dollars. En fait, peu
importe si la collection vaut 1 ou 100 000 $. Le gouvernement
fédéral ne devrait pas s’approprier I’argent des Canadiens en
confisquant leurs biens légalement acquis, sans prévoir aucun
systéme d’indemnisation. J’estime que pour I’ensemble du pays,
la valeur globale des armes de poing s’éléve a plusieurs
centaines de millions de dollars.

Le sénateur Oh : Merci.

La sénatrice M. Deacon : Je vous remercie tous de vous
joindre a nous.

Monsieur Bernardo, lorsque nous nous préparons a vous
accueillir comme témoins, j’essaie de jeter un coup d’ceil a vos
sites Web et d’apprendre ce que je peux sur vous, habituellement
en comité. Sur celui de I’Association des sports de tir du Canada,
j’ai trouvé un commentaire sur 1’attaque terroriste du Hamas en
Israél, que je vais citer ici. Il a du sens.

Un vieux dicton nous rappelle que « vous n’avez pas besoin
d’une arme tant que vous n’avez pas BESOIN d’une arme ».

Ce week-end, le monde en a vu la preuve la plus horrible
qui soit. Les atrocités commises par les terroristes du Hamas
en Israél se poursuivent, sans qu’aucune fin ne soit en vue.

C’est un rappel frappant et brutal de la raison pour laquelle
les Américains ont inscrit le deuxiéme amendement dans
leur Constitution.

I ne peut y avoir de droit a la vie sans le droit corollaire de
posséder les outils nécessaires pour protéger et défendre
cette vie.

Israél a oublié cette legon historique et, a I’horreur du
monde, en paie le prix aujourd’hui.
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This post did give me a chance to stop in my tracks to pause
and reflect, as I believe promoting firearms for personal
protection is misguided. Research consistently shows that
families living in homes with guns face substantially higher risks
of being killed by a gun than those who don’t. It’s statements
like this one that make me think we need this handgun freeze
because, if people think owning a gun protects them and their
family, perhaps they bought into a false and potentially deadly
notion.

Is this one of the reasons why the CSSA opposes this bill?
Thus far, discussions on this bill have really focused a lot on
hunting and sport shooting, not weapons for self-defence.

Mr. Bernardo: Thank you, senator. I think I can address this
concern.

First, the article you were reading was a reflection on the U.S.
Second Amendment. Second, self-defence is legal in Canada.
You are allowed to defend yourself. While in Canada we do not
permit the use of firecarms for that purpose, in the gravest
extreme, it’s happened many times. People have defended
themselves thousands and thousands of times in our history, not
with just handguns but with rifles and shot guns too, particularly
in rural environments where they are defending themselves from
animals. I think we can all agree that if you have the right to life,
you have the right to defend that life. The Criminal Code of
Canada reinforces that. I don’t think there is any question about
that.

The particular commentary that we were talking about, which
you read on the website, was specifically addressed to the
situation in Israel because, at one point in time, Israel had wide
open laws. The federal government there went to a centralized
storage facility. You had to store your firearms in a central
storage facility, which was misguided to begin with. However,
they did that. As soon as the Hamas killing started, people
realized that they really needed those firearms. The federal
government threw the doors of the facility wide open and said,
“Come and get your firearms. If you don’t have any, we’ll give
you some.” It was more a comment on that very specific
situation rather than on Bill C-21. I hope that answers your
question.

Senator M. Deacon: Thank you.

Senator Plett: Mr. Bernardo, the minister was at our
committee a week ago and made some assertions. One of them
was about sport shooting clubs. He didn’t know of any that
didn’t support the bill. Yet, everyone in front of us has said they
certainly do not.

Cette publication m’a donné 1’occasion de m’arréter pour
réfléchir, car je pense que la promotion des armes a feu pour la
protection personnelle est une erreur. Des recherches montrent
régulierement que les familles vivant dans des foyers ou ’on
trouve des armes a feu courent un risque nettement plus élevé
d’étre tuées par une arme a feu que celles qui n’en ont pas. Ce
sont des déclarations comme celle-ci qui me font penser que
nous avons besoin de ce gel des armes de poing, car si les gens
pensent que posséder une arme a feu les protége, eux et leur
famille, ils ont peut-étre adhéré a une idée fausse et
potentiellement mortelle.

Est-ce 1’'une des raisons pour lesquelles 1’Association des
sports de tir du Canada s’oppose a ce projet de loi? Jusqu’a
présent, les discussions sur ce projet de loi se sont beaucoup
concentrées sur la chasse et le tir sportif, et non sur les armes
d’autodéfense.

M. Bernardo : Merci, sénatrice. Je pense pouvoir répondre a
cette préoccupation.

Tout d’abord, I’article que vous avez cité est une réflexion sur
le deuxiéme amendement américain. Ensuite, 1’autodéfense est
légale au Canada. Vous avez le droit de vous défendre. Bien
qu’au Canada nous n’autorisions pas I’utilisation d’armes a feu a
cette fin, dans les cas extrémes, cela s’est produit a de
nombreuses reprises. Des gens se sont défendus des milliers et
des milliers de fois dans notre histoire, non seulement avec des
armes de poing, mais avec des fusils et des armes d’épaule,
surtout dans les milieux ruraux ou ils se défendent contre les
animaux. Je pense que nous sommes tous d’accord pour dire que
si vous avez le droit a la vie, vous avez le droit de défendre cette
vie. Le Code criminel du Canada renforce ce principe. Je ne
pense pas qu’il y ait le moindre doute a ce sujet.

Le commentaire dont il est question, que vous avez lu sur le
site Web, traitait explicitement de la situation en Israél parce
que, 2 un moment donné, Israél avait des lois trés ouvertes. Le
gouvernement israélien y a mis en place un systéme de stockage
centralisé. Vous deviez stocker vos armes a feu dans un entrepdt
central, ce qui était malavisé de prime abord, mais c’est ce qu’ils
ont fait. Dés que la tuerie du Hamas a commencé, les gens ont
pris conscience qu’ils avaient vraiment besoin de ces armes a
feu. Le gouvernement israélien a ouvert toutes grandes les portes
de ’entrepo6t et a dit : « Venez chercher vos armes a feu. Si vous
n’en avez pas, nous vous en donnerons. » Il s’agissait davantage
d’un commentaire sur cette situation trés précise que sur le projet
de loi C-21. J’espere que cela répond a votre question.

La sénatrice M. Deacon : Je vous remercie

Le sénateur Plett : Monsieur Bernardo, le ministre a
comparu devant nous la semaine derniére et a fait quelques
affirmations, entre autres, & propos des clubs de tir sportif. Il
n’avait connaissance d’aucun club qui ne souscrivait pas au
projet de loi. Pourtant, tous ceux qui se sont présentés devant
nous ont dit sans équivoque qu’ils n’y souscrivaient pas.
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He said something else:

Again, the premise that this affects law-abiding gun owners
who pursue sports activities, such as hunting or sport
shooting, is a phrase that is often used. We have been
explicit and careful to ensure that these measures do not
target those people ...

Farmers or people in rural communities ... sportspersons,
people wusing firearms in northern and Indigenous
communities, they are not targeted or affected or included in
these measures that we’re trying to have adopted ...

In this quote, the minister says that persons engaged in sport
shooting, for example, are, in his words, not targeted, or
impacted by the bill. To me, it would seem that Bill C-21 is
almost virtually exclusively about that. For me, this statement is
almost a shocking level of untruth.

Mr. Bernardo, would you agree that sports persons, fire clubs
and hunters are not impacted by this bill? Do you know how
many individuals in shooting sports in Canada are impacted by
Bill C-21?

Mr. Bernardo: Thank you, Senator Plett.

I totally agree with you. The minister’s remarks were — let’s
be charitable — somewhat less than truthful because, frankly,
Bill C-21 only affects the law-abiding. It has no affect
whatsoever on the criminal use of firearms. It is strictly about the
law-abiding. Right now, approximately 1.2 million handguns are
owned by approximately 400,000 Canadians. Again, I’'m
paraphrasing these numbers off the top of my head. So yes, it
affects only the law-abiding. There is not a single thing in C-21
that affects the criminal use of firearms. Not a thing.

Senator Plett: You’re saying that about 400,000 people
would be negatively impacted by this bill? That is, 400,000 law-
abiding citizens would be negatively impacted by this bill?

Mr. Bernardo: That is correct, senator, as well as their
families, because you have to understand that, for a lot of people,
these collections are investments towards, for example, their
retirement years, and when they can no longer sell them, the
value of that investment plummets to absolutely zero. This is the
federal government literally stealing the money out of the bank
accounts of families left behind. It is a heinous act, and it should
be changed.

Senator Plett: Thank you very much, Mr. Bernardo.

Mr. Bernardo: Thank you, sir.

I1 a dit autre chose :

Encore une fois, I’idée que cela a une incidence sur les
propriétaires d’armes a feu respectueux de la loi qui
pratiquent des activités sportives, comme la chasse ou le tir
sportif, est souvent véhiculée. Nous avons été explicites et
avons fait attention pour que ces mesures ne ciblent pas ces
personnes [...]

Les agriculteurs ou les habitants des collectivités rurales [...]
sportifs et personnes utilisant des armes a feu dans les
collectivités nordiques et autochtones, ne sont pas visés,
touchés ni inclus dans les mesures que nous essayons de
faire adopter [...]

Dans cette situation, le ministre dit que les personnes
pratiquant le tir sportif, par exemple, ne sont pas, selon ses
termes, visées, touchées, ni incluses dans les mesures prévues
dans ce projet de loi. A mon sens, il semblerait que le projet de
loi C-21 concerne presque exclusivement ces personnes. A mon
sens, cette déclaration est presque une contre-vérité choquante.

Monsieur Bernardo, étes-vous d’accord pour dire que les
sportifs, les clubs de tir et les chasseurs ne sont pas touchés par
ce projet de loi? Savez-vous combien de personnes pratiquant le
tir sportif au Canada sont touchées par le projet de loi C-21?

M. Bernardo : Merci, sénateur Plett.

Je suis tout a fait d’accord avec vous. Les remarques du
ministre étaient, soyons charitables, quelque peu en deca de la
vérité parce que, franchement, le projet de loi C-21 ne touche
que les personnes respectueuses de la loi. Il n’a aucun effet sur
’utilisation criminelle des armes a feu. Il ne touche que les
personnes respectueuses de la loi. A 1’heure actuelle, quelque
400 000 Canadiens détiennent environ 1,2 million d’armes de
poing. Encore une fois, je vous donne ces chiffres de mémoire.
Donc, oui, cela ne touche que les personnes respectueuses de la
loi. Rien dans le projet de loi C-21 n’a d’incidence sur
I’utilisation criminelle des armes a feu. Rien du tout.

Le sénateur Plett : Vous dites qu’environ 400 000 personnes
seraient touchées par ce projet de loi? C’est-a-dire que 400 000
citoyens respectueux de la loi seraient touchés par ce projet de
loi?

M. Bernardo : C’est exact, sénateur, ainsi que leurs familles,
parce qu’il faut comprendre que, pour beaucoup de gens, ces
collections sont des investissements en vue de leur retraite, par
exemple, et que s’ils ne peuvent plus les vendre, la valeur de cet
investissement est réduite a néant. Le gouvernement fédéral vole
littéralement 1’argent des comptes bancaires des familles laissées
pour compte. C’est un acte odieux qui ne doit pas rester
inchangé.

Le sénateur Plett : Merci beaucoup, monsieur Bernardo.

M. Bernardo : Merci, monsieur.
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Senator Cardozo: Thank you to our witnesses for being here.

Just on the question of guns that are handed down from
generation to generation, Mr. McCullough, I will ask you: What
would be the range of value of those guns today?

Mr. McCullough: Mr. Bernardo mentioned it, but I’ll give
you an example. You can buy an Italian Perazzi shotgun that
ranges from €50,000 to — I think the top of the line is around
€250,000 — maybe €200,000. You can imagine the value of that
one shotgun as well as other products such as handguns and
things like that. The value can be as much as a Rolex watch, for
example. You can buy a very good serviceable tool for $60, or
you can buy one for $250,000.

Senator Cardozo: Does an antique, which may be in the
family for two or three generations, increase in price?

Mr. McCullough: It all depends not so much on the age but
on the specific model of the firearm. Does it have provenance? Is
it workable? Is it collectible? Tony certainly knows a lot more
about this on the handgun side than me. It’s like any other
question of value. It’s not necessarily age that makes it valuable.

Senator Cardozo: My other question is with regard to an
issue of culture, about which I asked a previous witness today.
An earlier witness talked about the fact that gun clubs and so
forth provide a certain culture for people. You get together and
get to know each other. We’re all members of various kinds of
groups in our lives, and certainly some people choose to be
involved in a gun club, for example, where one of the things they
do is recreational shooting. On the other side, we have heard
from women’s groups who are really concerned about the lives
of people who are affected by intimate partner violence. They are
not seeing it as a downtown-Toronto versus farm-in-Alberta kind
of dichotomy, but rather that women are killed by their male
partners in homes across the country. Sometimes in rural areas,
there is less support for women to escape the home and so forth.
Their point of view is, “It’s our lives versus somebody else’s
hobby.” That’s one of the points that was made to us. Would any
of you gentlemen care to comment on that cultural aspect of this
whole issue?

MWO Ostashower: I have had a lot of experience, especially
with the police and the shooting community in general, over
probably a period of sixty some odd years. I personally know
and shoot with several women and young girls, some as young as
mid-teens, who enjoy the sport for what it is. I briefly worked in
the domestic violence unit in the Calgary Police Service and
have no misapprehensions about what you are referring to or

Le sénateur Cardozo : Je remercie nos témoins de leur
présence.

En ce qui concerne les armes a feu transmises de génération en
génération, monsieur McCullough, je vais vous poser la question
suivante : quelle serait la valeur de ces armes aujourd’hui?

M. McCullough : M. Bernardo I’a mentionné, mais je vais
vous donner un exemple. Vous pouvez acheter un fusil de chasse
italien Perazzi dont la valeur varie entre 50 000 € et — je pense
que le meilleur exemplaire se situe autour de 250 000 € —
peut-étre 200 000 €. Vous pouvez imaginer la valeur de ce fusil,
ainsi que celle d’autres produits comme des armes de poing et
d’autres. La valeur peut étre équivalente a celle d’une montre
Rolex, par exemple. Vous pouvez acheter un trés bon outil en
état de marche pour 60 $, vous pouvez en acheter un pour
250 000 $.

Le sénateur Cardozo : Est-ce qu’une antiquité, qui peut étre
dans la famille depuis deux ou trois générations, augmente de
prix?

M. McCullough : Tout dépend non pas tant de 1’age que du
modele précis de I’arme & feu. Connait-on sa provenance? Est-
elle utilisable? Peut-elle étre collectionnée? Tony Bernardo en
sait certainement beaucoup plus que moi sur les armes de poing.
C’est comme toute autre question de valeur. Ce n’est pas
forcément 1’age qui détermine la valeur d’une arme.

Le sénateur Cardozo : Mon autre question porte sur la
culture, au sujet de laquelle j’ai interrogé un témoin précédent
aujourd’hui. Un témoin précédent a parlé du fait que les clubs de
tir et d’autres organismes du genre offrent une certaine culture
aux gens. On se réunit et on apprend a se connaitre. Nous
sommes tous membres de différents groupes au cours de notre
vie, et bien sir, certaines personnes choisissent de participer a un
club de tir, par exemple, ou ’'une de leurs activités est le tir
récréatif. D’un autre c6té, nous avons entendu des représentantes
de groupes de femmes qui sont vraiment préoccupées par la vie
des personnes touchées par la violence entre partenaires intimes.
Elles ne considérent pas qu’il s’agit d’une dichotomie entre le
centre-ville de Toronto et la ferme de 1’Alberta, mais plutdt du
fait que des femmes sont tuées par leurs partenaires masculins
dans des foyers a grandeur du pays. Parfois, dans les régions
rurales, les femmes disposent de moins d’aide pour s’échapper
du foyer, etc. Leur point de vue est le suivant : « C’est notre vie
contre le passe-temps d’une autre personne. » C’est ’'un des
points que 1’on nous a fait valoir. L’un d’entre vous pourrait-il
commenter cet aspect culturel de la question?

L’adjum Ostashower : J’ai acquis beaucoup d’expérience,
surtout avec la police et le milieu des tireurs sportifs en général,
sur une période d’environ 60 ans. Je connais personnellement
plusieurs femmes et jeunes filles, dont certaines au milieu de
I’adolescence, qui apprécient ce sport pour ce qu’il est et je
m’entraine au tir avec elles. J’ai briévement travaillé au sein de
I’unité de lutte contre la violence conjugale de la police de
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what these other witnesses referred to about a genuine fear of not
being able to escape or having that type of scenario thrust upon
them.

The overarching majority of firearms owners know and respect
the rules for safe storage. Those rules were written initially in
Bill C-68, which came into effect in 1995, to provide a calming-
down period. The firearms are locked up in a domestic or urban
situation. First of all, the firearms are locked up, so that has to be
overcome by disengagement —

Senator Cardozo: Do you mind if I interrupt?

The Chair: I shall have to interrupt, I’'m afraid, because we’re
about a minute over.

Senator Cardozo: I had another tiny question.

The Chair: Apologies.
[Translation]

Senator Boisvenu: Thank you to our witnesses. My question
is for Mr. Bernardo. We know that Bill C-68, which was passed
in 1995, was a financial fiasco for the government of the day.
According to some, we spent between $2 billion and $3 billion
on a practically useless registry. Now, the government is about to
spend that much again if we account for weapons that were
declared illegal in 2020 and the handguns the government will
eventually have to buy back.

How will the government hunt down gun owners — and a hunt
is exactly what it’ll be — to round up all those now-illegal
weapons? Based on past experience and Bill C-68, which was a
failure, and all the totally useless information about firearms,
how is the government going to round up all those weapons if
hunters don’t obey the law?

What a bill like this needs is for honest owners to obey it. If
they don’t obey it, how will the government round up all the
weapons it made illegal?

[English]

The Chair: Senator Boisvenu,
question?

could you restate your

Calgary et je n’ai aucun mal a comprendre ce & quoi vous faites
allusion ou ce que ces autres témoins ont dit a propos d’une
véritable peur de ne pas pouvoir s’enfuir ou de se voir imposer
ce type de scénario.

La grande majorité des propriétaires d’armes a feu connaissent
et respectent les régles du stockage sécuritaire. Ces régles ont été
inscrites initialement dans le projet de loi C-68, qui est entré en
vigueur en 1995, afin de prévoir une période d’apaisement. Les
armes a feu sont verrouillées dans une situation familiale ou
urbaine. Tout d’abord, les armes a feu sont verrouillées, et ce
verrouillage doit étre désactivé...

Le sénateur Cardozo : Vous me
interrompre?

permettez de vous

Le président : Je vais devoir vous interrompre, je le crains,
car nous avons dépassé le temps imparti d’environ une minute.

Le sénateur Cardozo : J’avais une autre question toute
breve.

Le président : Je suis désolé.
[Frangais]

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Merci a nos témoins. Ma question
s’adresse a M. Bernardo. On sait que le projet de loi C-68,
adopté en 1995, est un fiasco économique pour le gouvernement
en place. Certains disent que nous aurions dépensé entre
2 et 3 milliards de dollars pour un registre qui a été pratiquement
inutile. Aujourd’hui, le gouvernement s’engage a dépenser
environ la méme somme si on consideére les armes déclarées
illégales en 2020 et les armes de poing que le gouvernement
devra payer un jour s’il veut les récupérer.

Comment le gouvernement fera-t-il pour aller a la chasse aux
propriétaires d’armes — parce que ce sera cela — pour récupérer
toutes ces armes devenues illégales? Si on regarde 1’expérience
passée et le projet de loi C-68, qui est un échec, ou I’information
relative aux armes a feu est tout a fait inutile, comment le
gouvernement fera-t-il pour récupérer toutes ces armes si les
chasseurs n’adhérent pas a ce projet de 1oi?

Dans le cadre d’un projet de loi de cette nature, la premiére
chose exigée est que les honnétes propriétaires adhérent a ce
projet de loi. S’ils n’adhérent pas a ce projet de loi, comment le
gouvernement fera-t-il pour récupérer toutes ces armes qu’il a
lui-méme déclarées illégales?

[Traduction]

Le président : Sénateur Boisvenu, pourriez-vous reformuler
votre question?
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[Translation]

Senator Boisvenu: Basically, I was saying that Bill C-68,
which led the government to spend somewhere between
$2 billion and $3 billion to keep track of gun owners, is now
widely recognized as a failure both financially and in terms of
the relationship with hunters. Hunters didn’t update their info,
rendering the registry useless.

Now, according to some, the government is planning to invest
$750 million. However, if we account for all the weapons that
are now illegal, including handguns and the 1,500 semi-
automatic weapons, that is likely to end up being more like
$2 billion.

Any buy-back program relies on hunter compliance because
hunters will have to voluntarily surrender their now-illegal
weapons, but it’s clear that hunters and honest gun owners are
not participating in the program.

How will the government find these supposedly illegal hunters
who own these weapons now and get those guns back when there
is no valid record of them? How is the government going to
get all those weapons back if hunters and owners don’t
participate in the program?

[English]

MWO Ostashower: Senator, the short answer to that is that
many of the firearms described in Bill C-21 are, in fact, already
restricted. Of course, all the handguns are and many of the long
guns, although by no means all. Theoretically, the RCMP is fully
aware of which restricted handguns or long guns are where. It’s
simply a matter of looking it up, very much as one would look
something up in an automobile registry. For those firearms that
are not restricted, however, there is no realistic method of
finding out where they are.

[Translation]

Senator Boisvenu: Bill C-68 said the registry had to keep that
info up to date, but is the RCMP’s info about the people who’ve
owned these weapons for 20 or 30 years up to date?

[English]

MWO Ostashower: No. As a matter of fact, when I was with
the firearms unit, one of the last conversations I had in 2000 with
my counterpart at the firearms registry service in Ottawa, at the
RCMP, was his estimation that as much as 50% of the

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Boisvenu : En résumé, je disais que le projet de
loi C-68, en vertu duquel on a dépensé entre 2 et 3 milliards de
dollars pour controler les propriétaires d’armes a feu,
aujourd’hui tout le monde 1’admet, est un constat d’échec
financier et sur le plan des relations avec les chasseurs. Comme
ces derniers n’ont pas fait leur modification, le registre est
devenu inopérable.

Le gouvernement compte maintenant investir, selon certains,
une somme de 750 millions de dollars. Toutefois, si on compte
toutes les armes qui ont été décrétées illégales, incluant les armes
de poing et les 1 500 armes semi-automatiques, la dépense risque
d’étre de I’ordre de 2 milliards de dollars au bout du compte.

Tout programme de remise des armes — car les chasseurs
devront, sur une base volontaire, remettre leurs armes déclarées
illégales — doit s’en remettre a 1’adhésion des chasseurs a ce
programme. Or, manifestement, les chasseurs et les honnétes
propriétaires d’armes a feu n’adhérent pas a ce programme.

Comment le gouvernement fera-t-il pour trouver les chasseurs
dits illégaux qui aujourd’hui posseédent ces armes, dans le but de
les récupérer, alors qu’il n’existe plus aucun registre valide de
ces armes? Comment le gouvernement entend-il récupérer toutes
ces armes si les chasseurs et les propriétaires n’adhérent pas a ce
programme?

[Traduction]

L’adjum Ostashower : Sénateur, la réponse bréve a cette
question est qu’en réalité, plusieurs des armes a feu décrites dans
le projet de loi C-21 sont déja a autorisation restreinte. Bien sir,
toutes les armes de poing le sont et beaucoup d’armes d’épaule,
mais pas toutes. En théorie, la GRC sait parfaitement quelles
armes de poing ou d’épaule a autorisation restreinte se trouvent a
quel endroit. Il suffit de faire une recherche, comme on le ferait
dans un registre d’immatriculation des automobiles. En ce qui
concerne les armes a feu qui ne sont pas a autorisation restreinte,
il n’existe aucun moyen réaliste de savoir ou elles se trouvent.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Boisvenu : En vertu du projet de loi C-68, on
disait que le registre devait garder ces données a jour. Toutefois,
I’information que détient la Gendarmerie royale du Canada sur
les personnes qui sont propriétaires de ces armes depuis 20 ou
30 ans est-elle a jour?

[Traduction)

L’adjum Ostashower : Non. En fait, lorsque je travaillais au
sein de I’unité des armes a feu, lors de I'une des derniéres
conversations que j’ai eues en 2000 avec mon homologue du
service d’enregistrement des armes a feu a Ottawa, a la GRC, il a
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information they had on firearms was incorrect, either by locale,
name, serial number, make, model, number of shots, anything
along those lines.

He further volunteered that he was under the impression that,
at that time, there were already 75,000 AR-15s in Canada
manufactured by Colt and others, but mostly by Colt, that had
been brought in before there was a requirement for them to be
registered. Therefore, they fit into the same category of
previously unregistered and unregulated with respect to those
firearms. Very few people turned them in or came forward and
said, “Yeah, [ have one. What do you want me to do with it?”

Senator Dasko: Thank you to the witnesses for being here
today.

My question is mainly for Mr. Bernardo. You spoke about
your opposition to the handgun restrictions, but I was looking at
a very significant survey of Canadian gun owners conducted by
Environics this year. They have reported that 65% of gun owners
in Canada favour banning assault-style firearms, 63% favour
restrictions on the sale, purchase or transfer of handguns, and
similar percentages support a number of other aspects of the bill
or restrictions and measures that are being taken. Mr. Bernardo,
is it possible that your organization, and maybe some of the other
firearms organizations that we have heard from, represent a
minority of gun owners in Canada? The majority support some
of these crucial and very reasonable measures in the bill.

Mr. Bernardo: Thank you, senator. I appreciate the question.

First of all, we’re not talking about lifting restrictions.
Handguns are extremely restricted now in Canada. As a matter of
fact, you have to have a permit to do absolutely anything with a
handgun. You can’t fire them, you can’t own them, and you
can’t do anything without the RCMP issuing a permit for you to
do that. We’re not talking about that. We’re talking about the
ban of handguns and the ban on the transfer of handguns, which,
of course, can only be transferred to somebody who is already
allowed to own them. You’re dealing with transferring a
handgun from one handgun owner to another handgun owner or
from a store to a handgun owner, all of which are conducted
within the purview of the RCMP regulations. We’re not asking
for those regulations to be lifted or changed; we’re asking them
not to be added to by a draconian bill.

Senator Dasko: Thank you for that, but I’m just reporting
that most gun owners in Canada favour these kinds of
restrictions, including the restrictions on the sale, purchase and
transfer of handguns. That is what this research is showing. It is
also showing support for the buy-back program and other aspects

estimé que 50 % des renseignements dont il disposait sur les
armes a feu étaient erronés, qu’il s’agisse de la localisation, du
nom, du numéro de série, de la marque, du modéle, du nombre
de coups, etc.

Il a ajouté qu’il avait ’impression qu’a 1’époque, il y avait
déja 75 000 AR-15 au Canada, fabriquées par Colt et d’autres,
mais surtout par Colt, qui étaient entrées au Canada avant qu’il
ne soit obligatoire de les enregistrer. Elles entraient donc dans la
méme catégorie d’armes a feu non enregistrées et non
réglementées. Trés peu de personnes les ont rapportées ou se
sont manifestées en disant : « Oui, j’en ai une. Que voulez-vous
que j’en fasse? »

La sénatrice Dasko : Je remercie les témoins de leur
présence.

Ma question s’adresse principalement & M. Bernardo. Vous
avez parlé de votre opposition aux restrictions visant les armes
de poing, mais j’ai consulté un sondage trés important mené cette
année par Environics auprés des propriétaires d’armes a feu
canadiens. Selon ce sondage, 65 % des propriétaires d’armes a
feu au Canada sont favorables a [I’interdiction des armes
d’assaut, 63 % sont favorables a des restrictions sur la vente,
I’achat ou la cession d’armes de poing, et des pourcentages
similaires souscrivent a plusieurs autres ¢éléments du projet de loi
ou aux restrictions et mesures qui sont prises. Monsieur
Bernardo, est-il possible que votre organisation, et peut-étre
certaines des autres organisations de défense des armes a feu que
nous avons entendues, représente une minorité de propriétaires
d’armes a feu au Canada? La majorité souscrit a certaines des
mesures cruciales et trés raisonnables contenues dans le projet de
loi.

M. Bernardo : Merci, sénatrice, pour cette question.

Tout d’abord, il ne s’agit pas de lever des restrictions. Les
armes de poing sont déja visées par d’importantes restrictions au
Canada. En fait, il faut un permis pour faire quoi que ce soit avec
une arme a feu. Vous ne pouvez pas les décharger, vous ne
pouvez pas les posséder, vous ne pouvez rien faire sans que la
GRC vous délivre un permis a cet effet. Nous ne parlons pas de
cela. Nous parlons de I’interdiction des armes de poing et de la
cession des armes de poing, qui, bien sir, ne peuvent étre cédées
qu’a une personne déja autorisée a les posséder. Il s’agit de la
cession d’une arme de poing d’un propriétaire d’armes de poing
a un autre ou d’un magasin a un propriétaire d’armes de poing,
toutes ces opérations étant régies par les réeglements de la GRC.
Nous ne demandons pas que ces réglements soient supprimés ou
modifiés; nous demandons qu’aucun ajout n’y soit apporté par
un projet de loi draconien.

La sénatrice Dasko : Je comprends, mais je souligne
simplement que la plupart des propriétaires d’armes a feu au
Canada sont favorables a ce genre de restrictions, y compris
celles visant la vente, 1’achat et la cession d’armes de poing.
C’est ce que cette étude révéle. Elle montre également un appui
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of federal involvement. I just wanted to make that point because
we have heard from you and others about your opposition to the
bill and what the bill says about handguns and assault-style
weapons, but Canadian gun owners, as a whole, seem to support
this. I'm suggesting that perhaps the members of the
organizations have come here to represent their members, but
they don’t represent gun owners as a whole in Canada. That’s
what I’m suggesting to you. I just wondered if you might agree
with that.

Mr. Bernardo: I certainly would understand where that
sentiment comes from. Certainly, handgun owners are in a
minority amongst the overall community of firearms owners, but
I would also remind you that democracy is two wolves and a
sheep deciding what to have for lunch. This really relates to that.
We have people who have committed no crime, and they have
jumped through every hoop the government has laid before them,
and now we’re looking at punishing them because they are in a
minority, where the object of government — at least democratic
government — is to protect minorities from intrusion.

Senator Dasko: Thank you.

Senator Kutcher: Thank you to the witnesses for being with
us today.

My question is for Mr. Ostashower. A previous witness talked
about an interest of target shooting organizations becoming more
involved in suicide prevention. My question is about your work
as a police firearms instructor. I apologize that I couldn’t find
Canadian data on this easily. If someone else knows, please
inform us. The American data I found from Blue H.E.L.P. is that
police officers have a much higher risk of suicide than any other
profession. They have more than triple that of officers who are
fatally injured in the line of duty, and 54% of police officers are
more likely to die by suicide than the general population. In
2019, the Police Executive Research Forum in the U.S. put
together a whole host of information about suicide and police
officers. As a police firearms instructor, when you are doing
your firearms instructing of police officers, do you discuss the
issues of suicide prevention, suicide and gun use in suicide? Is
that part of the course you teach? Are you aware of any specific
Canadian guidelines that the Calgary Police Force or any other
police force follows along that line when you instruct officers in
firearms?

MWO Ostashower: Thank you, senator.

The short answer is “no.” Bear in mind that I left the Calgary
Police Service in 2002 and continued on with other things, so
any information I would have with respect to what’s currently

au programme de rachat et a d’autres ¢léments de 1’intervention
du gouvernement fédéral. Je tenais a le souligner parce que vous
et d’autres nous avez fait part de votre opposition au projet de loi
et a ce qu’il dit au sujet des armes de poing et des armes
d’assaut, mais les propriétaires d’armes a feu canadiens, dans
I’ensemble, semblent souscrire a ce projet de loi. Je fais valoir
que les membres des organisations sont peut-étre venus ici pour
représenter leurs membres, mais qu’ils ne représentent pas
I’ensemble des propriétaires d’armes a feu au Canada. C’est ce
que je vous soumets. Je me demande simplement si vous étes
d’accord avec cela.

M. Bernardo : Il est certain que je comprends d’ou vient ce
sentiment. Il est certain que les propriétaires d’armes de poing
constituent une minorité parmi [’ensemble des propriétaires
d’armes a feu, mais je voudrais également vous rappeler que la
démocratie, c’est deux loups et un mouton qui décident de ce
qu’ils vont manger a midi. C’est vraiment ce dont il est question
ici. Nous avons des gens qui n’ont commis aucun crime, qui ont
franchi toutes les étapes que le gouvernement leur a imposées, et
maintenant nous envisageons de les punir parce qu’ils font
partie d’une minorité, alors que 1’objet du gouvernement, a tout
le moins d’un gouvernement démocratique, est de protéger les
minorités contre 1’intrusion.

La sénatrice Dasko : Je vous remercie.

Le sénateur Kutcher : Je remercie les témoins d’étre venus
aujourd’hui.

Ma question s’adresse a M. Ostashower. Un témoin précédent
a parlé de I’intérét des organisations de tir & la cible & s’engager
davantage dans la prévention du suicide. Ma question porte sur
votre travail en tant qu’instructeur au maniement des armes a feu
pour la police. Je suis désolé de ne pas avoir pu trouver
facilement de données canadiennes a ce sujet. Si quelqu’un les
connait, veuillez nous en informer. D’aprés les données
américaines que j’ai trouvées chez Blue H.E.L.P., les policiers
ont un risque de suicide beaucoup plus ¢élevé que toute autre
profession. Plus du triple de policiers sont mortellement blessés
dans I’exercice de leurs fonctions, et 54 % des policiers sont plus
susceptibles de mourir par suicide que la population générale. En
2019, le Police Executive Research Forum aux FEtats-Unis a
réuni toute une série de données sur le suicide et les policiers. En
tant qu’instructeur au maniement des armes a feu pour la police,
lorsque vous formez des policiers, traitez-vous de la prévention
du suicide, du suicide et de 1’utilisation d’une arme a feu dans le
cadre d’un suicide? Cela fait-il partie du cours que vous donnez?
Connaissez-vous les directives canadiennes précises que la
police de Calgary ou tout autre corps policier suit dans ce sens
lorsque vous formez les policiers au maniement des armes a feu?

L’adjum Ostashower : Merci, sénateur.

La réponse bréve est « non ». N’oubliez pas que j’ai quitté le
service de police de Calgary en 2002 et que j’ai poursuivi
d’autres activités, de sorte que tout renseignement dont je
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being taught would just be hearsay. As I said earlier, I’'m still
well connected with the RCMP, firearms people and the Calgary
police firearms unit — their firearms training unit, in particular.
When I was there, we didn’t have suicide prevention courses per
se for policemen. Certainly among the civilian members, there
was none of that. I believe some action was taken later on,
service-wide, for sworn members and non-sworn members to
become more aware of some of the signs of potential suicide, as
well as actions that could be taken.

With respect to American information, I can’t tell you. I can
tell you that as a veteran of the Canadian Armed Forces, there
are certainly orders of magnitudes more suicides there than there
had been pre-1990, for example. Suicides among the police have
always been a “not unusual” as opposed to a “common” event.
I’ve known many people over the years who have had the
proverbial .38-calibre heart attack. There’s not a lot that can be
said about that.

The Chair: Thank you.

We are just a little bit over time, so this does bring us to the
end of our panel. On behalf of the committee, thank you,
Mr. Ostashower, Mr. McCullough and Mr. Bernardo, for being
here and sharing your expertise and experiences with us. You
know there’s been a great deal of interest in what you’ve shared
with us today. It has been very helpful and clearly appreciated by
committee members around the room, so thank you very much.

Colleagues, we now have the pleasure of welcoming, by video
conference, from the Assembly of First Nations, Regional Chief
Terry Teegee, British Columbia, Assembly of First Nations; and
Julie McGregor, Legal Counsel, Assembly of First Nations.

Thanks for joining us today. I invite you to provide your
opening remarks, which will be followed by questions from our
members.

Terry Teegee, Regional Chief, British Columbia, Assembly
of First Nations: First of all, I want to acknowledge the
territory I’m calling from, the Lheidli T’enneh, Dakelh people
north of Prince George.

Good evening. I am the AFN Regional Chief of British
Columbia, and I am one of the portfolio holders for justice and
policing, along with my colleague, Regional Chief Ghislain
Picard from Quebec. I’'m grateful for this invitation to address
you today regarding Bill C-21.

I appeared before the House of Commons Standing Committee
on Public Safety and National Security a year ago, last
November, speaking on concerns that First Nations expressed
about the first version of this legislation, which was widely

disposerais sur ce qui est enseigné a I’heure actuelle ne serait que
du oui-dire. Comme je I’ai dit, je suis toujours en contact avec la
GRC, les responsables des armes a feu et I’unité des armes a feu
de la police de Calgary — leur unité¢ de formation au maniement
des armes a feu, en particulier. Lorsque j’y étais, nous n’avions
pas de cours de prévention du suicide & proprement parler pour
les policiers. 1l est certain qu’il n’y en avait pas du tout pour les
membres civils. Je crois que certaines mesures ont été prises plus
tard, a I’échelle du service, pour que les membres assermentés et
non assermentés soient plus conscients de certains signes d’un
suicide potentiel, ainsi que des mesures qui peuvent &tre prises.

En ce qui concerne les données américaines, je ne peux rien
vous dire. Je peux vous dire qu’en tant que vétéran des Forces
armées canadiennes, il y a certainement plus de suicides par
plusieurs ordres de grandeur, qu’avant 1990, par exemple. Les
suicides au sein de la police ont toujours été un événement « non
inhabituel » plutét que « courant ». Au fil des ans, j’ai connu de
nombreuses personnes qui ont eu la proverbiale crise cardiaque
au calibre 38. Il n’y a pas grand-chose a dire a ce sujet.

Le président : Je vous remercie.

Nous avons légerement dépassé le temps imparti, ce qui nous
améne a la fin de la discussion avec notre groupe de témoins. Au
nom du comité, je vous remercie, messieurs Ostashower,
McCullough et Bernardo d’étre venus nous faire profiter de vos
connaissances spécialisées et de votre expérience. Vous savez
que vos propos ont suscité beaucoup d’intérét. Ils ont été trés
utiles et manifestement appréciés par les membres du comité ici
présents, alors merci beaucoup.

Chers collégues, nous avons maintenant le plaisir d’accueillir,
par vidéoconférence, le chef régional de 1’Assemblée des
Premiéres Nations pour la Colombie-Britannique, Terry Teegee,
et Julie McGregor, conseillére juridique, de 1’Assemblée des
Premiéres Nations.

Merci de vous étre joints a nous. Je vous invite a faire votre
déclaration préliminaire, qui sera suivie des questions de nos
membres.

Terry Teegee, chef régional, Colombie-Britannique,
Assemblée des Premiéres Nations : Tout d’abord, je tiens a
reconnaitre que je vous appelle du territoire Lheidli T’enneh, du
peuple Dakelh au nord de Prince George.

Je suis le chef régional de I’APN pour la Colombie-
Britannique et 1’un des titulaires du portefeuille de la justice et
de la police, avec mon collégue, le chef régional Ghislain Picard
du Québec. Je vous remercie de m’avoir invité a m’adresser a
vous au sujet du projet de loi C-21.

Il y a un an, en novembre dernier, j’ai comparu devant le
Comité permanent de la sécurité publique et nationale de la
Chambre des communes pour parler des préoccupations
exprimées par les Premicres Nations au sujet de la premiére
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criticized by many First Nations across Canada. The federal
government has never provided evidence of deep consultation
with First Nations on the contents of Bill C-21, nor was consent
obtained with respect to any potential effects the bill might have
had on constitutionally protected rights, inherent rights, treaty
rights and section 35 rights.

As a First-Nations-elected leader and national representative
who knows and understands the serious issues facing our
communities, [ have to say I’'m deeply concerned about Bill C-21
proceeding without First Nations consultation and input into the
new amendments to this legislation.

Topic one, resolution 39, 2022, opposition to Bill C-21. Last
December, First Nations in assembly at the special chiefs
assembly passed emergency resolution 39, 2022, in opposition to
Bill C-21, federal gun-control legislation. Through this
resolution, First Nations in assembly call on the Government of
Canada to conduct proper and adequate consultation with First
Nations as required under the United Nations Declaration on the
Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act prior to enacting any
legislation impacting First Nations’ inherent, constitutionally and
protected treaty rights to sustenance hunting and harvesting.

First Nations in assembly also advocate to amend to Bill C-21,
including amending the red flag and yellow flag provisions to
ensure that First Nations’ inherent, constitutional and treaty
rights are respected and clarify how the red flag and yellow flag
provisions will apply to First Nations and First Nations citizens; .
create an oversight mechanism to ensure that the Chief Firearms
Officer consults with First Nations to ensure that orders do not
restrict First Nations’ access to firearms commonly used in
sustenance hunting; ensure additional provisions to support First
Nations police services and ensure that the resources they require
to maintain law and order within their jurisdictions is provided,
specifically in relation to root causes of gangs and gun violence;
and ensure additional provisions be implemented to support First
Nations’ prevention programs for youth in relation to gang
violence and illegal guns, as well as provincial programs
targeting gender-based violence and violence against First
Nations women, girls and gender-diverse peoples.

ébauche de ce projet de loi que de nombreuses Premiéres
Nations partout au Canada avaient abondamment critiquée. Le
gouvernement fédéral n’a jamais fourni la preuve d’une
consultation approfondie des Premieres Nations sur le contenu
du projet de loi C-21, et aucun consentement n’a été obtenu en ce
qui concerne les effets potentiels du projet de loi sur les droits
garantis par la Constitution, les droits inhérents, les droits issus
de traités et les droits garantis par 1’article 35.

En tant que dirigeant €lu et représentant des Premiéres Nations
qui connait et comprend les graves problémes auxquels nos
communautés sont confrontées, je dois dire que je suis
profondément préoccupé par la possibilit¢é que le projet de
loi C-21 soit adopté sans que les Premieres Nations aient été
consultées et aient donné leur avis sur les nouveaux
amendements a ce projet de loi.

Premier sujet, la résolution 39, 2022, opposition au projet de
loi C-21. En décembre dernier, les Premiéres Nations réunies en
assemblée lors de 1’assemblée extraordinaire des chefs ont
adopté la résolution d’urgence 39, 2022, qui s’oppose au projet
de loi C-21, une loi fédérale sur le controle des armes a feu. Par
cette résolution, les Premiéres Nations en assemblée demandent
au gouvernement du Canada de mener des consultations
appropriées et adéquates avec les Premiéres Nations, comme
I’exige la Loi sur la Déclaration des Nations unies sur les droits
des peuples autochtones, avant de promulguer toute loi ayant un
impact sur les droits inhérents, constitutionnels et protégés par
trait¢ des Premicres Nations a la chasse et a la récolte de
subsistance.

Les Premiéres Nations en assemblée demandent aussi
d’amender le projet de loi C-21, notamment les dispositions
relatives aux drapeaux rouges et aux drapeaux jaunes afin de
garantir le respect des droits inhérents, constitutionnels et issus
de traités des Premiéres Nations et de préciser comment ces
dispositions s’appliqueront aux Premiéres Nations et a leurs
citoyens; de créer un mécanisme de surveillance pour veiller a ce
que le contrdleur des armes a feu consulte les Premieres Nations
afin de s’assurer que les ordonnances ne restreignent pas 1’acces
des Premieres Nations aux armes & feu couramment utilisées
pour la chasse de subsistance; de prévoir des dispositions
supplémentaires pour aider les services de police des Premieres
Nations et veiller a ce que les ressources dont ils ont besoin pour
maintenir la loi et I’ordre sur leur territoire leur soient fournies,
surtout en ce qui concerne les causes profondes de la violence
des gangs et de la violence armée; et de veiller & ce que des
dispositions supplémentaires soient mises en ceuvre pour soutenir
les programmes de prévention des Premiéres Nations a
I’intention des jeunes en ce qui concerne la violence des gangs et
les armes illégales, ainsi que les programmes provinciaux ciblant
la violence sexospécifique et la violence contre les femmes, les
filles et les personnes de diverses identités de genre des
Premieres Nations.



6-11-2023

Sécurité nationale, défense et anciens combattants

41:59

Topic two, discretion of the firearms officer. This current
version of Bill C-21 continues to grant the Chief Firearms
Officer wide discretion over First Nations peoples’ use and
ownership of firearms used in the practice section 35 rights to
hunt. This becomes even more crucial for First Nations families
who rely upon the harvesting of wild meat for sustenance
purposes. First Nations peoples are already over-regulated when
it comes to the practice of section 35 harvesting rights. This will
only add to those constraints. We are, therefore again calling for
the amendment of Bill C-21 to include the creation of an
oversight mechanism to ensure that the Chief Firearms Officer
consults with First Nations to ensure that orders do not restrict
First Nations’ access to firearms used in sustenance hunting and
practice of section 35 rights.

Topic three, definition of “prohibited firearms.” Last week, the
Correctional Investigator of Canada, Dr. Ivan Zinger released his
annual report, which found that 32% of all federal inmates in
Canada and 50% of women are Indigenous compared to 25% in
2013. The report describes the country’s prison system as
disturbingly and unconscionably indigenized, with many
lingering hallmarks of colonialism that contribute to the ongoing
marginalization, criminalization and over-imprisonment of
Indigenous peoples in Canada. The over-policing and
criminalization of First Nations peoples are national disgraces,
according to the government’s own watchdog.

We cannot afford to enact more laws that have the potential to
criminalize First Nations for practising their culture and feeding
their families. I am not convinced that this version of Bill C-21
has completely remedied the overarch with respect to hunting
rifles. It is unclear what effect the technical definition of
“prohibited firearm” will have on future generations of First
Nations hunters. Perhaps the question could have been clarified
during consultations and engagement with First Nations, but that
has never occurred; rather what we have heard anecdotally is that
hunting associations and outfitters were consulted about this
version of the legislation more than First Nations. Therefore,
AFN recommends that Bill C-21 be withdrawn until such time
that First Nations have been fully consulted on the effects of the
technical definition of “prohibited firearm.”

Fourth, I would like to address the addition of clause 72.1, the
non-derogation clause. Hunting is an integral part of First
Nations culture. It is a part of First Nations’ relationship to the
land and provides a direct connection to the languages, cultures
and teachings of our ancestors. While inclusion of the

Deuxiéme sujet, le pouvoir discrétionnaire du préposé aux
armes a feu. La version actuelle du projet de loi C-21 continue
d’accorder au controleur des armes a feu un vaste pouvoir
discrétionnaire sur I’utilisation et la possession par les membres
des Premiéres Nations d’armes a feu utilisées dans I’exercice de
leur droit a chasser garanti par I’article 35. Cela devient encore
plus crucial pour les familles des Premiéres Nations dont la
subsistance dépend de la récolte de viande sauvage. Les
membres des Premiéres Nations sont déja surréglementés en ce
qui concerne ’exercice du droit de chasser prévu a ’article 35.
Cette mesure ne fera qu’ajouter a ces contraintes. Nous
demandons donc a nouveau que le projet de loi C-21 soit amendé
pour inclure la création d’un mécanisme de surveillance
garantissant que le contréleur des armes a feu consulte les
Premicres Nations pour s’assurer que les ordonnances ne
restreignent pas I’acceés des Premicres Nations aux armes a feu
utilisées pour la chasse de subsistance et I’exercice des droits
garantis a I’article 35.

Troisieéme sujet, la définition des « armes a feu prohibées ». La
semaine derniére, ’enquéteur correctionnel du Canada, Ivan
Zinger, a publié son rapport annuel qui révele que 32 % de tous
les détenus fédéraux au Canada et 50 % des femmes détenues
sont des Autochtones, contre 25 % en 2013. Le rapport décrit le
systéme pénitentiaire du pays comme étant indigénisé a un point
inquiétant et inadmissible, avec de nombreuses marques
persistantes du colonialisme qui contribuent au maintien de la
marginalisation, de la criminalisation et de 1’emprisonnement
excessif des Autochtones au Canada. L’intervention policiére
excessive contre les membres des Premiéres Nations et leur
criminalisation sont des hontes nationales, selon le propre organe
de surveillance du gouvernement.

Nous ne pouvons pas nous permettre de promulguer d’autres
lois susceptibles de criminaliser les membres des Premicres
Nations parce qu’ils pratiquent leur culture et nourrissent leurs
familles. Je ne suis pas convaincu que cette version du projet de
loi C-21 ait complétement remédié a la portée excessive
concernant les fusils de chasse. On ne connait pas précisément
I’effet que la définition technique d’une « arme a feu prohibée »
aura sur les générations futures de chasseurs des Premicres
Nations. La question aurait peut-étre pu étre clarifiée lors de
consultations et d’échanges avec les Premicres Nations, mais ils
n’ont jamais eu lieu. Nous avons plutét entendu que les
associations de chasseurs et les pourvoyeurs ont été consultés au
sujet de cette version du projet de loi plus que les Premiéres
Nations. Par conséquent, I’APN recommande que le projet de
loi C-21 soit retiré jusqu’a ce que les Premieres Nations aient été
pleinement consultées sur les effets de la définition technique
d’une « arme a feu prohibée ».

Comme quatriéeme sujet, j’aimerais parler de 1’ajout de
I’article 72.1, la disposition de non-dérogation. La chasse fait
partie intégrante de la culture des Premiéres Nations. Elle fait
partie de la relation des Premiéres Nations avec la terre et fournit
un lien direct avec les langues, les cultures et les enseignements
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non-derogation clause in clause 72.1 is a welcome addition, the
wording is likely to be neutral in effect. Given the broad nature
of the clause, it is unlikely to be interpreted as preventing
provisions in the bill from negatively impacting or infringing
section 35 rights. In practice, such a broadly worded
non-derogation clause could simply act as a reminder that
section 35 rights exist.

The wording for clause 72.1 does not meet the requirements of
the constitutional duties in Sparrow or Haida because it only
requires that the bill be construed as upholding section 35 rights.
There is no requirement for a duty under the bill to comply with
the test in Sparrow or minimal impairment or justification for
proven rights or the test under Haida to accommodate impacts of
asserted rights. Also, there is no mention of the United Nations
Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples or the principle
of free, prior and informed consent anywhere in the bill.
Therefore, the AFN recommends that clause 72.1(1) be amended
to comply with the relevant case law with respect to section 35
rights and the principle of free, prior and informed consent under
the UNDRIP Act to be added.

I thank you for your time. Thank you, mahsi’choo.
The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Teegee.

We will now proceed to questions. We will finish at 7 p.m.,
but we might run a little bit over. As with the last panel, each
question, including the answer, is limited to four minutes. I will
hold up a card to indicate when 30 seconds remain. I offer the
first question to the deputy chair.

[Translation]

Senator Dagenais: My question is for Mr. Teegee.
Mr. Teegee, Bill C-21 ostensibly protects women who are
victims of family violence at the hands of partners who have
guns in the home.

In cities, we hear about this kind of thing when someone is
murdered, but there must be many other cases of intimate partner
violence that don’t make headlines. Because your constitutional
right to own weapons is recognized and protected, these
Indigenous women won’t be better protected once the bill is
passed. What kind of danger do you think they’re in? What can
they do? What kind of intervention can you provide if there’s
violence involving a firearm?

de nos ancétres. Bien que I’inclusion de la disposition de non-
dérogation dans ’article 72.1 soit un ajout bienvenu, le libellé
est susceptible d’avoir un effet neutre. Etant donné la nature
générale de la disposition, il est peu probable qu’elle soit
interprétée comme empéchant les dispositions du projet de loi de
compromettre 1’exercice des droits garantis par ’article 35 ou de
porter atteinte a ces droits. En pratique, une disposition de non-
dérogation aussi large pourrait simplement servir de rappel de
I’existence des droits garantis par 1’article 35.

Le libellé de 1’article 72.1 ne répond pas aux exigences des
obligations constitutionnelles énoncées dans les arréts Sparrow
ou Haida, du fait qu’il exige seulement que le projet de loi soit
interprété conformément aux droits garantis par I’article 35. Le
projet de loi ne prévoit pas 1’obligation de se conformer au
critére énoncé dans 1’arrét Sparrow de 1’atteinte minimale ou de
la justification des droits prouvés ou au critére énoncé dans
I’arrét Haida de 1’accommodement en cas d’impacts sur les
droits affirmés. En outre, le projet de loi ne mentionne nulle part
la Déclaration des Nations unies sur les droits des peuples
autochtones ni le principe du consentement préalable, donné
librement et en connaissance de cause. Par conséquent, I’APN
recommande de modifier le paragraphe 72.1(1) pour se
conformer a la jurisprudence pertinente en ce qui concerne les
droits garantis par l’article 35 et d’ajouter le principe du
consentement préalable, donné librement et en connaissance de
cause prévu dans la Loi sur la DNUDPA.

Je vous remercie de votre attention. Merci, mahsi’choo.
Le président : Merci beaucoup, monsieur Teegee.

Nous passons aux questions. Nous terminerons a 19 heures,
mais il se peut que nous dépassions un peu 1’horaire prévu.
Comme pour le dernier groupe, chaque question, y compris la
réponse, est limitée a quatre minutes. Je brandirai un carton pour
indiquer qu’il reste 30 secondes. J’offre la premicre question au
vice-président.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Dagenais : Ma question sera pour M. Teegee.
Monsieur Teegee, le projet de loi C-21 est un projet de loi qui
vise notamment a protéger les femmes qui sont victimes de
violence familiale perpétrée par des conjoints qui ont des armes a
feu a la maison.

Dans les centres urbains, on en entend parler lorsqu’un
meurtre est commis, mais il y a slirement de nombreux autres cas
de violence conjugale qui ne sont pas médiatisés. Puisque votre
droit constitutionnel de posséder des armes est reconnu et
maintenu, ces femmes autochtones ne seront pas mieux
protégées une fois cette loi adoptée. Comment évaluez-vous le
danger qu’elles courent? Que peuvent-elles faire? Enfin, quel
service d’intervention pouvez-vous leur offrir lorsqu’un cas de
violence se présente avec une arme a feu?
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[English]

Mr. Teegee: The issue of violence in First Nations
communities and against First Nations women and gender-
diverse peoples can’t be understated in terms of what can be
done. I think one of the issues is providing programs within First
Nations communities to understand the root causes of violence
and, further to that, in terms of policing, providing enough
resources for our First Nations policing in our communities.
Right now, we’re in the midst of developing legislation to go
from program funding to essential services funding. However,
the issue of jurisdiction continues to come up. Further to that is
jurisdiction over policing within our First Nations communities.
First of all, we need more resources toward the prevention of
violence, understanding violence and how that looks in First
Nations communities and adopting policies within our First
Nations laws, if you will. We need more resources for our First
Nations policing within our communities to allow our policing to
have enough resources to properly police. Right now, we don’t
have enough policing. We don’t have enough resources funding.
Many police forces are utilizing equipment that is outdated, and
more often than not, most of our police forces have been going to
other jurisdictions, such as municipal and provincial police,
because we can’t compete. The sooner we get legislation that
enacts really essential services funding and more resources, the
sooner that can be prevented.

[Translation]

Senator Dagenais: Thank you, Mr. Teegee. If people have
the right to bear arms for hunting, do you think it would be a
good idea for the law to distinguish between members of your
community who live on reserve and those who live in urban
centres? Just between you and me, there aren’t a lot of bears and
deer in big cities.

[English]

Mr. Teegee: I think that’s a blanket disparaging comment
because many First Nations that live in urban areas also go back
to their territories — or go within their territory — and go
hunting. They go sustenance hunting. During COVID, many of
our people, whether they were urban or back home, had to go out
and fish and hunt in rural areas, and they still do. There are many
that live off reserve, and we get that. There are many reasons for
that. There is not enough housing or not enough job
opportunities back home, so they live in urban centres so they
can have a job and can have a home. It is not their fault in terms
of why they live in urban areas. But whether we live off reserve

[Traduction]

M. Teegee : On ne peut sous-estimer le probléme de la
violence dans les communautés des Premieres Nations et a
I’encontre des femmes des Premiéres Nations et des personnes
de différentes identités de genre par rapport aux mesures qui
peuvent étre prises. Je pense que 1’'une des questions est de
fournir des programmes au sein des communautés des Premieres
Nations pour comprendre les causes profondes de la violence et,
par ailleurs, en ce qui concerne le maintien de I’ordre, de fournir
suffisamment de ressources pour les services de police des
Premieres Nations dans nos communautés. Nous sommes en
train d’élaborer un projet de loi pour passer du financement des
programmes au financement des services essentiels. Cependant,
la question de la compétence se pose toujours. S’ajoute a cet
enjeu la compétence en matiére de maintien de I’ordre au sein
des communautés des Premiéres Nations. Tout d’abord, nous
avons besoin de plus de ressources pour prévenir la violence, la
comprendre et comprendre ce qu’elle représente dans les
communautés des Premicres Nations et adopter des politiques
conformes a nos lois, pour ainsi dire. Nous avons besoin de plus
de ressources pour les services de police des Premiéres Nations
au sein de nos communautés, pour qu’ils disposent de ressources
suffisantes pour bien remplir leur mission. A 1’heure actuelle,
nous n’avons pas assez de surveillance policiére. Nous n’avons
pas assez de financement pour des ressources humaines. De
nombreux corps policiers utilisent un équipement obsoléte et, le
plus souvent, la plupart de nos corps policiers se tournent vers
d’autres administrations, comme des services de police
municipaux et provinciaux, parce que nous ne pouvons pas étre
compétitifs. Plus t6t nous aurons une loi qui prévoit un
financement des services vraiment essentiels et davantage de
ressources, plus vite nous pourrons éviter cette violence.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Dagenais : Merci monsieur Teegee. Cela dit, si
le port d’armes a feu est un droit pour la chasse, croyez-vous
qu’il serait une bonne idée que la loi fasse la distinction entre les
membres de votre communauté qui vivent sur les réserves et
ceux qui vivent en milieu urbain? Entre vous et moi, les ours et
les chevreuils ne sont pas trées nombreux dans les grandes villes.

[Traduction]

M. Teegee : Je pense qu’il s’agit 1a d’une généralisation
désobligeante, car de nombreux membres des Premiéres Nations
qui vivent en milieu urbain retournent sur leur territoire, ou a
I’intérieur de leur territoire, pour chasser. Ils chassent pour leur
subsistance. Pendant la COVID, beaucoup de nos membres,
qu’ils vivent en ville ou sur le territoire, ont di aller pécher et
chasser en milieu rural, et c’est encore le cas aujourd’hui.
Nombreux sont ceux qui vivent en dehors des réserves, et nous le
comprenons. Il y a de nombreuses raisons a cela. Il n’y a pas
assez de logements ou de possibilités d’emploi sur le territoire,
alors ils vivent dans les centres urbains pour avoir un emploi et
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or on reserve, we still have protected rights under section 35 to
hunt and sustain our own diets, our own way of living and our
own culture and practices and to do exactly what we’ve done
since time immemorial.

Senator Plett: Thank you, Chief Teegee, for being here.

I agree that certainly in 2023, people can get into a truck and
go out to get the moose. They don’t need to wait for the moose to
come to them, so I fully support your last comments.

Chief, last year, when the government introduced its
amendments to add a range of hunting rifles to the list of
prohibited firearms, the chiefs’ assembly of the Assembly of
First Nations, or AFN, passed a resolution for these amendments
to be withdrawn, which I think you already referred to. While the
government backed down on the legislation itself, it has now
promised to work through its internal regulatory process. The
minister told our committee on October 23 that he would work
through the regulatory process to, “ ... quickly put into place a
regulatory framework that we think will answer many of those
questions and concerns — ” — that the anti-gun groups have
raised. Again, it would not be by legislation but by regulation.

The PolySeSouvient group was in here as well, and they told
our committee on November 1 that they are looking for:

prohibiting all centerfire, semi-automatic firearms
designated to accept magazines with more than five rounds,
not only illusive future ones, and to limit magazine capacity
to five rounds for all guns ...

By “all guns,” I would imagine they mean not just semi-
automatic rifles but also all other rifles, including bolt action
rifles. They say that they have been addressed by the minister
and that he supports their objectives.

Chief, how concerned are you about this regulatory process
that will likely be even less transparent than the legislative
process has been? Are you concerned that hunters, including
First Nations hunters, will again be targeted?

Mr. Teegee: That’s yet to be seen, especially in terms of this
bill. We went through this a year ago in terms of consultation.
There definitely has to be more discussions with our

un logement. Ce n’est pas leur faute s’ils vivent en milieu urbain.
Cependant, que nous vivions hors réserve ou dans une réserve,
nous jouissons toujours des droits protégés par ’article 35 pour
chasser et maintenir notre propre régime alimentaire, notre
propre mode de vie, notre propre culture et nos propres
pratiques, et pour faire exactement ce que nous avons fait depuis
des temps immémoriaux.

Le sénateur Plett : Merci, chef Teegee, de votre présence.

Je suis d’accord pour dire qu’il est certain qu’en 2023, les gens
peuvent monter dans un camion pour aller récolter 1’orignal. Ils
n’ont pas besoin d’attendre que 1’orignal vienne a eux, et je
souscris donc sans réserve a vos derniers commentaires.

Chef Teegee, I’an dernier, lorsque le gouvernement a présenté
ses amendements en vue d’ajouter une série de fusils de chasse a
la liste des armes a feu prohibées, I’assemblée des chefs de
I’Assemblée des Premiéres Nations, I’APN, a adopté une
résolution demandant le retrait de ces amendements, comme
vous y avez déja fait référence, je pense. Bien que le
gouvernement ait reculé sur le projet de loi lui-méme, il a
maintenant promis de travailler sur son processus de
réglementation interne. Le 23 octobre, le ministre a déclaré a
notre comité qu’il travaillerait dans le cadre du processus
réglementaire pour « [...] rapidement mettre en place un cadre
réglementaire qui, selon nous, permettra de répondre a bon
nombre de ces questions et de ces préoccupations [...] » — que
des groupes anti-armes ont soulevées. La encore, il ne s’agirait
pas d’un projet de loi, mais d’un réglement.

Des représentantes du groupe PolySeSouvient étaient
également présentes et ont déclaré a notre comité le
1¥f novembre que le groupe souhaite :

[...] Tinterdiction de toutes les armes de poing semi-
automatiques qui tirent des munitions a percussion centrale
et qui sont congues pour accepter des chargeurs amovibles
d’une capacité de plus de cinq cartouches, pas seulement
celles qui pourraient venir, et de limiter la capacité des
chargeurs a cinq cartouches pour toutes les armes a feu [...]

Par « toutes les armes a feu », j’imagine qu’on ne parle pas
seulement des fusils semi-automatiques, mais aussi de tous les
autres fusils, y compris les fusils a verrou. Elles affirment que le
ministre s’est entretenu avec elles et qu’il soutient leurs
objectifs.

Chef Teegee, dans quelle mesure étes-vous préoccupé par ce
processus réglementaire qui sera probablement encore moins
transparent que ne 1’a été le processus législatif? Craignez-vous
que les chasseurs, y compris ceux des Premiéres Nations, soient
a nouveau pris pour cible?

M. Teegee : Cela reste a voir, surtout en ce qui concerne ce
projet de loi. Nous sommes passés par 1a il y a un an en ce qui
concerne la consultation. Il est certain qu’il faut davantage de
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First Nations. I really don’t want to get into the specifics of the
technicalities of what is allowed, whether it has five bullets
versus semi-automatic. I think the point I’'m trying to make is
that there needs to be more consultation with our First Nations,
with our hunters and with our people who rely on hunting and
also sustenance hunting, more specifically. Further to that, with
regard to our constitutionally protected rights, whether that be
inherent section 35 rights or treaty rights, we deserve more,
seeing that many First Nations do rely on hunting as part of their
livelihood.

Senator Plett: How much consultation did the government do
with you not after they introduced the bill but prior to
introducing the bill? What consultation was there prior to them
introducing this bill?

Mr. Teegee: Minimal or none at best. I would say not enough,
certainly. This is why we passed a resolution last December.

Senator Plett: Thank you. So there was no consultation, and
now they are saying they will do things through regulation. I
would be very concerned if I were in your position, chief. Thank
you very much for your answer.

[Translation]

Senator Boisvenu: Thank you very much, Chief Teegee. |
really appreciate your very detailed memory. It’s certainly much
more detailed than the bill before us.

Were your communities particularly affected by the
government’s 2020 decision to prohibit some 1,500 models?

[English]

Mr. Teegee: Right now, I'm unaware of what models were
affected by that list, so I don’t know. Julie, do you have any
comment on that?

[Translation]

Senator Boisvenu: You raised a number of interesting points,
including the red flag, yellow flag and orange flag definitions.
You also talked about the definition of assault weapons, the role
of the Chief Firearms Officer and the regulations.

I’d like to follow up on Senator Plett’s question. Based on
your experience with the current minister’s lack of consultation,
are you concerned about the next steps and the government
adopting regulations following more or less consultation with
your communities?

discussions avec nos Premiéres Nations. Je ne veux vraiment pas
entrer dans les détails techniques de ce qui est autorisé, qu’il
s’agisse d’une arme a cinq coups par rapport a une arme semi-
automatique. Ce que je veux dire, c’est qu’il faut consulter
davantage nos Premiéres Nations, nos chasseurs et les personnes
qui dépendent de la chasse et, surtout, de la chasse de
subsistance. En outre, en ce qui concerne nos droits protégés par
la Constitution, qu’il s’agisse des droits inhérents prévus a
I’article 35 ou de droits issus de traités, nous méritons mieux,
étant donné que de nombreux membres des Premiéres Nations
dépendent de la chasse pour leur subsistance.

Le sénateur Plett : Dans quelle mesure le gouvernement
vous a-t-il consultés, non pas apres la présentation du projet de
loi, mais avant? Quelles consultations ont eu lieu avant la
présentation de ce projet de loi?

M. Teegee : Au micux, elles ont ¢ét€é minimes, voire
inexistantes. Il est certain qu’il n’y en a pas eu assez et c’est
pourquoi nous avons adopté une résolution en décembre dernier.

Le sénateur Plett : Je vous remercie. Il n’y a donc pas eu de
consultation, et maintenant ils disent qu’ils vont prendre des
mesures par voie réglementaire. Je serais trés inquiet a votre
place, chef Teegee. Merci beaucoup pour votre réponse.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Merci beaucoup, chef Teegee. Je
tiens d’abord a vous féliciter pour votre mémoire des plus
précises; elle est beaucoup plus précise que le projet de loi que
nous avons devant nous d’ailleurs.

Vos communautés ont-elles été trés touchées par la décision
du gouvernement, en 2020, d’interdire environ 1 500 modéles
d’armes a feu?

[Traduction]

M. Teegee : Pour I’instant, je ne sais pas quels modeles sont
visés par cette liste, donc je ne sais pas. Madame McGregor,
avez-vous un commentaire a faire a ce sujet?

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Vous avez soulevé plusieurs points
intéressants, entre autres la définition de drapeau rouge, drapeau
jaune ou drapeau orange. Vous avez parlé également de la
définition d’armes d’assaut, du role du controleur des armes et
de la réglementation.

Je donne suite a la question de mon collégue le sénateur Plett.
Selon votre expérience de non-consultation avec le ministre
actuel, craignez-vous les étapes a venir, a savoir que le
gouvernement adoptera une réglementation en menant plus ou
moins de consultations auprés de vos communautés?
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[English]

Mr. Teegee: Yes, I am concerned. I made that statement in
my opening remarks about how we haven’t been adequately
consulted in terms of protecting those inherent rights that we
have never given up. Certainly, in this case, there needs to be
more consultation in the development of this legislation. In the
end, nothing has changed since a year ago, last November when |
presented. Certainly, the amendments don’t go far enough, and
we are concerned about the protection of the hunting rights of
our First Nations peoples.

[Translation]

Senator Boisvenu: If I understand correctly, your position
today is this: As long as the very unclear parts of the bill —
those relating to the red flag, the Chief Firearms Officer’s role
and the definition of assault weapons — are not clearly defined,
you feel this bill should not be passed.

[English]

Mr. Teegee: No, I don’t think you should, until there is
adequate consultation. I think the amendments that were
included for First Nations and the four concerns I raised in this
presentation should be included.

[Translation]

Senator Boisvenu: If it’s passed without consultation, will
you take the matter to court based on the law’s impact on your
communities?

[English)

Mr. Teegee: Not necessarily myself, but perhaps there are
many First Nations hunters that would take it to court as perhaps
a class action infringement of their rights. We have seen
infringement time and again with this colonial system of
governance. | wouldn’t doubt that there would be a challenge to
this legislation.

Senator Boisvenu: Thank you, chief.

Senator  Yussuff: Thank Chief

Ms. McGregor, for being here.

you, Teegee and

I heard your opening statement. The bill, as you’re aware, has
been amended to include section 35, recognizing First Nation
rights, in the legislation. You raised some concerns about how
this might be interpreted given some legal precedent, including
Sparrow and Haida and, more importantly, how the firearms
officer might give meaning. It is not unusual for firearm officers
to have different interpretations of the law. I respect the point
that you are making that there would need to be some clear
recognition in regard to how section 35 will apply and, more

[Traduction]

M. Teegee : Oui, cela m’inquiéte. J’ai dit dans ma déclaration
préliminaire que nous n’avions pas été suffisamment consultés
pour protéger ces droits inhérents auxquels nous n’avons jamais
renoncé. Il est certain que, dans ce cas, il doit y avoir plus de
consultations sur 1’élaboration de ce projet de loi. En fin de
compte, rien n’a changé depuis un an, depuis novembre dernier,
lorsque j’ai comparu. Il est certain que les amendements ne vont
pas assez loin et nous sommes préoccupés par la protection des
droits de chasse des membres des Premicres Nations.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Si je comprends bien, votre position
aujourd’hui est la suivante : tant que les points trés nébuleux
dans le projet de loi, soit ceux concernant le drapeau rouge, le
role du contrdleur et la définition d’armes d’assaut, ne seront pas
définis clairement, vous considérez que ce projet de loi ne
devrait pas étre adopté.

[Traduction]

M. Teegee : Non, je ne pense pas que vous devriez I’adopter,
tant qu’il n’y a pas eu de consultation suffisante. Je pense que les
amendements qui ont été inclus pour les Premicres Nations et les
quatre préoccupations que j’ai soulevées dans cette déclaration
devraient étre inclus.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Boisvenu : S’il est adopté sans consultations,
allez-vous contester, sur le plan juridique, la portée de la loi sur
vos communautés?

[Traduction]

M. Teegee : Pas nécessairement moi, mais peut-étre que de
nombreux chasseurs des Premiéres Nations porteraient 1’affaire
devant les tribunaux sous la forme d’un recours collectif pour
atteinte a leurs droits. Nous avons constaté des violations a
maintes reprises avec ce systéme colonial de gouvernance. Je ne
doute pas que cette loi sera contestée.

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Merci, chef Teegee

Le sénateur Yussuff : Merci, chef Teegee et madame
McGregor, d’étre ici.

J’ai entendu votre déclaration préliminaire. Comme vous le
savez, le projet de loi a ét¢ amendé€ pour inclure 1’article 35, qui
reconnait les droits des Premiéres Nations. Vous avez soulevé
certaines préoccupations sur la facon dont cet article pourrait étre
interprété compte tenu de certains précédents juridiques, y
compris les arréts Sparrow et Haida et, surtout, comment le
préposé aux armes a feu pourrait ’interpréter. Il n’est pas rare
que les préposés aux armes a feu interprétent différemment la
loi. Je respecte votre point de vue selon lequel il faudrait une
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importantly, how firearms officers will apply this law. Before the
government was to enact regulation, it would be prudent for the
government to understand the importance of this section 35 in
the legislation and to ensure that firearms officers take this into
consideration in how they apply the legislation. The inclusion of
section 35 is a significant development given that the
government did not include it originally in the drafting of
Bill C-21. Maybe you can comment on the importance of this
section. I recognize you need further consultation by the
government in regard to how this legislation will be
implemented.

Mr. Teegee: Section 35 rights are protected rights by the
government in terms of our ability to hunt and sustain our lives
in terms of sustenance hunting, and also protected rights that we
have never given up. Whether it’s the Sparrow decision or the
Haida decision, there needs to be better recognition of those
rights, especially in regard to how the federal government
conducts itself. That may infringe upon those rights. This is the
crux of the issue. If it’s not clearly defined or can be interpreted
in different ways, then those rights will be infringed upon. Our
concern is more broadly in terms of the interpretation of those
rights. More often than not, whether it was Sparrow, the right to
fish; or Haida, the transferring of forestry rights to different
companies, those need to be consulted because it has an adverse
effect on our First Nations. If this is not clearly defined, it will
have an adverse effect on our ability to hunt in the ways we are
all used to. I don’t know how to clearly define it, but
nevertheless it could have an adverse effect on our peoples if this
bill does go through.

Senator Yussuff: I’ll repeat one of the questions you were
asked. Violence against women, not only in First Nation
communities, is an issue we all have to take seriously. While the
red flag laws currently are available to police forces, this just
gives another venue to those who might see it necessary to try to
protect someone from harm. I think we all would agree that any
measures that could protect women from harm is a good thing,
but I do recognize the point that you’re making. We need to
make sure it’s not applied in an uneven fashion that is prejudicial
to the interests of communities who have been marginalized in
the history of this country. Do you see any value in the context
of red flag laws playing a role in trying to prevent harm against
women in communities whether that is a First Nation community
or other communities across this country?

Mr. Teegee: Anything to prevent violence against women and
children and gender-diverse peoples is a good thing. In this case,
however, there needs to be clarity on both the red flag and the

reconnaissance claire de la manicre dont 1’article 35 s’appliquera
et, surtout, de la maniére dont les préposés aux armes a feu
appliqueront cette loi. Avant que le gouvernement n’adopte un
réglement, il serait prudent qu’il comprenne 1’importance de
I’inclusion de cet article 35 dans le projet de loi et qu’il s’assure
que les préposés aux armes a feu en tiennent compte dans leur
application de la loi. L’inclusion de 1’article 35 est une avancée
importante, étant donné que le gouvernement ne l’avait pas
inclus & ’origine dans le libellé du projet de loi C-21. Vous
pourriez peut-étre nous parler de I’importance de cet article. Je
reconnais que vous avez besoin que le gouvernement vous
consulte davantage sur la mise en ceuvre de ce projet de loi.

M. Teegee : Les droits prévus a 1’article 35 sont des droits
protégés par le gouvernement en ce qui concerne notre capacité
de chasser et de subvenir a nos besoins griace a la chasse de
subsistance, ainsi que des droits protégés auxquels nous n’avons
jamais renoncé. Qu’il s’agisse de 1’arrét Sparrow ou de 1’arrét
Haida, ces droits doivent étre mieux reconnus, surtout en ce qui
concerne la conduite du gouvernement fédéral. Sa conduite peut
porter atteinte a ces droits. C’est le coeur du probléme. Si ce n’est
pas clairement défini ou si cela peut étre interprété de différentes
maniéres, alors ces droits seront violés. Notre préoccupation
porte plus largement sur 1’interprétation de ces droits. La plupart
du temps, qu’il s’agisse de 1’arrét Sparrow sur le droit de pécher
ou de l’arrét Haida sur la cession des droits forestiers a
différentes entreprises, 1’interprétation doit é&tre 1’objet de
consultations parce qu’elle risque de nuire a nos Premiéres
Nations. Si ces droits ne sont pas clairement définis, ils
compromettront notre capacité de chasser comme nous en avons
tous I’habitude. Je ne sais pas comment le définir clairement,
mais néanmoins, cela pourrait nuire a nos populations si ce
projet de loi est adopté.

Le sénateur Yussuff : Je vais répéter une des questions qui
vous ont été posé€es. La violence contre les femmes, pas
seulement dans les communautés des Premiéres Nations, est un
probléme que nous devons tous prendre au sérieux. Alors que les
corps policiers peuvent invoquer les dispositions 1égislatives sur
les signaux d’alarme, ce projet de loi ne fait qu’offrir un autre
moyen a ceux qui pourraient juger nécessaire de mettre
quelqu’un a I’abri du danger. Je pense que nous sommes tous
d’accord pour dire que toute mesure susceptible de protéger les
femmes est une bonne chose, mais je reconnais votre point de
vue. Nous devons veiller a ce que ces mesures ne soient pas
appliquées de maniére inégale et préjudiciable aux intéréts des
communautés qui ont été marginalisées dans 1’histoire de ce
pays. Voyez-vous un intérét a ce que les dispositions sur les
drapeaux rouges jouent un réle dans la prévention des violences
faites aux femmes dans les communautés, qu’il s’agisse d’une
communauté de Premiére Nation ou d’autres communautés a
travers le pays?

M. Teegee : Tout ce qui prévient la violence a I’encontre des
femmes, des enfants et des personnes de différentes identités de
genre est une bonne chose. Dans ce cas, cependant, il faut
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yellow flag provisions and how those will affect First Nations
peoples. It’s not understood in this case. That’s really the issue
that we’re trying to understand. How would this affect First
Nations that are really trying to sustain themselves? Violence is
an issue as well that needs to be looked at in terms of this case or
many other cases in terms of violence in Indigenous
communities.

Senator Yussuff: Thank you.

Senator Dasko: Thank you, chief and your colleague, for
being here today.

My question was going to be about the red flag. Maybe I’ll
approach it differently from my colleague who just raised the
point with you. I’ll paraphrase what Professor Pam Palmater said
when she was here testifying last week. I'll approach it by
offering what she said and then just perhaps by asking you about
your response to it. She is a scholar at Toronto Metropolitan
University. She said that Indigenous peoples have collective
hunting rights but don’t need handguns or assault weapons. She
then went on to say, “And we have to balance these with safety
and with the concerns and needs of children and women. There
is no absolute right.” That’s how she ended her comments. I
think I paraphrased that accurately. How would you respond to
her comments?

Mr. Teegee: Professor Palmater has a good background in
terms of violence, especially in urban areas. Assault rifles and
other forms of handguns are a concern with gang violence. These
are issues that need to be addressed. I'm concerned about how
prohibiting some of those weapons can this get caught up in
terms of infringing upon First Nations’ rights to hunt. Whether
it’s handguns or assault-type rifles, I don’t know how many First
Nations utilize those for hunting, but the more traditional usage
is the long rifle. At least in my case, long rifles are utilized to
take down big ungulates. I’m not sure about other types of guns.
I don’t know in terms of that, but I certainly know that some of
the weapons you described in terms of handguns and assault
rifles are used a lot in terms of gang violence, which is of great
concern. We have seen increased gang violence within First
Nations and our communities back home, especially as we have
more prevalent sales of drugs, for example, and the current
opioid crisis many people are experiencing in terms of trying to
deal with the trafficking of drugs. In the end, I think the way we
categorize weapons has to also be addressed, I suppose, and I
think that comes with more consultation with First Nations and
our First Nations communities.

Senator Dasko: Thank you.

préciser les dispositions relatives aux drapeaux rouges et aux
drapeaux jaunes et leur effet sur les membres des Premicres
Nations. Ce n’est pas clair dans ce cas-ci. C’est vraiment ce que
nous essayons de comprendre. Quel serait D’effet sur les
membres des Premiéres Nations qui essaient simplement de
subvenir & leurs besoins? La violence est également un probléme
sur lequel nous devons nous pencher dans ce cas-ci ou dans bien
d’autres cas de violence dans les communautés autochtones.

Le sénateur Yussuff : Je vous remercie.

La sénatrice Dasko : Je vous remercie, chef Teegee, et je
remercie votre collégue de votre présence.

Ma question allait porter sur les drapeaux rouges. Je vais peut-
étre I’aborder sous un autre angle que mon collégue qui vient de
soulever la question avec vous. Je vais paraphraser ce que la
professeure Pam Palmater nous a dit lorsqu’elle est venue
témoigner ici la semaine derniére. Je vais vous exposer ce
qu’elle a dit, puis je vous demanderai peut-étre de réagir a ses
propos. Elle est chercheuse a 1’Université Toronto Metropolitan.
Elle a déclaré que les Autochtones ont des droits de chasse
collectifs, mais qu’ils n’ont pas besoin d’armes de poing ou
d’armes d’assaut. Elle a ensuite ajouté : « Nous devons trouver
un équilibre entre ces droits, la sécurité et les préoccupations et
besoins des enfants et des femmes. Il n’y a pas de droit absolu. »
C’est ainsi qu’elle a conclu sa déclaration. Je pense I’avoir
paraphrasée fidélement. Comment réagiriez-vous a ses propos?

M. Teegee : Mme Palmater connait bien le dossier de la
violence, surtout en milieu urbain. Les fusils d’assaut et d’autres
types d’armes de poing sont un sujet de préoccupation par
rapport a la violence des gangs. Il faut s’attaquer a ces enjeux. Je
suis préoccupé par le fait que I’interdiction de certaines armes
puisse entrainer une violation des droits de chasser des Premiéres
Nations. Qu’il s’agisse d’armes de poing ou de fusils d’assaut, je
ne sais pas combien de membres des Premiéres Nations les
utilisent pour chasser, mais il est plus courant d’utiliser la
carabine longue. Dans mon cas, en tout cas, j’utilise une carabine
longue pour abattre les grands ongulés. Je ne sais pas en ce qui
concerne les autres types d’armes, mais je sais que certaines
armes que vous avez décrites, comme les armes de poing et les
fusils d’assaut, sont trés courantes dans la violence des gangs, ce
qui est trés préoccupant. Nous avons constaté une augmentation
de la violence des gangs au sein des Premiéres Nations et de nos
communautés, surtout en raison de 1’augmentation des ventes de
drogues, par exemple, et de la crise actuelle des opioides que
vivent de nombreuses personnes qui tentent de lutter contre le
trafic de stupéfiants. En fin de compte, je pense que nous devons
aussi nous pencher sur notre fagon de classer les armes, je
suppose, et je pense que cela passe par une plus grande
consultation auprés des Premicres Nations et de nos
communautés des Premicres Nations.

La sénatrice Dasko : Je vous remercie.
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Julie McGregor, Legal Counsel, Assembly of First Nations:
Can I supplement that answer?

Senator Dasko: Yes, please.

Ms. McGregor: It is a balance between the safety and well-
being of Indigenous women, children and families with the right
to practise our culture. There are things that the government can
be doing on the side of violence prevention, as Chief Teegee
mentioned. One significant part of that is the implementation of
the 231 Calls for Justice Action from the National Inquiry into
Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women and Girls. 1 guess
what we’re getting at, at the heart of this, is that First Nations
people are the only ones who are here being asked questions in
terms of choosing the right to their culture, which is a
constitutionally protected right, and the human right of the safety
of their women, children and families. If you were to ask First
Nations people whether they want safety or the right to practise
their culture, they will say both because both are integrally
important to our communities. So the balance is there. There has
to be a balance. When looking at the initial intention of this bill,
it was to prohibit handguns, and then it slowly got snowballed
into prohibiting guns that could be used for hunting. As we say,
there needs to be some sort of a balance drawn between them.
We can’t have communities not being able to practise their
traditional rights because they are constitutional rights. That’s
the thing. We’re the only group here — Indigenous people are
the only ones who have the constitutional right versus the safety
of communities. There is a lot more that the government could
be doing in terms of violence against Indigenous women.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. McGregor. That’s very helpful.

Senator M. Deacon: I think I’m near the end, and parts of my
questions have been asked regarding red flags, but Julie, there
were a couple of times when questions were being asked and I
think you had some things you wanted to contribute and respond
to. What I’m actually going to ask at this moment is, based on
what we heard in testimony this afternoon, is there anything you
would like to add to what Chief Teegee has said or anything that
you think we need to know about this bill that helps make it
better?

Ms. McGregor: Just going back to your opening remark
about red flags or any sort of laws associated with gun
prohibitions, it’s never the law on the face of it. It’s how they are
implemented and how they are regulated. The wide discretion
provided to law enforcement has traditionally not been helpful to
First Nations, and Regional Chief Teegee spoke to the over-
representation issue. First Nations people are often over-policed
or over-regulated when it comes to natural resources as well.
While red and yellow flag laws are important and on the face of

Julie McGregor, conseillére juridique, Assemblée des
Premiéres Nations : Puis-je compléter cette réponse?

La sénatrice Dasko : Oui, je vous en prie.

Mme McGregor : Il faut trouver 1’équilibre entre la sécurité
et le bien-étre des femmes, des enfants et des familles
autochtones et le droit de pratiquer notre culture. Le
gouvernement peut prendre des mesures pour prévenir la
violence, comme le chef Teegee 1’a mentionné. La mise en
ceuvre des 231 appels a I’action pour la justice lancés dans le
cadre de I’Enquéte nationale sur les femmes et les filles
autochtones disparues et assassinées en est un élément important.
Je suppose que ce a quoi nous voulons en venir, c’est que les
membres des Premiéres Nations sont les seuls a qui 1’on pose des
questions et on demande de choisir entre le droit a leur culture,
qui est un droit garanti par la Constitution, et le droit a la sécurité
de leurs femmes, de leurs enfants et de leurs familles. Si vous
demandez aux membres des Premiéres Nations s’ils veulent la
sécurité¢ ou le droit de pratiquer leur culture, ils répondront les
deux parce que les deux font partie intégrante de nos
communautés. L’équilibre est donc 1la. Il doit y avoir un
équilibre. L’objet initial de ce projet de loi était d’interdire les
armes de poing, puis s’y est agglomérée I’interdiction d’armes a
feu susceptibles d’étre utilisées pour chasser. Comme nous le
disons, il faut trouver un équilibre entre les deux. Nous ne
pouvons accepter que des communautés ne puissent pas exercer
leurs droits ancestraux parce qu’il s’agit de droits
constitutionnels. C’est ainsi. Nous sommes le seul groupe ici —
les Autochtones sont les seuls a jouir d’un droit constitutionnel
par opposition a la sécurité des communautés. Le gouvernement
pourrait faire beaucoup plus pour lutter contre la violence faite
aux femmes autochtones.

Le président : Je vous remercie, madame McGregor. C’est
trés utile.

La sénatrice M. Deacon : Je pense qu’il ne me reste plus
beaucoup de temps, et une partie de mes questions a porté sur les
signaux d’alarme, mais madame McGregor, on a posé¢ des
questions a quelques reprises et je pense que vous souhaitiez
intervenir et réagir. Je vais vous demander maintenant, sur la
base de ce que nous avons entendu dans les témoignages cet
aprés-midi, si vous aimeriez ajouter quelque chose a ce que le
chef Teegee a dit ou que vous pensez que nous devrions savoir a
propos de ce projet de loi pour I’améliorer?

Mme McGregor : Pour revenir a votre observation initiale
sur les drapeaux rouges ou une quelconque loi sur I’interdiction
d’armes a feu, le probléme, ce n’est jamais la loi comme telle,
mais la fagon dont elle est mise en ceuvre et réglementée. Dans le
passé, le grand pouvoir discrétionnaire accordé aux forces de
I’ordre n’a pas servi les Premiéres Nations, et le chef régional
Teegee a évoqué le probléme de la surreprésentation. Les
membres des Premiéres Nations font souvent 1’objet d’une
répression et d’une réglementation excessives en ce qui concerne
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them valid, their applicability within First Nations communities
always seems to be a problem, and that’s because of systemic
issues with racism and how the lives of First Nations people are
overly regulated and monitored.

I do want to touch on a few other things, if I may. First,
speaking to the non-derogation clause, as the regional chief said,
it is quite welcome that we have a non-derogation clause, and it
wasn’t there in the original version of the bill, but it is very
broadly worded. If you look at constitutional law and First
Nations rights under the Constitution, the onus is on the First
Nation to prove that their right exists, and then the onus shifts to
the Crown to prove that there is infringement and that there is
minimal impairment of that infringement. Nevertheless, it starts
with the First Nation having to prove their rights. That’s been so
in all case law throughout Canada where First Nations have to
take the time, money and effort, taking money away from other
much-needed issues to fight in the courts, often for decades, to
prove that they have a right. The non-derogation clause doesn’t
fix that problem.

Another issue with it is that it can be sidelined so easily. We
can say, well, we recognize there is a section 35 right, but
nevertheless, we’re going to do this. Part of the constitutional
law test for proving a right, so that the court will look at whether
a right is infringed, is whether the First Nations have been
consulted adequately. That’s speaking to Sparrow and Haida, as
Regional Chief Teegee said.

Senator M. Deacon: Thank you.

Senator Plett: I was going to ask with regard to the red flag,
but I think we have taken care of that, so I will ask a different
question.

Chief, T think you fairly clearly said that you were not
consulted at all before the bill was introduced, and as has already
been mentioned, under the United Nations Declaration on the
Rights of Indigenous Peoples, government ministers have often
repeated the commitment, “Nothing about us without us.” Chief,
what does that pledge mean if, on a bill like this, there are no
consultations before the bill is introduced?

Mr. Teegee: Well, clearly that doesn’t meet the standard that
we want to adopt, especially with legislation that may have very
adverse effects on our Indigenous peoples. If we look at the
United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples,
it has been law here in British Columbia for four years, and two
years federally, so free, prior and informed consent means that

les ressources naturelles également. Bien que les dispositions
relatives aux drapeaux rouges et aux drapeaux jaunes soient
importantes et valables a premiére vue, leur application au sein
des communautés des Premiéres Nations semble toujours poser
un probléme, et ce, en raison de problémes systémiques liés au
racisme et & la maniére dont la vie des membres des Premiéres
Nations est réglementée et surveillée a I’exces.

Si vous le permettez, j’aimerais aborder quelques autres
points. Tout d’abord, en ce qui concerne la disposition de non-
dérogation, comme le chef régional 1’a dit, sa présence est une
bonne chose. Elle ne figurait pas dans la version initiale du projet
de loi, mais sa formulation est trés large. Si vous examinez le
droit constitutionnel et les droits des Premiéres Nations en vertu
de la Constitution, il incombe a la Premiére Nation de prouver
I’existence de son droit, puis a la Couronne de prouver qu’il y a
eu atteinte et que cette atteinte est minimale. Néanmoins, c’est
d’abord a la Premicére Nation qu’il incombe de prouver ses
droits. C’est ce qui ressort de toute la jurisprudence au Canada,
ou les Premiéres Nations doivent investir du temps, de 1’argent et
des efforts, au détriment d’autres questions essentielles, pour se
défendre devant les tribunaux, souvent pendant des dizaines
d’années, afin de prouver qu’elles ont un droit. La disposition de
non-dérogation ne régle pas ce probléme.

Un autre enjeu tient au fait qu’elle peut étre mise a 1’écart si
facilement. Nous pouvons dire, oui, nous reconnaissons
I’existence d’un droit au titre de 1’article 35, mais néanmoins,
nous allons agir de la sorte. En droit constitutionnel, une
partie du critére pour prouver un droit, afin que le tribunal se
prononce sur l’atteinte ou non a un droit est de savoir si les
Premicres Nations ont été consultées de maniére adéquate. Cela
fait référence aux arréts Sparrow et Haida, comme le chef
régional Teegee 1’a dit.

La sénatrice M. Deacon : Je vous remercie.

Le sénateur Plett : J’allais poser une question a propos des
drapeaux rouges, mais je pense que nous en avons fait le tour,
alors je vais poser une autre question.

Chef Teegee, je pense que vous avez dit assez clairement que
vous n’avez pas été consultés du tout avant la présentation du
projet de loi, et comme on 1’a déja mentionné, dans le cadre de la
Déclaration des Nations unies sur les droits des peuples
autochtones, les ministres du gouvernement ont souvent répété
I’engagement a 1’égard du principe : « Rien sur nous sans nous ».
Chef Teegee, que signifie cet engagement si, dans le cadre d’un
projet de loi comme celui-ci, il n’y a pas de consultations avant
la présentation du projet de 10i?

M. Teegee : Eh bien, il est clair que cela ne répond pas a la
norme que nous voulons adopter, surtout dans le cas d’un projet
de loi qui peut avoir des effets trés néfastes sur nos peuples
autochtones. Si nous prenons la Déclaration des Nations unies
sur les droits des peuples autochtones, elle a force de loi ici en
Colombie-Britannique depuis quatre ans, et depuis deux ans a
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there would be proper consultation with First Nations, and I
would say even deeper consultation if it has any adverse effects
on Indigenous peoples, especially with regard to our inherent
rights. There was very minimal consultation before this bill came
to us as First Nations, and further to that, without proper
consultation, I would say it is actually the reverse of the intent of
UNDRIP in terms of consultation and free, prior and informed
consent and many articles that speak to our ability to hunt, fish
and sustain our lives from the lands.

Senator Plett: I would say that I certainly agree with that.

Senator Boisvenu asked you whether you would challenge this
in court. You said no, but possibly a number of individual
hunters would do so. Why would you as an organization, and
other Indigenous organizations, not challenge this in court? To
me, it would be pretty close to breaking the law on the part of the
federal government if they invoke a bill such as this without free,
prior and informed consent.

Mr. Teegee: Well, first of all, the organization itself isn’t a
rights holder, so further to that, it would take a First Nations
community and/or individuals to uphold their rights. Second, we
would probably intervene if there were a case, similar to some of
the issues that we have perhaps intervened in before, just to
make sure that some of the provisions that were already
recognized are being upheld, such as Bill C-15, UNDRIP. I think
that’s not to say that we wouldn’t get involved. Certainly, we
would help and support our First Nations if they saw it necessary
to go to court on any matter, whether it’s this issue or, as we
have seen before, child welfare or any natural resources rights.

Senator Plett: Thank you very much, chief, for your time.

Senator Yussuff: Thank you, chief.

It goes without saying that we fundamentally recognize your
nation’s right, but equally, others across the country, the
fundamental right to go to court at any time to seek the legal
interpretation of the courts with regard to protecting your rights.
I don’t think that’s up for discussion here.

More importantly, on the point of what the bill does in terms
of dealing with guns, this is essentially a handgun ban. There is
no long-gun ban in this bill. I just want to get you to

I’échelle fédérale. Le consentement préalable, donné librement et
en connaissance de cause signifie donc qu’il y aurait une
consultation appropriée aupres des Premiéres Nations, et je dirais
méme une consultation encore plus approfondie si le projet de loi
a des effets négatifs sur les Autochtones, surtout sur nos droits
inhérents. Il y a eu trés peu de consultations avant que ce projet
de loi ne nous parvienne en tant que Premiéres Nations, et de
plus, sans consultation appropriée, je dirais que c’est en fait
I’inverse de I’intention de la DNUDPA en ce qui concerne la
consultation et le consentement préalable, donné librement et en
connaissance de cause et de nombreux articles qui traitent de
notre capacité a chasser, et a assurer notre subsistance sur nos
terres.

Le sénateur Plett : Je dirais que je suis tout a fait d’accord
avec vous sur ce point.

Le sénateur Boisvenu vous a demand¢ si vous alliez contester
ce projet de loi devant les tribunaux. Vous avez répondu que
non, mais qu’un certain nombre de chasseurs le feraient peut-
étre. En tant qu’organisation, pourquoi vous et d’autres
organisations autochtones ne contesteriez pas le projet de loi
devant les tribunaux? A mon avis, le gouvernement fédéral
viendrait bien prés d’enfreindre la loi s’il invoquait un projet de
loi comme celui-ci sans avoir obtenu un consentement préalable,
donné librement et en connaissance de cause.

M. Teegee : Eh bien, tout d’abord, 1’organisation elle-méme
n’est pas titulaire de droits. Il faudrait donc qu’une communauté
ou des membres des Premieres Nations fassent respecter leurs
droits. Ensuite, nous serions probablement un intervenant dans
une éventuelle action en justice, comme nous I’avons été dans
certaines affaires, simplement pour nous assurer que certaines
dispositions qui ont déja été reconnues sont maintenues, comme
le projet de loi C-15, la Loi sur la DNUDPA. Je pense que cela
ne veut pas dire que nous ne jouerions pas un rdle. Il est certain
que nous aiderions et soutiendrions nos Premiéres Nations si
elles jugeaient nécessaire de s’adresser aux tribunaux sur une
quelconque question, qu’il s’agisse de cette question ou, comme
nous l’avons vu, de la protection de I’enfance ou des droits
relatifs aux ressources naturelles.

Le sénateur Plett : Merci beaucoup, chef Teegee, pour le
temps que vous m’avez accordé.

Le sénateur Yussuff : Merci, chef Teegee.

Il va sans dire que nous reconnaissons fondamentalement le
droit de votre nation, mais également celui d’autres nations a
travers le pays, de s’adresser aux tribunaux a tout moment pour
demander leur interprétation juridique en ce qui concerne la
protection de vos droits. Je ne pense pas que cela soit matiére a
débat ici.

Plus important encore, en ce qui concerne les armes a feu, en
ce qui concerne 1’objet du projet de loi par rapport aux armes a
feu, il s’agit essentiellement d’une interdiction des armes de
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acknowledge that. It’s quite possible the government may bring
in regulation in regard to other guns they may seek to restrict,
but that is not currently in Bill C-21.

Mr. Teegee: All 1 can say is that what we’re trying to prevent
here is unintended consequences of infringement of First Nations
constitutionally protected rights, especially the right to hunt, fish
and sustain our livelihood.

Senator Yussuff: Thank you.
[Translation]
Senator Dagenais: My question is for Mr. Teegee.

Mr. Teegee, if you want to do something to keep Indigenous
women safe, | think we have a good opportunity to do that here.
Can you suggest amendments to Bill C-21 to better protect the
women in your communities from violent partners who have
weapons in the home?

[English]

Mr. Teegee: Well, yes. Certainly, I think this is why we need
more consultation, to make this legislation better for the
protection of Indigenous women, children and gender-diverse
peoples. I think there is definitely always room for improvement
in this legislation, I suppose you could say, but I think overall,
the way it’s structured and the way everything was executed is
poor at best, I would say, because this could have been done
better in terms of those protections.

I see Julie would like to say something. Julie, do you want to
add to that?

Ms. McGregor: Regional Chief, I was just agreeing with you
that greater consultation and engagement with First Nations
would have been ideal in terms of looking at how violence
happens in our communities. There is a wide range of it across
the country. There are guns and gangs violence in certain areas,
and in others, it’s more of a domestic issue. The violence that is
perpetrated against Indigenous women has so many root causes,
as we have said before. To try to encapsulate all of that in this
one bill, Bill C-21, I think would be difficult. There are practical
things that could be woven into the legislation, and if the
principles of UNDRIP and even just the duty to consult were
fulfilled in these circumstances, we could have woven those
interests into the legislation. We did not have that opportunity.

poing. Le projet de loi ne prévoit pas I’interdiction des carabines
longues. Je tiens a ce que vous le reconnaissiez. Il est tout a fait
possible que le gouvernement prenne un réglement par rapport a
d’autres armes a feu dont il souhaiterait restreindre
’autorisation, mais cela ne figure pas actuellement dans le projet
de loi C-21.

M. Teegee : Tout ce que je peux dire, ¢c’est que nous essayons
de prévenir ici les conséquences involontaires de 1’atteinte aux
droits des Premicres Nations protégés par la Constitution, en
particulier le droit de chasser, de pécher et d’assurer notre
subsistance.

Le sénateur Yussuff : Je vous remercie.
[Frangais]
Le sénateur Dagenais : Ma question s’adresse a M. Teegee.

Monsieur Teegee, si vous voulez prendre en main la sécurité
des femmes autochtones, je pense qu’on a ici une bonne occasion
de le faire. Pourriez-vous suggérer des amendements au projet de
loi C-21 pour faire en sorte que les femmes de vos communautés
soient mieux protégées face a des conjoints violents qui ont des
armes a domicile?

[Traduction]

M. Teegee : Eh bien, oui. Bien sir, je pense que c’est la
raison pour laquelle nous avons besoin de plus de consultations,
afin d’améliorer ce projet de loi pour protéger les femmes, les
enfants et les personnes de différentes identités de genre
autochtones. Je pense qu’il est toujours possible d’améliorer ce
projet de loi, pourrions-nous dire, je suppose, mais je pense que
dans 1’ensemble, la facon dont il est structuré et dont tout a été
exécuté est au mieux médiocre, je dirais, parce qu’il aurait pu
étre mieux fait en ce qui concerne ces protections.

Je vois que Mme McGregor aimerait dire quelque chose.
Voulez-vous ajouter quelque chose?

Mme McGregor : Monsieur le chef régional, je manifestais
simplement mon accord avec vous pour dire qu'une plus grande
consultation et une plus grande participation des Premicres
Nations auraient été idéales pour examiner comment la violence
se produit dans nos communautés. Il y en a de toutes sortes a la
grandeur du pays. Il y a la violence armée et la violence des
gangs dans certaines régions, et ailleurs, il s’agit plutét d’un
probléme de violence conjugale. La violence faite aux femmes
autochtones a de trés nombreuses causes profondes, comme nous
I’avons dit. Je pense qu’il serait difficile d’essayer d’englober
tout cela dans un seul projet de loi, le projet de loi C-21. Des
mesures concrétes pourraient étre incorporées dans le projet de
loi, et si les principes de la DNUDPA et méme simplement
I’obligation de consulter avaient été respectés en 1’occurrence,
nous aurions pu incorporer ces préoccupations dans le projet de
loi. Nous n’avons pas eu cette possibilité.
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[Translation]

Senator Boisvenu: Again, I want to thank our guests. My
question and comment are for Chief Teegee.

I too am from a remote part of northern Quebec. In those
communities, hunting is more than a sport; it’s a way of life. My
grandparents lived up there years ago, and, for them, hunting was
about survival. That was the case for Indigenous individuals as
well as for White settlers. In northern Abitibi, hunting was part
of a subsistence lifestyle.

Here’s my problem with the bill. It will give federal
bureaucrats in Ottawa a mandate to draft regulations that will
apply to the lifestyles of people living in remote regions. I have
major reservations about the minister’s and the department’s
interest in consulting your communities in such a way as to
ensure that these regulations respect your traditions and your
rights.

Do you share those concerns?
[English]

Mr. Teegee: Certainly I’'m worried, as I stated in my opening
comments.

Also, I think you bring up a good point in terms of
understanding culture, whether you are in an urban centre or
from my community. I’'m from Takla Nation, and certainly,
many of our people utilize long guns for hunting, and not just
hunting but also trapping and other uses that really supplement
our economy, if you will.

I think the unintended consequences of those regulations or
this law to overstep those boundaries and infringe upon our
constitutionally protected rights is always a concern. That’s what
we’re bringing up here. That is the crux of this issue. We have
examples of developing and co-developing legislation, such as
Bill C-91 on languages, Bill C-92 on child welfare, even
Bill C-15 on UNDRIP, wherein there was a lot more and deeper
consultation and perhaps you could even say co-development on
that list of legislation with our Indigenous peoples, which made
it a lot better.

Senator Boisvenu: Thank you, chief.

The Chair: Colleagues, this brings us to the end of this panel.

On behalf of this committee, I want to thank you, Regional
Chief Teegee and Ms. McGregor, for joining us tonight and
sharing your extensive commentary on Bill C-21. It’s greatly
appreciated. It was very helpful. Thank you, at the same time, for
the work that you do for your constituents and constituencies.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Encore une fois, merci a nos invités.
Ma question et mon commentaire seront pour le chef Teegee.

Je viens aussi d’une région éloignée du nord du Québec. Pour
ces communautés, la chasse est plus qu’une activité sportive; elle
fait partie des meceurs. Pour mes grands-parents qui vivaient dans
cette région, il y a des années, la chasse était un mode de
subsistance. C’était le cas pour les Autochtones, mais aussi pour
les Blancs qui arrivaient et colonisaient. Dans le nord de
I’ Abitibi, la chasse était un mode de subsistance.

Mon probléme avec ce projet de loi est le suivant : on va
donner a des fonctionnaires fédéraux d’Ottawa la tache de
rédiger des réglements qui s’appliqueront au mode de vie de
personnes qui vivent en région éloignée. J’éprouve de grandes
réserves quant & la volonté du ministre et de son ministére de
consulter vos communautés, en particulier pour faire en sorte que
ces réglements respectent vos traditions et vos droits.

Eprouvez-vous les mémes craintes?
[Traduction]

M. Teegee : Il est certain que j’éprouve des craintes, comme
je I’ai dit dans ma déclaration préliminaire.

Par ailleurs, je pense que vous soulevez un bon point en ce qui
concerne la compréhension de la culture, que vous viviez dans
un centre urbain ou dans ma communauté. Je viens de la nation
Takla, et il est certain que beaucoup de nos concitoyens utilisent
des armes d’épaule pour chasser, et pas seulement, mais aussi
pour piéger et d’autres activités qui complétent vraiment notre
économie, pour ainsi dire.

Je pense que les conséquences imprévues de ce réglement ou
de cette loi qui dépassent ces limites et empictent sur nos droits
protégés par la Constitution sont toujours préoccupantes. C’est
ce que nous soulevons ici. C’est le cceur de la question. Nous
avons des exemples d’élaboration et de coélaboration de projets
de loi, comme le projet de loi C-91 sur les langues, le projet de
loi C-92 sur la protection de 1’enfance, et méme le projet de
loi C-15 sur la DNUDPA, qui ont fait I’objet d’une consultation
beaucoup plus large et approfondie et nous pourrions méme dire
d’une coélaboration avec nos peuples autochtones, ce qui a
permis de les améliorer considérablement.

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Merci, chef Teegee.

Le président : Chers collégues, cela termine le temps dont
nous disposions avec ce groupe de témoins.

Au nom du comité, je tiens a vous remercier, chef régional
Teegee et madame McGregor, d’étre ici ce soir et d’avoir partagé
vos observations détaillées sur le projet de loi C-21. Nous vous
en sommes trés reconnaissants. Ce fut tres utile. J’en profite pour
vous remercier du travail que vous faites pour vos électeurs et
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I’m sure it is appreciated. We are impressed and enormously
grateful to you for joining us this evening and sharing with us.

Continuing with our final panel this evening to examine
Bill C-21, we have the great pleasure of welcoming, on behalf of
Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami, President Natan Obed and Will David,
Director of Legal Affairs. Thank you so much for joining us
today. We invite you to provide your opening remarks, which
will be followed by questions from our members.

Natan Obed, President, Inuit Tapiriit
Kanatami: Nakurmiik, thank you, Mr. Chair. It’s wonderful to
see you all here this evening. Thank you for the opportunity to
present to you on the amendments to Bill C-21.

I just wanted to start by saying that, across Inuit Nunangat, our
relationship with firearms is quite different than most Canadians’
interaction and relationship with firearms. That is largely
because of the ubiquity of firearms in our homes, but it is also
the social conditions and environment in which we live, where
we have 54% overcrowding and there are many scenarios where
there are multiple generations who live in one dwelling. The
administration or implementation of laws, especially those
designed to prevent gun violence or those to ensure that those
who perhaps perpetrate domestic violence do not have access to
those weapons, takes on a very complicated reality across Inuit
Nunangat. The challenges that we have faced based on the lack
of infrastructure and the lack of ability to administer justice in
many cases also lead to that. That is just a preamble, before I get
into my formal remarks, regarding how different the perspective
is. At the same time, from a policy perspective, it is important to
understand how important it is to ensure that the safety of
Canadians is first and foremost in the mind of the Government of
Canada. Ensuring there is safety for those who need it is also a
principle that we share.

I appreciate the invitation to discuss Bill C-21. The legislation
before you, which addresses the revocation of firearm licences,
warrants careful deliberation due to the implications it has for
Inuit hunters on our harvesting rights. While we believe the
legislation strikes a careful balance in theory, we are concerned
that the realities of the social and legal infrastructure gap in Inuit
Nunangat will lead to inequitable application of the legislation
which will compromise the safety of Inuit communities in the
harvesting rights of Inuit. It’s critical to recognize that harvesting
rights in Inuit Nunangat are tied to food security. Limitations on
harvesting rights directly impact the harvesters, families and
communities to access food.

vos circonscriptions. Il est certainement trés important. Nous
sommes impressionnés et trés heureux que vous vous soyez
joints a nous ce soir.

Nous poursuivons notre examen du projet de loi C-21 avec
notre dernier groupe de témoins. Nous avons le grand plaisir
d’accueillir deux représentants d’Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami,
M. Natan Obed, président, et M. Will David, directeur des
Affaires juridiques. Merci beaucoup d’étre avec nous
aujourd’hui. Je vous invite a faire vos déclarations préliminaires,
et nous passerons ensuite aux questions de nos membres.

Natan Obed, président, Inuit Tapiriit
Kanatami : Nakurmiik, merci, monsieur le président. C’est un
plaisir de vous rencontrer ici ce soir. Je vous remercie de me
donner 1’occasion de vous parler des amendements au projet de
loi C-21.

J’aimerais commencer en disant que nous avons, dans 1’Inuit
Nunangat, une relation avec les armes a feu trés différente de
celle de la plupart des Canadiens. Cette réalité est en grande
partie imputable a I’omniprésence des armes a feu dans nos
foyers, mais aussi aux conditions sociales et a I’environnement
dans lesquels nous vivons alors que 54 % des logements sont
surpeuplés et qu’il est fréquent que plusieurs générations vivent
sous un méme toit. L’administration de la justice ou la mise en
ceuvre des lois, surtout celles qui visent a prévenir la violence
armée ou a empécher des personnes qui pourraient commettre
des actes de violence familiale d’avoir accés a des armes, devient
une réalité tres complexe dans I’Inuit Nunangat. Les difficultés
que nous avons connues dans de nombreux cas en raison du
manque d’infrastructure et de capacité a administrer la justice
contribuent aussi a cette complexe réalité. Je le mentionne
simplement, avant d’entrer dans le vif du sujet, pour montrer a
quel point la perspective est différente. En méme temps, du point
de vue politique, il est crucial de comprendre qu’il est trés
important pour le gouvernement du Canada d’assurer la sécurité
des Canadiens d’abord et avant tout. Assurer la sécurité de ceux
qui en ont besoin est aussi un principe que nous partageons.

Je vous remercie de m’avoir invité a participer a ’examen du
projet de loi C-21. Le projet de loi dont vous étes saisis, qui
porte sur la révocation des permis d’armes a feu, mérite d’étre
examiné attentivement en raison de ses incidences sur les
chasseurs inuits et nos droits de récoltes. Méme si nous sommes
d’avis que le projet de loi établit un équilibre satisfaisant en
théorie, nous craignons que les réalités liées a la disparité des
infrastructures sociales et juridiques de I’Inuit Nunangat
entrainent une application inéquitable de la loi qui compromettra
la sécurité des collectivités inuites pour ce qui est des droits de
récolte des Inuits. Il est crucial de reconnaitre que les droits de
récolte dans I’Inuit Nunangat sont liés a la sécurité alimentaire.
Les restrictions imposées aux droits de récolte ont des
répercussions directes sur 1’accés des chasseurs, des familles et
des collectivités a la nourriture.
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One of our concerns with the bill is that it proposes an
automatic revocation of firearm licence under circumstances of
domestic violence or a protection order. While the intent to
safeguard communities is clear and supported in principle, the
lack of a precise definition for “acts of domestic violence” or
“stalking” introduces uncertainty. It leaves significant discretion
in the hands of the Chief Firearms Officers, which could lead to
an inconsistent application of law, affecting the lives of Inuit
harvesters.

Clause 70.3’s provisions, allowing for a conditional licence, is
not guaranteed but rather subject to the discretion of the CFO.
This is not an equitable measure, particularly when considering
the geographical and logistical barriers Inuit face when accessing
CFOs. The officer responsible for Nunavut, for example, is
located in Winnipeg. The distance is more than geographical; it
is also cultural and practical. We must ask whether such officials
can adequately assess and understand the unique circumstances
and necessities of Inuit hunters. The process to apply for such a
conditional licence must be clear and accessible in order to avoid
unintended prohibitions on Inuit who hunt for subsistence.
Complex forms, electronic forms or forms not available in
Inuktitut are simply not accessible for Inuit, eliminating the
value of this provision. It is not simply about livelihood; it is
about maintaining cultural practices that are intrinsic to our
communities’ well-being.

The red flag system is another example of a balanced measure
that creates a mechanism that could disrupt Inuit households
disproportionately. Inuit often live in multi-generational homes.
Thus, the seizure of firearms could have unintended
repercussions on entire families, not just the individuals targeted
by the provisions of the bill. The confidential nature of the
application process and the prospect that the target of the
application or their household wouldn’t even know about the
application could also lead to actions being taken without
adequate notice or understanding of a family’s circumstances.
On the other hand, the limited access to justice faced by Inuit
also means that applications themselves would likely be
hampered simply by the fact that Inuit may not be able to apply
in the first instance.

In closing, while the protective intentions of Bill C-21 are
commendable, it’s imperative that the legislation reflects the
realities of all Canadians, including Inuit. ITK is concerned that
the implementation of this legislation will not be effective in
reducing gun-related violence in Inuit Nunangat simply because
our realities are so different than the realities of downtown
Montreal or Toronto.

L’une de nos préoccupations est que le projet de loi propose la
révocation automatique du permis d’arme a feu dans les cas de
violence familiale ou lorsqu’une ordonnance de protection
existe. Bien que l’intention de protéger les collectivités soit
claire et appuyée en principe, le fait que les « actes de violence
familiale » ou la notion de « traqué quelqu’un » ne soient pas
clairement définis suscite de I’incertitude. Cette lacune laisse un
important pouvoir discrétionnaire aux contréleurs des armes a
feu, ce qui pourrait entrainer une application incohérente de la
loi et avoir des répercussions sur la vie des chasseurs inuits.

Les dispositions de 1’article 70.3, qui prévoient la délivrance
de permis assortis de conditions n’offrent aucune garantie, car
elles relévent plutot du pouvoir discrétionnaire du contréleur des
armes a feu. Ce n’est pas d’une mesure équitable, en particulier
si Ion considére les obstacles géographiques et logistiques
auxquels les Inuits sont confrontés pour avoir acces aux
controleurs des armes a feu. Le controleur responsable du
Nunavut, par exemple, est & Winnipeg. Cette distance est plus
que géographique, elle est aussi culturelle et pratique. Nous
devons nous demander si ces fonctionnaires sont en mesure
d’évaluer et de comprendre correctement les circonstances et les
besoins particuliers des chasseurs inuits. Le processus de
demande d’un tel permis conditionnel doit étre clair et accessible
afin d’éviter les interdictions involontaires visant les Inuits qui
chassent pour assurer leur subsistance. Les Inuits n’ont tout
simplement pas accés a des formulaires complexes, électroniques
ou en inuktitut, ce qui élimine la pertinence de cette disposition.
Il n’est pas simplement question de moyens de subsistance; il est
question de préserver des pratiques culturelles intrinséques au
bien-étre de nos communautés.

La fagon de signaler un probléme est un autre exemple d’une
mesure équilibrée qui crée un mécanisme qui pourrait perturber
de fagon disproportionnée les ménages inuits. Les Inuits vivent
souvent dans des logements multigénérationnels. Ainsi, la saisie
d’armes a feu pourrait avoir des répercussions imprévues sur des
familles entiéres, et non seulement sur les personnes visées par
les dispositions du projet de loi. La nature confidentielle du
processus de demande et la possibilité que la personne visée par
la demande ou sa famille ne soit méme pas au courant de la
demande pourraient également se traduire par la prise de mesures
sans préavis suffisant ou sans compréhension de la situation
familiale. D’un autre co6té, I’acces limité a la justice auquel sont
confrontés les Inuits signifie aussi que les demandes elles-mémes
seraient probablement freinées par le simple fait que les Inuits
pourraient ne pas étre en mesure de présenter une demande.

En conclusion, bien que les intentions protectrices du projet de
loi C-21 soient louables, il est impératif que la loi refléte les
réalités de tous les Canadiens, y compris celles des Inuits.
L’Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami craint que la mise en ceuvre de cette loi
ne soit pas efficace pour réduire la violence liée aux armes a feu
dans I’Inuit Nunangat simplement parce que nos réalités sont
extrémement différentes de celles du centre-ville de Montréal ou
de Toronto.
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In addition, any measure that impacts the right to hunt must be
implemented with the utmost caution, ensuring that Inuit
harvesting rights are upheld and that the means to access food
and sustain our way of life are not compromised.

I’d also like to add that there is also the real issue of safety
across Inuit Nunangat. Whenever we go on the land, whenever
we are outside of communities, there are real and existential
threats, such as polar bears, that most Canadians don’t
necessarily have to think about when you go for a walk in the
woods. These are also considerations that just aren’t in the
minds, perhaps, of policy-makers and legislators and ones that
are imperative to our safety as Inuit in Inuit Nunangat.

Nakurmiik. Thank you for your attention to these issues.

The Chair: Thank you very much, President Obed.

Colleagues, we will now proceed to questions. We are
finishing at 8 p.m. this evening. As with previous panels, I'm
limiting each question, including the answer, to four minutes. I’ll
hold up this card to indicate that 30 seconds remains in your
time. I offer the first question, as is the norm, to our deputy
chair, Senator Dagenatis.

[Translation]

Senator Dagenais: Thank you, Mr. Obed. You touched on
this in your remarks, but would you be so kind as to give us an
overview of the impact of firearms in a community like yours?
You talked about domestic violence. Are you able to respond
quickly to an incident of intimate partner violence if a woman is
threatened by an armed partner, which, unfortunately, can be the
case when there are guns in the home?

[English]
Mr. Obed: Thank you for the question.

I'm trying to understand the key considerations of the
question. Across Inuit Nunangat, we have police forces. We have
the ability for intervention if there are acts of domestic violence.
Often, there are protocols around the safety of the family and
then the seizure of weapons in certain scenarios. Those protocols
already exist, but the challenges in the application and how to do
the least amount of harm to the family unit in the application of
law is key to the considerations that we bring here today.

En outre, toute mesure pouvant avoir une incidence sur le droit
de chasse doit étre mise en ceuvre avec la plus grande prudence,
en veillant a ce que les droits de récolte des Inuits soient
respectés et que les moyens d’accéder a la nourriture et de

maintenir notre mode de vie ne soient pas compromis.

De plus, je voudrais ajouter qu’il y a aussi un véritable enjeu
de sécurité qui existe dans 1’Inuit Nunangat. Lorsque nous allons
sur le territoire, que nous sortons de nos collectivités, nous
savons qu’il existe des dangers réels et inhérents, notamment les
ours polaires, des dangers qui ne préoccupent généralement pas
les Canadiens qui sortent faire une randonnée en forét. Ce genre
de considérations ne vient peut-&tre pas a I’esprit des décideurs
et des législateurs, mais elles sont primordiales pour notre
sécurité en tant qu’Inuits dans 1’Inuit Nunangat.

Nakurmiik. Je vous remercie de I’attention que vous portez a
ces questions.

Le président : Merci beaucoup, monsieur Obed.

Chers collégues, nous allons maintenant passer aux questions.
Notre réunion se termine a 20 heures ce soir. Comme pour les
groupes précédents, je vais limiter chaque question, y compris la
réponse, a quatre minutes. Je vais montrer ce carton pour vous
indiquer qu’il vous reste 30 secondes. Comme d’habitude,
j’invite notre vice-président, le sénateur Dagenais, a poser la
premiére question.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Dagenais : Merci monsieur Obed. Vous avez
abordé le sujet d’entrée de jeu, mais pour notre gouverne,
pouvez-vous nous donner un apergu de I’impact des armes a feu
dans une communauté comme la votre? Vous avez parlé de la
violence domestique. Avez-vous la capacit¢ d’intervenir
rapidement dans une situation de violence conjugale, ol une
femme se trouve menacée par un conjoint armé, comme
malheureusement ce peut étre le cas lorsqu’il y a des armes a feu
a la maison?

[Traduction]
M. Obed : Je vous remercie de la question.

J’essaie de comprendre les principaux éléments de la question.
Nous avons des forces policiéres dans 1’Inuit Nunangat. Nous
avons la capacité¢ d’intervenir dans les situations de violence
familiale. Souvent, il y a des protocoles concernant la sécurité de
la famille et la saisie d’armes dans certains scénarios. Ces
protocoles existent déja, mais les défis liés a 1’application de la
loi et a la maniére de nuire le moins possible a I’unité familiale
dans le cadre de 1’application de la loi sont au cceur des
considérations que nous soulevons ici aujourd’hui.
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[Translation]

Senator Dagenais: As you know, the subject of police forces
comes up often in more isolated or remote regions. It’s important
to understand that, when the police can intervene, it takes some
time between the call for help and the response. Unfortunately,
as I experienced in my own career as a police officer, in many
cases, the crime has already been committed by the time officers
arrive.

When there’s a gun in the home, the temptation is strong to
commit intimate partner violence after a heated argument. It can
take a while for the police to respond. That’s why I’m asking you
this question. Obviously, we can’t be against doing the right
thing. People have the right to hunt. However, unfortunately,
when guns are available, that can lead to intimate partner
violence and the need for rapid intervention.

Do you think Bill C-21 can be improved or serve as one more
tool to prevent intimate partner violence against women?

[English]

Mr. Obed: Yes. Our position and our intervention here today
speak to the unequal application of the potential provisions
within the act. We seek equity within the application and the
means necessary, whether it be federal, provincial or territorial,
to ensure that the intent of the piece of legislation can be carried
out in our small, remote communities. Some of the challenges
that could be faced would be long waiting times for the
processing of particular pieces of the implementation of this
legislation at the individual level and, therefore, harming
community just through the basic lack of process. We see this in
many other related areas when it comes to accessing justice,
especially when it comes to firearms.

Will David, would you like to add?

Will David, Director, Legal Affairs, Inuit Tapiriit
Kanatami: In the final report of the National Inquiry on
Murdered and Missing Indigenous Women and Girls, 1 could
refer you to pages 681 and 683 of the report. It summarizes
testimony by Chief Jean-Pierre Larose, with what is now known
as the Nunavik Police Service, who details several of the
capacity challenges related to response in remote communities in
Nunavik, as well as the effect of seemingly neutral
administrative criteria that in the context of northern Quebec can
serve to hamper and hinder both investigation and response.

Senator Boehm: Thank you, President Obed and Mr. David,
for being with us today.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Dagenais : Vous savez, bien souvent, dans les
régions plus isolées ou éloignées, on parle beaucoup des forces
policiéres. Il faut toutefois comprendre que lorsque la police peut
intervenir, il s’écoule un laps de temps entre le moment ou la
police regoit I’appel et son intervention. Malheureusement, pour
I’avoir vécu dans ma carriére alors que j’étais policier, il arrive
souvent qu’avant qu’on arrive, le crime ait déja été commis.

La tentation est forte, lorsqu’une arme a feu se trouve dans la
maison, apres un échange échaudé, d’avoir recours a la violence
conjugale. Avant que la police en soit informée, le temps de
réaction peut étre long. C’est pourquoi je vous pose la question.
Evidemment, on ne peut pas étre contre la vertu. Les personnes
ont le droit de pratiquer la chasse. Toutefois, malheureusement,
lorsqu’il y a des armes a feu a leur disposition, cela peut mener a
de la violence conjugale et il faut intervenir rapidement.

Pensez-vous que projet de loi C-21 pourrait étre amélioré ou
encore constituer un outil de plus pour prévenir la violence
conjugale envers les femmes?

[Traduction]

M. Obed : Oui. Notre position et notre intervention
d’aujourd’hui portent sur ’application inégale des dispositions
éventuelles de la loi. Nous cherchons 1’équité dans I’application
et les moyens nécessaires, que ce soit au niveau fédéral,
provincial ou territorial, pour nous assurer que ’intention de la
loi peut étre appliquée dans nos petites collectivités éloignées.
Parmi les défis a relever, on peut citer les longs délais d’attente
pour le traitement de certains éléments de la mise en ceuvre de
cette loi au niveau individuel et, par conséquent, nuire a la
collectivit¢ simplement en raison de 1’absence de processus.
Nous constatons ce probléme dans plusieurs autres domaines liés
a I’acces a la justice, en particulier en ce qui concerne les armes
a feu.

Monsieur David, voulez-vous ajouter quelque chose?

Will David, directeur, Affaires juridiques, Inuit Tapiriit
Kanatami : Je vous renvoie aux pages 681 et 683 du rapport
final de I’Enquéte nationale sur les femmes et les filles
autochtones disparues et assassinées. On y présente un résumé
du témoignage du chef Jean-Pierre Larose, de ce qui est
maintenant le Service de police du Nunavik, qui décrit en détail
plusieurs des défis liés a la capacité d’intervention dans les
collectivités éloignées du Nunavik, ainsi que I’incidence de
critéres administratifs apparemment neutres qui, dans le contexte
du nord du Québec, peuvent nuire aux enquétes et aux
interventions.

Le sénateur Boehm : Merci, monsiecur Obed et monsieur
David, d’étre parmi nous aujourd’hui.
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I wanted to continue along the lines of Senator Dagenais a
moment ago. Members of this committee, as you recall, were in
Nunavut as part of our study on Arctic security. We met with
you and with others. One of the things that stood out for me was
you mentioned protocols. Various informal arrangements seemed
to exist very well, including for hunters who would have their
guns, go and hunt, then come back and voluntarily give them up.
They would be stored and locked up until they would need them
again. How successful have these programs been? Is there any
potential application as the fine matters get worked out in terms
of the application of Bill C-21 when it’s passed, I’'m assuming?
How do you see that?

Mr. Obed: For the ability for Inuit who would otherwise not
be able to access their own fircarms, to harvest for their
community, to spend time with elders on the land and to be
living a healthy life and supporting community, any opportunity
that we can afford for people to do that is welcome. Any
legislation or the implementation of legislation that allows for a
holistic understanding of the community’s needs within the
administration of justice is in line with Inuit traditional justice
practises.

In these types of programs and scenarios, it’s very clearly for a
particular purpose, scenarios that are de-escalated. They also
have peer groups so that there is a positive interaction happening
in relation to the administration of justice rather than being
exclusively punitive. If in this legislation there is flexibility for
communities to work with governments for self-determination in
the application of these measures, then you will get better
outcomes, ones that work for Inuit communities in much better
ways.

Senator Boehm: Thank you.

Senator Plett: Thank you for being here, President Obed.

You mentioned just in your closing comments about some of
the different circumstances. I’ve had the opportunity to travel a
good part of the North in our country and spent time in camps
with polar bears 100 yards away from the camp. Certainly, I can
identify, at least in part, with a person who would want to be
sufficiently armed when they are out there. That is one reason
why, of course, a government should consult with different
organizations, because circumstances are different.

The minister was here at our committee, and he said:

We engaged with First Nations, Inuit and Métis
organizations, rural and northern communities, victims’
groups, and with the firearms community and sportspersons
and sports shooters across Canada to hear their perspectives

Je vais poursuivre dans la méme veine que le sénateur
Dagenais. Des membres du comité, vous vous en souvenez, sont
allés au Nunavut dans le cadre de notre étude sur la sécurité dans
I’Arctique. Nous vous avons rencontré, ainsi que d’autres
personnes. L une des choses qui m’a frappé, c’est que vous avez
mentionné qu’il y avait des protocoles. Divers arrangements
informels semblaient trés bien fonctionner, y compris pour les
chasseurs qui utilisaient leurs armes pour chasser et qui les
remettaient volontairement a leur retour. Les armes étaient
rangées sous clé jusqu’a ce que les chasseurs en aient de nouveau
besoin. Quel a été le succes de ces programmes? Y a-t-il une
possibilité de mise en ceuvre au fur et a mesure que les détails
seront réglés relativement a 1’application du projet de loi C-21
apres son adoption, je présume? Comment envisagez-vous cela?

M. Obed : Pour les Inuits qui, autrement, ne pourraient pas
utiliser leurs propres armes a feu, chasser pour leur collectivité,
passer du temps avec des ainés sur le territoire, vivre une vie
saine et soutenir la collectivité, toute occasion que nous pouvons
offrir aux gens de faire ces choses est la bienvenue. Toute loi ou
mise en ceuvre d’une loi incluant une compréhension holistique
des besoins de la collectivité dans I’administration de la justice
est cohérente avec les traditions des Inuits en matiére de justice.

Ces types de programmes et de scénarios ont trés clairement
un objectif particulier, celui de désamorcage. Il y a aussi des
groupes de pairs qui favorisent une interaction positive de sorte
que l’administration de la justice ne soit pas exclusivement
punitive. Si cette loi offre une certaine flexibilité aux
communautés pour qu’elles puissent travailler avec les
gouvernements pour 1’autodétermination dans 1’application de
ces mesures, vous obtiendrez de meilleurs résultats, des résultats
qui conviennent beaucoup mieux aux collectivités inuites.

Le sénateur Boehm : Merci.

Le sénateur Plett : Je vous remercie d’étre avec nous,
monsieur Obed.

Dans votre conclusion, vous avez parlé de certains différents
contextes. J’ai eu I’occasion de voyager dans une bonne partie du
Nord de notre pays et de passer du temps dans des camps alors
qu’il y avait des ours polaires a 100 métres du camp. Je peux
certainement comprendre, du moins en partie, une personne qui
voudrait étre suffisamment armée lorsqu’elle est pleine nature.
C’est une des raisons pour lesquelles, bien sir, un gouvernement
devrait consulter différentes organisations, car les circonstances
ne sont pas les mémes.

Le ministre a comparu devant notre comité et il a dit :

Nous avons discuté avec les organisations des Premiéres
Nations, des peuples inuits, des M¢étis, des communautés
rurales et nordiques, des groupes de victimes, les
communautés des armes a feu, les sportifs, les tireurs
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and to ensure that we respect their traditions and way of life.
These consultations have informed our path forward.

I have asked a number of witnesses from different
organizations what the consultation process was, and even the
witness just before you, Chief Teegee, said they had been zero.
The minister keeps saying he’s consulted with everybody. What
consultation was there with your community and your people?

Mr. Obed: Thank you for the question. I’ll pass it to Will
David.

Senator Plett: Thank you.

Mr. David: Put simply, there was none. The minister had
reached out and offered, and we had reached out and requested,
but that consultation never occurred. We’re still waiting.

Senator Plett: Thank you very much.

President, under the United Nations Declaration on the Rights
of Indigenous Peoples, government ministers have often repeated
the commitment, “Nothing about us without us.” I think
UNDRIP was pretty clear in what it was supposed to be. It was
debated at length. It was discussed at length. What does that
pledge mean if, on a bill like this, there are no consultations
before it is introduced? What’s your impression of the respect
that the government has for UNDRIP when they do not consult?

Mr. Obed: Well, from a practical measure, it was very
positive that the Government of Canada passed the United
Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act.
The Government of Canada has also, within the timelines that it
has pledged, worked with First Nations, Inuit and Métis to create
an associating action plan for implementation of the act and
implementation of the actions that the government must take to
comply with UNDRIP. We actually don’t yet know how much
money that will cost and what concrete measures the government
will take to implement the action plan that it endorsed on
Indigenous Peoples Day, June 21 of this year.

We are still waiting to understand not only that piece of
legislation but also the co-developed principles for legislation
that we have endorsed with the Government of Canada for pieces
of legislation that directly affect Inuit, and also the Inuit
Nunangat policy, which the Government of Canada adopted as of
April 2022, and how all of that will meaningfully impact our
day-to-day work on the development of legislation and policies
or programs that affect Inuit.

sportifs de partout au Canada pour connaitre leurs points de
vue et nous assurer que nous respectons leurs traditions et
leurs modes de vie. Ces consultations nous ont permis
d’aller de I’avant.

J’ai demandé a quelques témoins de différentes organisations
quel était le processus de consultation, et méme le témoin qui
vous a précédé, le chef Teegee, a dit qu’il n’y en avait eu aucun.
Le ministre répéte sans cesse qu’il a consulté tout le monde.
Quelles consultations ont été menées aupres de votre collectivité
et de votre peuple?

M. Obed : Je vous remercie de votre question. Je laisse
M. David vous répondre.

Le sénateur Plett : Merci.

M. David : Pour dire les choses simplement, il n’y pas eu de
consultations. Le ministre avait communiqué avec nous et nous
avions fait une demande, mais cette consultation n’a jamais eu
lieu. Nous attendons toujours.

Le sénateur Plett : Merci beaucoup.

Monsieur le président, dans le cadre de la Déclaration des
Nations unies sur les droits des peuples autochtones, les
ministres du gouvernement ont souvent répété 1’engagement
suivant : « Rien sur nous, sans nous. » Je pense que la DNUDPA
était assez claire sur ce qu’elle était censée accomplir. Elle fait
I’objet d’un long débat. On en a longuement parlé. Que signifie
un tel engagement si, pour un projet de loi comme celui-ci, il n’y
a pas de consultations avant sa présentation? Quelle idée vous
faites-vous du respect du gouvernement pour la DNUDPA s’il ne
procede pas a des consultations?

M. Obed : D’un point de vue pratique, il est de bon augure
que le gouvernement du Canada ait adopté la loi sur la
Déclaration des Nations unies sur les droits des peuples
autochtones. Le gouvernement du Canada a également, dans les
délais qu’il s’était engagé a respecter, travaillé avec les
Premieres Nations, les Inuits et les Métis pour créer un plan
d’action associant la mise en ceuvre de la loi et la mise en place
des mesures que le gouvernement doit prendre pour se conformer
a la DNUDPA. En fait, nous ne savons pas encore combien
d’argent cela coltera et quelles mesures concrétes le
gouvernement prendra pour mettre en ceuvre le plan d’action
qu’il a approuvé lors de la Journée des populations autochtones,
le 21 juin de cette année.

Nous attendons toujours de comprendre non seulement ce
texte législatif, mais aussi les principes législatifs élaborés
conjointement avec le gouvernement du Canada pour les textes
législatifs qui touchent directement les Inuits, ainsi que la
politique sur I’Inuit Nunangat, que le gouvernement du Canada a
adoptée en avril 2022, et le profond impact que tout cela aura sur
notre travail quotidien d’élaboration des lois et des politiques ou
programmes qui touchent les Inuits.
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This is a great example of something that is central to our
relationship with Canada, something that has, in a historic way,
always been difficult, all the way back to the long-gun registry
and the inability for Inuit to be heard and our concerns to be
adopted into the administration of that particular exercise.

I would just summarize my point by saying it’s disappointing,
but I remain optimistic. It will take processes like this to be able
to hold the government to account for the things it has pledged to
do with us.

Senator Plett: Hope springs eternal. Let me just say you
would probably agree that, as the Prime Minister knows how to
pause certain carbon tax issues, maybe he should put a pause on
Bill C-21 until after June.

Mr. Obed: It’s hard enough for us to understand the
legislative processes of the Government of Canada, so I’'m not
going to necessarily tell it what to do within timelines. This is an
important piece of legislation, and if our concerns can be
adequately addressed, then that is our ultimate goal.

Senator M. Deacon: Thank you both for being here today.
It’s greatly appreciated.

I’m not sure, but you may have heard some of the earlier
sessions where we were talking about the red flag laws a little
bit. I’d like to come back and follow up on that again. It’s our
understanding that the red flag laws don’t pre-empt someone
going to the police for an emergency prohibition order, though
there is a concern that the police could wash their hands, not
have time or say, “You can look after it yourself.”

On the other hand, with all these requests being fulfilled under
the current regime, have you already been given the kind of
uneven level of policing that we heard about? You talked about
Winnipeg being remote, but given that uneven level of policing
that you experience, might it be advantageous to allow someone
to bypass the police completely?

Mr. Obed: I’ll pass this question to Will David.
Senator M. Deacon: That’s fine. Thank you.

Mr. David: The red flag system is definitely a central point of
concern for us. I suppose the system itself presumes that there
are police to enforce it, yes. It also presumes that there are
effective provincial courts available in all communities at all
times. There’s a real challenge there in terms of whether or not
someone seeking an order has access to the means to be able to

C’est un excellent exemple de quelque chose qui est au coeur
de nos relations avec le Canada, quelque chose qui, d’un point de
vue historique, a toujours été difficile, depuis le registre des
armes d’épaule et I’incapacité des Inuits a se faire entendre et a
tenir compte de nos préoccupations dans 1’administration de cet
exercice en particulier.

Je résumerai mon propos en disant que cela est décevant, mais
que je reste néanmoins optimiste. Il faudra des processus comme
celui-ci pour que le gouvernement soit en mesure de rendre
compte des choses qu’il s’est engagé a accomplir avec nous.

Le sénateur Plett : L’espoir est ¢éternel. Permettez-moi
d’affirmer que vous seriez probablement d’accord pour dire que,
puisque le premier ministre sait comment mettre en veilleuse
certaines questions relatives a la taxe sur le carbone, il devrait
peut-étre mettre en veilleuse le projet de loi C-21 jusqu’a apres
juin.

M. Obed : Nous avons déja du mal a comprendre les
processus législatifs du gouvernement du Canada, aussi ne vais-
je pas forcément lui dire ce qu’il doit faire dans les délais
impartis. Il s’agit d’un texte législatif important, et si nos
préoccupations peuvent étre prises en compte de manicre
satisfaisante, ¢’est notre objectif ultime.

La sénatrice M. Deacon : Je vous remercie tous les deux
d’étre ici aujourd’hui. Cela est fort apprécié.

Je n’en suis pas slire, mais vous avez peut-étre entendu parler
de certaines des séances précédentes au cours desquelles nous
avons un peu parlé des dispositions « drapeau rouge ». J’aimerais
revenir sur ce point. Nous croyons savoir que les dispositions
« drapeau rouge » n’empéchent personne de s’adresser a la
police pour obtenir une ordonnance d’interdiction d’urgence,
méme si I’on craint que la police s’en lave les mains, n’ait pas le
temps de s’en occuper ou dise : « Vous pouvez vous débrouiller
seuls. »

D’un autre c6té, avec toutes ces demandes satisfaites dans le
cadre du régime actuel, avez-vous déja bénéficié du niveau
inégal de maintien de 1’ordre dont nous avons entendu parler?
Vous avez parlé de 1’¢éloignement de Winnipeg, mais étant donné
le niveau inégal de maintien de 1’ordre dont vous faites
I’expérience, ne serait-il pas préférable de permettre a quelqu’un
de contourner complétement la police?

M. Obed : Je vais transmettre cette question a Will David.
La sénatrice M. Deacon : Trés bien. Je vous en remercie.

M. David : Le régime de drapeaux rouges est sans aucun
doute au cceur de nos préoccupations. Je suppose que le régime
lui-méme présume qu’il y a une force de police pour 1’appliquer.
Il présume également qu’il y a des tribunaux provinciaux

efficaces dans toutes les communautés a tout moment. La
question de savoir si une personne qui demande une ordonnance
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do it. From the perspective of trying to prevent violence, the red
flag system itself may not be entirely helpful within all
communities within Inuit Nunangat. On top of that, it allows for
one to apply for an ex parte order, so you could have police,
where the red flag system is available, showing up unannounced
to seize firearms from people who are not aware that those police
are basically showing up to seize those firearms.

The entire system itself seems set up to work well in areas
where there’s a lot of legal and enforcement infrastructure. The
problem here is that we don’t perceive that there is adequate
infrastructure to actually make the provisions effective, either for
community safety or for the delicate balance that the legislation
seeks to strike between, essentially, section 35 rights holders and
harvesters and then victims or potential victims of domestic
violence.

Senator M. Deacon: I think that’s part of it. I know some of
the challenges are inconsistent policing and different pieces. I
wondered if there is already under way another way of managing
this without the bill. Because you have inadequate policing and
because you talked about what the legal system is to back it
up — those are obviously challenges that have been around for
quite some time. Is there already a way that you are finding your
own way to address it?

Mr. David: Sure. We’re here, basically and as is often the
case, responding to a piece of legislation that was drafted
without extensive input. That’s fine, because it’s dealing with
societal issues.

What I would refer to on that side is not that different from
what you heard on the previous panel, which is essentially the
Inuit action plan for the National Inquiry on Murdered and
Missing Indigenous Women and Girls. A lot of our solutions are
found within that Inuit action plan. The reason it’s so critical for
us to have a distinction-based action plan is precisely to balance
not only the legal enforcement infrastructure gaps but also the
reality that firearms are a necessity within Inuit communities and
the fact that violence and violent crime is also a reality.

Senator M. Deacon: Thank you.
Senator Yussuff: Thank you for being here.

Section 35 principles are very important in the context of
rights holders. At the same time, there are things in this bill that
try to address some other delicate issues. I think you stated
eloquently that, especially in the North and in your community,
the system is not what it is in downtown Toronto. That’s

dispose des moyens nécessaires pour le faire pose un vrai
probléme. Du point de vue de la prévention de la violence, le
régime d’avertissement proprement dit peut ne pas étre
enticrement utile dans toutes les communautés de 1’Inuit
Nunangat. En outre, il permet de demander une ordonnance ex
parte, de sorte que la police pourrait, la ou le régime
d’avertissement existe, se présenter a I’improviste pour saisir les
armes a feu de personnes qui ne savent pas que la police se
présente pour saisir ces armes a feu.

L’ensemble du systéme semble congu pour fonctionner
correctement dans les régions ou il existe de multiples
infrastructures juridiques et de mise en ceuvre. Le probleme ici
est que nous n’avons pas ’impression qu’il existe
d’infrastructures suffisantes pour rendre les dispositions
efficaces, que ce soit pour la sécurité de la communauté ou pour
I’équilibre délicat que la législation cherche a établir entre,
essentiellement, les détenteurs et les titulaires de droits au sens
de T’article 35 et les victimes ou les victimes potentielles de
violence conjugale.

La sénatrice M. Deacon : Je pense que c’est en partie le cas.
Je sais que certains des défis sont liés a 1’incohérence des
services de police et a d’autres éléments. Je me demande s’il
n’existe pas déja une autre facon de gérer ce probléme sans ce
projet de loi. Etant donné que les services de police sont
inadéquats et que vous avez parlé du systeme juridique qui est 1a
pour les soutenir, il s’agit manifestement de défis qui existent
depuis un certain temps. Existe-t-il un moyen que vous avez
découvert pour y remédier?

M. David : Bien sir. Nous sommes ici, essentiellement et
comme c’est souvent le cas, en train de répondre a un texte de loi
qui a été rédigé sans que nous ayons eu l’occasion de nous
exprimer. C’est trés bien, car il s’agit de questions sociétales.

Ce que j’évoquerai de ce cOté n’est guere différent de ce que
vous avez entendu dire dans le groupe précédent, a savoir
essentiellement le plan d’action inuit pour I’enquéte nationale sur
les femmes autochtones disparues et assassinées. Beaucoup de
nos solutions se trouvent dans ce plan d’action inuit. La raison
pour laquelle il est si important pour nous d’avoir un plan
d’action fondé sur la distinction est précisément pour équilibrer
non seulement les lacunes des infrastructures d’application de la
loi, mais aussi le fait que les armes a feu sont une nécessité dans
les communautés inuites et le fait que la violence et les crimes
violents sont aussi une réalité.

La sénatrice M. Deacon : Merci.
Le sénateur Yussuff : Merci d’étre parmi nous ici.

Les principes de l’article 35 sont trés importants dans le
contexte des titulaires de droits. En méme temps, certains
¢léments de ce projet de loi tentent d’aborder d’autres questions
délicates. Je pense que vous avez déclaré avec éloquence que,
surtout dans le Nord et dans votre communauté, le systéme n’est
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reality — equal access to the court and recourse mechanism. You
also stated clearly that the Chief Firearms Officer is not in your
community; they are very far away. Given they have legal
responsibility in enforcing legislation, because they are far away,
their ability to impact even the basic requirements of their duties
are very distanced as to when they show up, if they show up at
all. T guess it would be fair to suggest that the application of the
intent of the legislation would need to have a very different
approach as to how we would treat certain sections of Canada.

Having recently been up there to visit, meet you and look at
Arctic security, there is a need for us to understand this. I also
appreciate the point you’re making here, because it’s unique to
the North; it’s not specific but is very unique. It’s a different part
of the world. Despite the fact that we’re a big country, the law
doesn’t apply itself equally no matter how we might want or
desire that. In the North, it’s important for us to recognize that if
this law is going to have any impact.

I think the point you said about self-determination of
application is an important principle we need to understand.
Could you elaborate a little more in some very specific ways
about how we can empower — specifically, in your community
and in your territory, how this could be a meaningful way to
apply this legislation and recognize the principle but, at the same
time, recognize the uniqueness of the North?

Mr. Obed: Something I haven’t brought up yet is in relation
to the amount of violence and self-harm that happens within our
communities, whether it be suicidal ideation or attempts,
domestic violence or other forms of violence. Unfortunately, per
capita, we have much higher rates than the rest of the country.
That is also another reason to consider distinctions-based, Inuit-
specific considerations for the implementation of this legislation.

Our realities didn’t come out of a vacuum, and in many cases,
it has been government policy and government legislation that
has created scenarios that have exacerbated challenges within
our communities and then kept them as the status quo. The lack
of upstream investment or the lack of infrastructure, whether it
be administrative infrastructure from the federal government
down to the provinces and territories, or the basic infrastructure
for housing or for health care services — you can’t overlook the
absence of those in relation to the particular challenges that
you’re trying to serve within this legislation. If there aren’t
women’s shelters or housing options for all parts of the
community, if there isn’t an ability to heal and the ability for
health services to be delivered — all of that plays into the
application of this particular piece of legislation.

pas ce qu’il est en plein ceeur de Toronto. C’est la réalité —
I’égalité d’acces aux tribunaux et aux mécanismes de recours.
Vous avez également déclaré clairement que le contrdleur des
armes a feu n’est pas dans votre communauté : il en est tres
éloigné. Etant donné qu’il est investi de la responsabilité légale
d’appliquer la législation, il est trés loin et sa capacité a répondre
aux exigences de base de ses fonctions est trés limitée quant au
moment ou il se présente, si tant est qu’il se présente. Je pense
qu’il serait juste d’insinuer que la concrétisation de 1’objet de la
législation devrait suivre une approche tres différente quant a la
manicre dont nous traitons certaines régions du Canada.

Je me suis récemment rendu sur place pour vous rendre visite
et examiner la sécurité dans I’ Arctique, il est nécessaire que nous
comprenions parfaitement cela. J’apprécie également le point
que vous soulevez ici, car il est propre au Nord; il n’est pas
propre, mais il est unique. C’est une partie du monde bien
différente. Bien que nous soyons un grand pays, la loi ne
s’applique pas de la méme maniére, quand bien méme nous le
voudrions. Dans le Nord, il est important que nous le
reconnaissions si nous voulons que cette loi ait un impact
quelconque.

Je pense que ce que vous avez dit a propos de
I’autodétermination de 1’application est un principe important
que nous devons comprendre. Pourriez-vous nous expliquer un
peu plus en détail comment nous pouvons prouver des moyens
d’action — en particulier, dans votre communauté et dans votre
territoire, comment cela pourrait étre une fagon significative
d’appliquer cette loi et de reconnaitre le principe, mais, en méme
temps, de reconnaitre le caractére unique du Nord?

M. Obed : Je n’ai pas encore abordé la question de la
violence et de l’automutilation dans nos communautés, qu’il
s’agisse d’idées ou de tentatives de suicide, de violence
conjugale ou d’autres formes de violence. Malheureusement, par
habitant, nous avons des taux beaucoup plus élevés que dans le
reste du pays. C’est aussi une autre raison d’envisager des
considérations fondées sur des distinctions propres aux Inuits
pour la mise en ceuvre de cette 1égislation.

Nos réalités ne sont pas nées du néant et, dans bien des cas, ce
sont les politiques et les législations gouvernementales qui ont
créé des scénarios qui ont exacerbé les difficultés au sein de nos
communautés, puis les ont maintenues comme statu quo. Le
manque d’investissements en amont ou la pénurie
d’infrastructures, qu’il s’agisse d’infrastructures administratives
du gouvernement fédéral jusqu’aux provinces et territoires, ou
d’infrastructures de base pour le logement ou les services de
soins de santé — vous ne pouvez pas ignorer 1’absence de ces
infrastructures par rapport aux défis particuliers que vous
essayez de relever dans le cadre de cette 1égislation. S’il n’y a
pas de refuges pour femmes ou d’options de logement pour tous
les segments de la communauté, s’il n’y a pas de possibilité de
guérison et de prestation de services de santé, tout cela entre en
ligne de compte dans 1’application de ce texte 1égislatif.
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An Inuit-specific implementation of this act would ensure
equity for all those who wish to use it and would also find
partnerships to be able to enforce the provisions and regulations
stemming from the act itself. We want to do all we can,
especially in relation to domestic violence, so that those
experiencing domestic violence in our communities have every
opportunity to avail themselves of safety and pathways to safety.
We can do both. We can do that and we can ensure that there
aren’t punitive measures that lead to our community not being as
functional or healthy through the implementation of this
legislation.

In some cases, legislators tend to say that the good outweighs
the bad. We don’t mind if there is collateral damage for a
particular small population if it supports a larger initiative. From
public policy, of course, that’s the lens the Government of
Canada applies. Our communities are so small. We know each
other. Whether or not there are challenges, we live with our
relatives, families and community members. It’s not like Ottawa
where there are a million people. There are 800 or 900 people.

Restorative justice, the ability to work through challenges and
the ability to implement federal legislation with an imagination
on the good of community rather than just an individual nature of
an offence being administered is really what we’re trying to get
at here.

Senator Cardozo: Thank you, President Obed and Mr. David.

The points you have just made us aware of in the past few
minutes are important and part of what I want to talk about. In
terms of the need for this kind of legislation, we have heard from
women’s groups that are particularly concerned about domestic
violence. Across the country, there is a real view that there is a
crisis or an epidemic. As you noted, unfortunately, in Inuit
communities, the rates might be higher. We’re trying to get at
some of that, and you have outlined some of the problems with
the red flag and yellow flag.

I look at subclause 72.1(1) of the bill, which says:

The provisions enacted by this Act are to be construed as
upholding the rights of Indigenous peoples recognized and
affirmed by section 35 of the Constitution Act, 1982, and
not as abrogating or derogating from them.

Une mise en ceuvre de cette loi propre aux Inuits garantirait
I’équité pour tous ceux qui souhaitent 1’utiliser et permettrait
également de trouver des partenariats pour pouvoir appliquer les
dispositions et les réglements découlant de la loi proprement
dite. Nous voulons faire tout ce qui est en notre pouvoir, en
particulier en ce qui concerne la violence conjugale, pour que les
victimes de violence conjugale dans nos communautés disposent
de toutes les possibilités de se prévaloir de la sécurité¢ et des
voies d’accés a la sécurité. Nous pouvons faire les deux. Nous
pouvons le faire et nous pouvons veiller a ce qu’il n’y ait pas de
mesures punitives qui aboutissent au fait que notre communauté
n’est pas aussi fonctionnelle ou saine en raison de la mise en
ceuvre de cette 1égislation.

Dans certains cas, les législateurs ont tendance a dire que le
bien I’emporte sur le mal. Nous ne voyons pas d’inconvénient a
ce qu’il y ait des dommages collatéraux pour une population
restreinte particuliére si cela permet de soutenir une initiative
plus large. Du point de vue de la politique publique, c’est bien
sur D’optique qu’adopte le gouvernement du Canada. Nos
communautés sont si petites. Nous nous connaissons tous. Qu’il
y ait ou non des difficultés, nous vivons avec nos proches, nos
familles et les membres de notre communauté. Ce n’est pas
comme a Ottawa, ou il y a un million d’habitants. Il y a ici
800 ou 900 personnes.

La justice réparatrice, la capacité de surmonter les difficultés
et la capacit¢ de mettre en ceuvre la législation fédérale en
pensant au bien de la collectivité plutét qu’a la nature
individuelle de I’infraction commise, voila ce que nous essayons
de faire ici.

Le sénateur Cardozo : Merci, monsieur le président Obed et
monsieur David.

Les points que vous venez de soulever au cours des derniéres
minutes sont importants et font partie de ce dont je veux parler.
En ce qui concerne la nécessité de ce type de législation, nous
avons entendu des groupes de femmes particuliérement
préoccupés par la violence conjugale. Partout dans le pays, on
estime qu’il s’agit d’une crise ou d’une épidémie. Comme vous
I’avez noté, malheureusement, dans les communautés inuites, les
taux sont sans doute plus élevés. Nous essayons d’y remédier, et
vous avez souligné certains des problémes que posent le drapeau
rouge et le drapeau jaune.

J’examine le paragraphe 72.1(1) du projet de loi, qui stipule
que :

Les dispositions édictées par la présente loi doivent étre
interprétées comme affirmant les droits des peuples
autochtones reconnus et confirmés par ’article 35 de la Loi
constitutionnelle de 1982, et non comme les abrogeant ou y
dérogeant.
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Does that give the government the ability to construct a series
of regulations that would talk about the Inuit action plan you
mentioned coming out of MMIWG? The issues you're talking
about, in some senses, go way beyond this bill in dealing with
safety and the criminal justice system at large. My question is in
two parts: Is there enough in clause 72 of the bill, in your view,
from which can come some regulations that address it, and is
there another much larger piece that needs to be dealt with
beyond this bill?

Mr. Obed: First, I think the larger thing being dealt with is
actually in another bill that is in Senate committee, which is
Bill S-13 on the non-derogation clause. I was here for another
lively round of conversation about that about two weeks ago.
That’s more a simple placeholder, saying that this legislation
can’t change section 35, in layman’s terms.

The larger picture has to tie into the UNDRIP Act
implementation. It has to tie into the Inuit-Crown Partnership
Committee and the processes we are following on our joint party
areas in that space.

From the legal perspective, I’ll pass the mic to Will David for
a response.

Mr. David: The approach that you’re suggesting on
regulations is precisely the reason we would be seeking passage
of Bill S-13 — cases like this and elsewhere — because it would
address, in our view, regulatory and policy issues.

The question that I think this committee needs to grapple
with — I do not have a good answer for you on it — is whether
or not the totality of circumstances on this legislation in terms of
interference with section 35 harvesting rights rises to such a level
that the legislation itself creates derogation or abrogation of the
section 35 right. It is a serious concern that I have only because
such a vulnerability could lead to a collapse of an otherwise
laudable legislative regime and could undermine several not only
noble but necessary purposes and principles that are embedded
within the legislation itself. The impact on harvesting rights is a
serious concern that I can’t understate.

Senator Cardozo: Could you tell me a bit more about
harvesting rights?

Mr. David: If the legislation creates enough tangible or legal
barriers to the ability of the Inuit to harvest consistent with the
treaty rights that the rights holders negotiated with Canada,
rights holders themselves — as you heard on the last panel —
could contemplate a challenge to the legislative regime. It’s more

Cela confére-t-il au gouvernement le pouvoir d’élaborer une
série de réglements qui traiteraient du plan d’action inuit que
vous avez mentionné et qui a été élaboré par la FFADA? Les
questions dont vous parlez, dans un certain sens, vont bien au-
dela de ce projet de loi en ce qui concerne la sécurité et le
systtme de justice pénale en général. Ma question comporte
deux volets : ’article 72 du projet de loi contient-il suffisamment
d’éléments, a votre avis, pour que l’on puisse élaborer des
réglements a ce sujet, et y a-t-il un autre élément beaucoup plus
important qui doit étre traité au-dela de ce projet de loi?

M. Obed : Tout d’abord, je pense que la question la plus
importante est en fait abordée dans un autre projet de loi qui se
trouve devant un comité du Sénat, a savoir le projet de loi S-13
sur les dispositions de non-dérogation. J’ai participé a un autre
débat animé a ce sujet il y a environ deux semaines. Il s’agit
plutot d’un simple texte de remplacement, qui affirme que cette
législation ne peut pas modifier I’article 35, en langage courant.

Le tableau d’ensemble doit étre li¢ a la mise en ceuvre de la
DNUDPA. 11 doit étre li¢ au comité de partenariat entre les Inuits
et la Couronne ainsi qu’aux processus que nous suivons dans les
¢éléments de notre parti commun dans ce domaine.

Du point de vue juridique, je vais passer le micro a Will David
pour une réponse.

M. David : L’approche que vous suggérez en matiére de
réglementation est précisément la raison pour laquelle nous
souhaitons 1’adoption du projet de loi S-13 — dans des cas
comme celui-ci et ailleurs — parce qu’il traite, a notre avis, de
questions de réglementation et de politique.

La question que ce comité doit se poser, & mon avis, — je n’ai
pas de bonne réponse a vous donner a ce sujet — est de savoir si
oui ou non I’ensemble des circonstances de cette 1égislation sur
le plan de I’ingérence dans les droits de récolte de 1’article 35
atteint un niveau tel que la législation elle-méme crée une
dérogation ou une abrogation du droit de 1’article 35. C’est une
préoccupation sérieuse que j’éprouve uniquement parce qu’une
telle vulnérabilité pourrait conduire a 1’effondrement d’un
régime législatif par ailleurs louable et pourrait saper plusieurs
objectifs et principes non seulement nobles mais nécessaires qui
sont intégrés dans la 1égislation proprement dite. L’impact sur les
droits de récolte est une préoccupation sérieuse que je ne peux
pas sous-estimer.

Le sénateur Cardozo : Pourriez-vous m’en dire un peu plus
sur les droits de récolte?

M. David : Si la loi crée suffisamment d’obstacles tangibles
ou juridiques a la capacité des Inuits de récolter conformément
aux droits issus des traités que les détenteurs de droits ont
négociés avec le Canada, les détenteurs de droits eux-mémes —
comme vous l’avez entendu dire lors du dernier groupe de
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likely than not to occur if the balance itself isn’t very carefully
struck precisely because there hasn’t been a lot of consultation
on that point in the legislation.

Senator Cardozo: Excuse my ignorance, but what harvesting
would you be talking about? Is it seal harvesting?

Mr. David: It would be any kind of harvesting that would
require a firearm. It has been litigated in the past, so it’s not
fresh. There was dialogue on this at the house, which was quite
disturbing.

Senator Cardozo: Thank you.
[Translation]
Senator Dagenais: My question is for Mr. Obed.

Mr. Obed, do you have any statistics on the number of
firearms owned by members of your community? You say that
these are small communities where everyone knows each other.
If not, wouldn’t it be useful for your police officers to know how
many firearms are in your community?

[English]

Mr. Obed: I don’t have the statistics on how many firearms
are in Inuit communities. We will go back and see if we can
come up with a number for you. I am not actually aware of any
particular data sets that exist around it, but perhaps there are.

[Translation]

Senator Dagenais: You mentioned police intervention. It’s
important to understand that, given the size of the territory, the
limited number of police officers is always a problem. It would
be useful for the police to know how many firearms are out
there. When the police receive a call, the response is quicker and
more effective if they already know that firearms are inside the
residence. I would appreciate it if you could send us that
information in writing. Thank you very much.

[English]

Senator Plett: 1 want to go back to some of the consultation
processes and so on and so forth. Some have certainly argued
that circumstances in the North are extremely unique, yet very
little allowance has been made for that in this legislation. It’s
kind of a one size fits all. One example of that was the
amendment proposed late last year to ban semi-automatic long
guns. It was an amendment the government backed away from in
the bill itself but, of course, there is the threat to bring it back in

discussion — pourraient envisager de contester le régime
1égislatif. Il est plus probable qu’improbable que cela se produise
si 1’équilibre lui-méme n’est pas trés soigneusement établi,
précisément parce qu’il n’y a pas eu beaucoup de consultations
sur ce point dans la législation.

Le sénateur Cardozo : Pardonnez-moi mon ignorance, mais
de quelle chasse parlez-vous? S’agit-il de la chasse aux phoques?

M. David : Il s’agit de tout type de chasse qui nécessite une
arme a feu. Cette question a déja été débattue dans le passé, elle
n’est donc pas nouvelle. Il y a eu un dialogue a ce sujet a la
Chambre, ce qui était assez troublant.

Le sénateur Cardozo : Merci.
[Frangais]
Le sénateur Dagenais : Ma question s’adresse a M. Obed.

Monsieur Obed, avez-vous une idée, sur le plan de la
statistique, du nombre d’armes a feu dont sont en possession les
membres de votre communauté? Vous dites qu’il s’agit de petites
communautés ou tout le monde se connait. Sinon, ne serait-ce
pas utile pour vos policiers de savoir combien d’armes a feu se
trouvent dans votre communauté?

[Traduction]

M. Obed : Je n’ai pas de statistiques quant au nombre
d’armes a feu dans les communautés inuites. Nous allons y
revenir et voir si nous pouvons vous donner un chiffre exact. Je
ne suis pas au courant de 1’existence d’un ensemble de données
particuliéres a ce sujet, mais il y en a peut-étre.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Dagenais : Vous avez parlé des interventions
policiéres. Il faut comprendre que, compte tenu de la grandeur du
territoire, le nombre restreint de policiers est toujours un
probléme. Il serait utile pour les policiers de savoir combien
d’armes a feu sont en circulation. Les interventions sont plus
rapides et plus fructueuses, lorsque les policiers regoivent un
appel, s’ils savent déja que des armes a feu se trouvent a
I’intérieur de la résidence. Je vous serais reconnaissant de nous
faire parvenir cette information par écrit. Je vous remercie
beaucoup.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Plett : Je voudrais revenir sur certains processus
de consultation, etc. D’aucuns ont indéniablement fait valoir que
les circonstances dans le Nord sont vraiment uniques, et pourtant
trés peu d’éléments ont été pris en compte dans cette 1égislation.
1l s’agit en quelque sorte d’une situation unique. Mentionnons a
titre d’exemple I’amendement proposé a la fin de 1’année
derniére pour interdire les armes d’épaule semi-automatiques. Le
gouvernement a renoncé a cet amendement dans le projet de loi
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another form, perhaps through the regulatory process. Again, do
you feel you are being listened to? Are there amendments to this
bill that you might suggest that might address some of your
concerns?

Mr. Obed: I'll start with the very fuzzy understanding we
have about which types of firearms come under the jurisdiction
of this particular piece of legislation. We as ITK have not
formally worked with the Government of Canada on
understanding what may or may not be on a list. Within our
communities, our focus really is about harvesting and firearms
that play very straightforward ways in which we can harvest. Of
course, perhaps there may be gun collectors in Inuit Nunangat as
well. However, the large majority of Inuit who own firearms do
so for the express purpose of safety and for harvesting. We
welcome any conversations with the government around the
particular list that may seriously affect our ability to harvest.

For the last part of your question, I will pass it to Mr. David.

Mr. David: The bill is too complex for us to be able to offer
constructive amendments at this point. We’re trying to provide
assistance just by scoping the nature of the issues. Thank you.

Senator Plett: I appreciate that.

One last question, President Obed. Senator Cardozo just asked
about the government’s ability to craft regulations to address
some of your concerns. However, as we all know, the drafting of
regulations is even more opaque than the legislative process.
You have testified that you were not consulted in the drafting of
this legislation. How much confidence does that give you in a
planned regulatory process when you haven’t even been
consulted in the legislative process?

Mr. Obed: Historically on matters such as this, and in
ministries such as this particular one, Inuit have not had
extensive interactions or an extensive relationship with this
particular ministry or its public service. There are other pieces of
legislation where, if you asked me that very same question, I
would actually have high confidence, such as with Indigenous
Services Canada where we have had co-management of
legislation, most recently with An Act respecting First Nations,
Inuit and Métis children, youth and families. However, in this
particular instance, we have seen no government-wide
implementation of the structures that we have tried to build with
the Government of Canada on systematically upholding our
rights and allowing for our participation in things such as
legislative processes like regulations. Therefore, we have very

lui-méme mais, bien sir, il y a toujours la menace de le
réintroduire sous une autre forme, peut-étre par le biais d’un
processus réglementaire. Encore une fois, avez-vous le sentiment
d’étre écouté? Y a-t-il des amendements a ce projet de loi que
vous pourriez suggérer pour répondre a certaines de vos
préoccupations?

M. Obed : Je commencerai par la compréhension plutot floue
que nous avons des types d’armes a feu qui relévent de la
compétence de ce texte législatif en particulier. En tant qu’ITK,
nous n’avons pas officiellement travaillé avec le gouvernement
du Canada pour comprendre ce qui peut ou non figurer sur une
liste. Au sein de nos communautés, nous nous concentrons
vraiment sur la récolte et sur les armes a feu qui jouent un role
trés simple dans nos modes de récolte. Bien sir, il y a peut-étre
aussi des collectionneurs d’armes a feu dans I’Inuit Nunangat.
Cependant, la grande majorité des Inuits qui possedent des armes
a feu le font dans le but exprés d’assurer leur sécurité et de
récolter. Nous sommes préts a discuter avec le gouvernement de
la liste particuliere qui pourrait sérieusement affecter notre
capacité de récolte.

Pour ce qui est de la derniére partie de votre question, je la
transmettrai a M. David.

M. David : Le projet de loi est trop complexe pour que nous
puissions proposer des amendements constructifs a ce stade.
Nous essayons d’apporter notre aide en délimitant simplement la
nature des problémes. Je vous remercie.

Le sénateur Plett : Je vous remercie.

Une derniére question, monsieur le président Obed. Le
sénateur Cardozo vient de parler de la capacité du gouvernement
a ¢élaborer des réglements pour répondre a certaines de vos
préoccupations. Cependant, comme nous le savons tous,
I’¢laboration des réglement est encore plus obscure que le
processus législatif. Vous avez déclaré que vous n’aviez pas été
consultés lors de 1’¢laboration de cette législation. Quelle
confiance cela vous donne-t-il dans un processus réglementaire
planifié¢ alors que vous n’avez méme pas été consulté dans le
cadre du processus 1égislatif?

M. Obed : Historiquement, sur des questions comme celle-ci,
et dans des ministéres comme celui-ci, les Inuits n’ont pas eu
d’interactions ou de relations approfondies avec ce ministére ou
sa fonction publique. Si vous me posiez la méme question,
j’aurais entiére confiance dans d’autres textes législatifs, comme
Services aux Autochtones Canada, ou nous avons procédé a la
cogestion de la législation, et plus récemment la Loi sur les
enfants, les jeunes et les familles des Premiéres Nations, Inuits et
Meétis. Cependant, dans ce cas particulier, nous n’avons vu
aucune mise en ceuvre a [’échelle du gouvernement des
structures que nous avons essay¢ d’établir avec le gouvernement
du Canada sur le respect systématique de nos droits et la
possibilit¢ de notre participation a des éléments comme les
processus législatifs tels que les réglements. Par conséquent,
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little confidence that we would participate and be able to
co-develop those regulations.

Senator Plett: Thank you very much, both of you, for being
here this evening.

Senator Cardozo: [ just want to carry on from the point that
I had raised earlier and that Senator Plett raised. What would
your preferred process be in terms of regulation? I ask this in the
context of, as a committee, we have various options. One is to
turn back the whole thing. The second is to make amendments,
which means it goes back to the other house. A third option is to
send a message to the minister — to the government, et cetera —
that would be appended to the bill as we pass it back to the
chamber. In that, we can make various observations about what
needs to happen. I’m just thinking aloud, but we could consider
talking about the need for the issues that you have raised about
Inuit and the North. We could talk about what a proper
consultation process would be for regulations because, across the
government, we have seen places where they have done good
regulations and places where they haven’t.

In a previous life, I was at the CRTC. We would start by just
asking what people think. The second step would be to put out
draft regulations and, at each step, get feedback. At the third
step, we would put out the final regulations. There are a range of
ways people can do consultations for regulation, notwithstanding
your lack of experience with this particular department.

Does any of that mean anything to you? Is that useful?

Mr. Obed: These are central questions that we have been
trying to answer with government. I can speak to my experience
since being elected in 2015 and working with the government
since then. We are trying to systematically change the
relationship between Canada and First Nations, Inuit and Métis.

For Inuit, we have an Inuit-Crown Partnership Committee. We
have tried to populate the priority areas of that with shared
priorities that we both agree on and a work plan that gets into the
very things that you’re talking about, namely, legislative
co-development, not only in the development of the legislation
but also in the regulations. We have a number of different shared
priorities when it comes to both the legislative and the policy
realms. It has been frustratingly inconsistent for the Government
of Canada to live up to the things that it has said it would do with
us and in the time frames that it has pledged to work with us on
them.

nous ne sommes pas du tout convaincus que nous pourrions
participer a I’élaboration de ces réglements.

Le sénateur Plett : Merci a vous deux d’étre ici ce soir.

Le sénateur Cardozo : J’aimerais poursuivre a partir du
point que j’ai soulevé plus tot et qui a été soulevé par le sénateur
Plett. Quel serait votre processus préféré en matiere de
réglementation? Je pose la question dans 1’optique ou, en tant
que comité, nous disposons de plusieurs options. L’une d’entre
elles est de revenir en arriére. La deuxiéme est d’apporter des
amendements, ce qui signifie que le texte est renvoyé a 1’autre
Chambre. Une troisiéme option consiste & envoyer un message
au ministre — au gouvernement, etc. — qui serait annexé au
projet de loi lorsque nous le renvoyons devant 1’Assemblée.
Dans ce message, nous pouvons formuler diverses observations
sur ce qui doit se passer. Je ne fais que penser & haute voix, mais
nous pourrions envisager d’aborder la nécessité des questions
que vous avez soulevées au sujet des Inuits et du Nord. Nous
pourrions parler de ce que serait un processus de consultation
adéquat pour la réglementation, car, dans 1’ensemble du
gouvernement, nous avons vu des endroits ou les
réglementations étaient bonnes et d’autres ou elles 1’étaient
beaucoup moins.

Dans une vie antérieure, j’ai travaillé au CRTC. Nous
commencions par demander aux gens ce qu’ils pensaient. La
deuxiéme étape consistait & publier des projets de réglementation
et, & chaque étape, & recueillir des commentaires. A la troisiéme
étape, nous publiions les réglements définitifs. Il existe toute une
séric de facons de mener des consultations en vue d’une
réglementation, en dépit de votre manque d’expérience de ce
ministére en particulier.

Est-ce que cela vous dit quelque chose? Cela vous parait-il
utile?

M. Obed : Ce sont des questions cruciales auxquelles nous
avons essayé de répondre avec le gouvernement. Je peux parler
de mon expérience depuis que j’ai été élu en 2015 et que je
travaille pour le gouvernement. Nous essayons de changer
systématiquement la relation entre le Canada et les Premicres
Nations, les Inuits et les Métis.

Pour les Inuits, nous avons un comité de partenariat entre les
Inuits et la Couronne. Nous avons essayé d’alimenter les
¢léments prioritaires de ce comité avec des priorités communes
sur lesquelles nous sommes tous les deux d’accord et un plan de
travail qui aborde les points dont vous parlez, a savoir
1’¢élaboration conjointe de textes législatifs, non seulement dans
I’¢laboration de la législation, mais aussi des réglementations.
Nous partageons un certain nombre de priorités différentes dans
les domaines législatif et politique. Il est frustrant de constater
que le gouvernement du Canada n’est pas toujours a la hauteur
de ce qu’il a annoncé qu’il ferait avec nous et dans les délais
qu’il s’est engagé a respecter avec nous sur ces questions.
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In this particular piece of legislation, though, I would ask Will
to answer more specifically on that.

Mr. David: To be quick on this one, when a regulatory
development could impact on section 35 rights, there will be a
duty to consult with rights holders, in this case Inuit treaty
organizations, on potential impacts on those rights.

One of the reasons why President Obed is talking about
broader co-development processes or the UN declaration is that
if we fall back on a rights-based dialogue in the context of this
legislation, then the focus of the dialogue becomes only about
section 35 rights. We lose the ability to really engage in a
dialogue with government about several priorities that are
identified within the legislation and we lose the ability to have
the contextual conversations necessary to ensure that we have an
overall regime that is both orderly and respects rights. It reduces
a lot of the dialogue into a binary conversation that I think our
rights holders are more than capable of having. However, to be
able to have a vehicle such as a co-development process, where
we can talk about a multiplicity of different priorities at once,
allows for a much better conversation around balancing. It serves
the interests of Canadians, and it serves the interests of the Inuit
far better than to have a simple conversation only about one
element or tranche of issues within this legislation or others.

The Chair: Colleagues, we have reached the end of a very
long meeting today that commenced at 3 p.m. It seems like a
long time ago.

Let me say this: We could not have ended on a better note. We
are so appreciative that you both found the time to come here
and speak to us, President Obed and Mr. David. This is complex
legislation that has been designed to deal with complex issues. I
don’t think we have heard a more thoughtful interrogation of
how that complexity meets and intermingles than we have from
you this evening. I’m not surprised, but we are grateful for that.
On behalf of the committee and the Senate of Canada, we thank
you both for this. It has been very rich. We have learned a lot,
and we are impressed.

In parallel, I also want to thank my committee colleagues who
have stayed with this through five long hours and brought the
very best from a long list of witnesses today with thoughtful and
probing questions.

Pour ce qui est de ce texte législatif en particulier, je
demanderais a Will de répondre plus précisément a cette
question.

M. David : Pour étre bref, lorsqu’une réglementation est
susceptible d’avoir un impact sur les droits visés a 1’article 35, il
est obligatoire de consulter les détenteurs des droits, en
I’occurrence les organisations inuites relevant d’un traité, sur
I’impact potentiel sur ces droits.

L’une des raisons pour lesquelles le président Obed parle de
processus de codéveloppement plus larges ou de la déclaration
des Nations unies est que si nous nous rabattons sur un dialogue
basé sur les droits dans le contexte de cette législation, le
dialogue ne portera plus alors que sur les droits de ’article 35.
Nous perdons la possibilité d’engager un véritable dialogue avec
le gouvernement sur plusieurs priorités recensées dans la
législation et nous perdons la possibilit¢ d’avoir les
conversations contextuelles nécessaires pour garantir que nous
disposons d’un régime global qui est a la fois ordonné et qui
respecte les droits. Cela réduit une grande partie du dialogue a
une conversation binaire que nos détenteurs de droits sont, je
pense, tout a fait capables d’avoir. Cependant, la possibilité de
disposer d’un vecteur tel qu’un processus de codéveloppement,
ou nous pouvons parler d’une multiplicité de priorités différentes
en méme temps, permet une bien meilleure conversation axée sur
I’équilibre. Cela sert les intéréts des Canadiens et des Inuits bien
mieux qu’une simple conversation sur un seul élément ou une
seule tranche de questions dans le cadre de cette législation ou
d’autres.

Le président : Chers collégues, nous arrivons a la fin d’une
trés longue réunion qui a commencé a 15 heures.

Permettez-moi de dire ceci : nous n’aurions pas pu terminer
sur une meilleure note. Nous vous sommes trés reconnaissants
d’avoir trouvé le temps de venir ici et de vous adresser a nous,
monsieur le président Obed et monsieur David. Il s’agit d’une
législation complexe qui a été congue pour traiter de questions
complexes. Je ne pense pas que nous ayons entendu une
interrogation plus réfléchie sur la maniére dont cette complexité
se rencontre et s’entreméle que celle que vous nous avez exposée
ce soir. Je n’en suis pas surpris, mais nous vous en sommes
reconnaissants. Au nom du comité et du Sénat du Canada, nous
vous remercions tous les deux. L’aprés-midi a été riche. Nous
avons appris bien des choses et cela nous a laissés ébahis.

Parallélement, je tiens également a remercier mes collégues du
comité qui ont suivi ce dossier pendant cinq longues heures et
qui ont su tirer le meilleur parti d’une longue liste de témoins
aujourd’hui en leur posant des questions réfléchies et
approfondies.
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We will continue our examination of the bill on Wednesday,
November 8 at 11:30 a.m. Eastern Time in room B45, with
Senator Dagenais in the chair of that session. That being said, I
wish everyone a good evening. Thank you again.

(The committee adjourned.)

Nous poursuivrons notre examen du projet de loi le mercredi
8 novembre a 11 h 30 (HE), dans la salle B45, sous la présidence
du sénateur Dagenais. Cela dit, je vous souhaite a tous une
excellente soirée. Je vous remercie encore une fois.

(La séance est levée.)




